The Stewardship Series

Water Stewardship

5

1



A Guide for Teachers, Students and Community Groups



WATER STEWARDSHIP

A GUIDE FOR TEACHERS, STUDENTS, AND COMMUNITY GROUPS

DR. MILTON MCCLAREN KIM FULTON CHRIS MCMAHEN Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data McClaren, Milton. Water Stewardship

Includes bibliographical references: p. ISBN 0-7726-2309-0

1. Water quality management - Study and teaching - British Columbia. 2. Water conservation - Study and teaching - British Columbia. I. Fulton, Kim II. McMahen, Chris. III. British Columbia. Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks. IV. Title

TD227.B7M32 1994. 333.91'16'0710711 C94-960383-X

1995 © Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks

Permission is granted in advance for reproduction for the purpose of classroom or workshop instruction.

Acknowledgements

Water Stewardship Steering Committee

The project was guided by a Steering Committee comprised of representatives of the Ministry of Environmental, Lands, and Parks (MOELP) and others with expertise in water stewardship. The committee was comprised of:

Dave Hall	Public Affairs Coordinator	MOELP Kamloops
Brian Jantz	Fisheries Technician	MOELP Penticton
Richard Kool	Education Coordinator	MOELP Victoria
Dr. Tom Northcote	Fisheries Biologist, Professor Emeritus UBC	Summerland
Theresa Southam	Interpretive Consultant	Vancouver

Water Stewardship Project Team

John Fallis	Vice Principal,	Boyne River Ontario Natural Science School, Shelbourne (Toronto Board of Education)
Bill Hammond	Natural Context & Member, South Florida Water Commission.	Ft. Myers, Florida
Della McClaren	Teacher/Librarian	SD.#23, Kelowna
Kim Fulton	Project Coordinator, Curriculum Development, Inservice, and Writing	Armstrong/Spallumcheen School District
Debbie Gray	Project Secretary	Kelowna, SFU Regional Centre.
Enid Kristjanson	Curriculum Development, Inservice, and Writing	SFU Kelowna Regional Centre.
Dr. Milton McClaren F	Project Director	SFU, Director of Field Relations and Teacher In-Service Education
Chris McMahen	Curriculum Development and Writing	Armstrong/Spallumcheen School Districtz

Pilot Project Participants

The following teachers and their classes participated in the pilot project. We wish to acknowledge their efforts, dedication, and creative energy. We also acknowledge the help and support from administration, custodial staff, and teachers not "officially" in the project, but who assisted in action projects and supported the work of project teachers.

Sandi Bonin	Alexis Park Elementary	Vernon
Doreen Murphy	Armstrong Elementary	Armstrong
Cathy Webb	Carmi Elementary	Penticton
Joanna Hay	Charles Bloom Secondary	Lumby
Dave Main	Charles Bloom Secondary	Lumby
Paul Fisher	Cherryville Elementary	Cherryville
Mike French	Fulton Senior Secondary	Vernon
Gordon Northcote	Giant's Head Elementary	Summerland
David Chase	Giant's Head Elementary	Summerland
Barry Kyba	Highland Park Elementary	Armstrong
Gail Hall	Highland Park Elementary	Armstrong
Chris McMahen	Highland Park Elementary	Armstrong
Rea Smith	Highland Park Elementary	Armstrong
Jan Payson	J.W. Inglis Elementary	Lumby
Grant Badgero	Kalamalka Secondary	Vernon
Cyril Foster	Kidston Elementary	Vernon
Doug Sanders	KLO Secondary	Kelowna
Dave Matheson	KLO Secondary	Kelowna
John Tan	Len W. Wood Elementary	Armstrong
Rick Penner	Okanagan Landing Elementary	Vernon
Doug Gillett	Okanagan Mission Secondary	Kelowna
Colleen Lucas	Parkway Elementary	Penticton
Jane Weixl	Peter Greer Elementary	Winfield
Julia Lissau	Pleasant Valley Secondary	Armstrong
Anne Young	Silver Star Elementary	Vernon
Gaila Erickson	Silver Star Elementary	Vernon
Susan Tennant	Spring Valley Elementary	Kelowna
Dieter Bauer	Vernon Senior Secondary	Vernon
Bruce Cummings	Vernon Senior Secondary	Vernon

Financial Support

Contributions from the Habitat Conservation Fund, B.C. 21, Forest Renewal B.C., Habitat Management, Fisheries Branch, and Water Management Branch of the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks are gratefully acknowledged.

Editing and Layout

Thanks to Deborah Hodge, Burnaby B.C., for her work in editing the final copy. Thanks to Dennis Smith, Simon Fraser University Excite Centre for his work in layout, design, art work, and desktop publishing. Thanks to Lynne Fulton for her work proofreading.

The development of this handbook and the projects conducted from 1992 to 1994 were made possible by the funding support of the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks of British Columbia. Ministry personnel also provided administrative services, and advice on technical aspects of the project.

Simon Fraser University's Faculty of Education provided the use of the Kelowna Tele-Learning Centre, administrative support, and computing services as well as materials and supplies basic to the success of the project.

The Fisheries Branch of MOELP played a pivotal role in initiating and sustaining the project.

Thanks are also extended to the administrative officers of Simon Fraser University, the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks, and of Armstrong-Spallumcheen, Vernon, Central Okanagan, Summerland, and Penticton School Districts, who provided support for the project in a number of ways. The members of the Project Steering Committee also offered their time, expertise, and moral support throughout the project. Their dedication to Water Stewardship was an essential element in the production of the handbook and in carrying out the activities of the project.

Special thanks are extended to Richard Kool, Environmental Education Coordinator for the Ministry of Environment, Land, and Parks, and to Theresa Southam, Environmental Consultant, for their championship of the programme from conception to completion.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Forewordv	iii
Introduction How to Use This Guide Who Should Use This Guide?	ix ix ix
Chapter One Introducing Water Stewardship	.1
What is Water Stewardship?	. 2
History of the Water Stewardship Project	.4
Chapter Two Stewardship and Environmental Literacy	7
Defining Stewardship	. 8
Rising Concerns About Environmental Issues	11
Defining Environmental Literacy	12
Role of Schools in Developing Environmental Literacy	15
Chapter Three Key Concepts for Water Stewardship1	17
Developing a Water Stewardship Program	18
Key Concepts for Water Stewardship	19
How to Use the Key Concepts	22
An Integrated Approach to Water Stewardship	23
Chapter Four Teaching and Learning—	74
A Constructivist View of Learning	32
Learning Through Water Stewardship	32
The Learning Cycle	34
Chapter Five Activities for Water Stewardship	9
List of Activities	41
Concept 1. Water is Essential for Life	43 17
Concept 2. Mater is a Unique Material	чт/ Б1
Concept 5. Water is a onique Material	50
Concept 4. All Water is 1 all of the Water Cycle	67
Concept 6. Watersheds are Dynamic	73
Concept 7. Humans are Major Users of Water	77

Concept 8. Water is Finite
Concept 9. Aquatic Habitats are Essential Elements of the
Biosphere85
Concept 10. Contaminants and Toxins Can Move within Water
Concept 11. There are a Number of Careers Working With Water 99
Concept 12. Different Human Cultures Have Different Values
About Water 105
Chapter Six Classrooms in Action –
Case Studies in Water Stewardship
Green Valley Elementary School
Elementary School, Interior, B.C
Catherine Schubert Elementary School
Sockeye Elementary School
Parkway Elementary School Student Planned Conference
Secondary School, Okanagan, B.C
Collaborative Planning—A Case Study
Case Studies—Summing Up131
Examples of Teacher Plans for Water Stewardship
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153
Chapter SevenDeveloping School Action Programs137Why Do We Need Action in Education?138Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms142An Example of a School Action Project150Summing Up153
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173 Appendix D: Project Wild Cross Reference 175
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173 Appendix D: Project Wild Cross Reference 175 Appendix E: Water Stewardship Curriculum Development Model 179
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173 Appendix D: Project Wild Cross Reference 175 Appendix E: Water Stewardship Curriculum Development Model 179 Appendix F: Illustrations of Water Stewardship 182
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173 Appendix D: Project Wild Cross Reference 175 Appendix E: Water Stewardship Curriculum Development Model 179 Appendix F: Illustrations of Water Stewardship 182
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173 Appendix E: Water Stewardship Curriculum Development Model 179 Appendix F: Illustrations of Water Stewardship 182
Chapter Seven Developing School Action Programs 137 Why Do We Need Action in Education? 138 Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms 142 An Example of a School Action Project 150 Summing Up 153 Endings and Beginnings 155 Appendices 159 Appendix A: A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures 160 Appendix B: Test Your Water Knowledge Survey 167 Appendix C: Black Line Masters for Key Concept Logos 173 Appendix D: Project Wild Cross Reference 175 Appendix F: Illustrations of Water Stewardship 182 Glossary of Selected Terms 187

Foreword

"We travel together, passengers on a little spaceship, dependent on its vulnerable supplies of air, water, and soil ... preserved from annihilation only by the care, the work, and I will say, the love we give our fragile craft." Adlai Stevenson

When humankind ventured into the space between our Moon and the Earth, one of the most majestic, awe inspiring sights ever seen, came into view for the first time. Those few travellers, cramped in their narrow capsules, saw the Earth as an entire blue, green, and white sphere suspended against the darkness. When the first lunar expedition orbited the Moon and saw the first Earthrise, the contrast between the dry sterility of the Moon and the teeming lively surface of Earth became especially vivid. Without water, there could be no life, no humankind, no dreams, no inventions, no venturing. Perhaps the planet Earth could more aptly be called the planet Water!

-We are water.

Introduction

Clean water is key to life on our planet — all living species require water. Without water, we would certainly perish. Given the significance of water for life, it seems strange indeed that we often treat our watery world so badly.

Water Stewardship is a growing idea among people who share the goal of keeping water safe and available for the world's animals and plants.

Water Stewardship means taking care of water.

Water Stewardship begins with educating each other about water.

Knowing about water helps us move towards protecting and conserving clean

water for all species. This Water Stewardship guide outlines ways to help you start educating students, friends, and community groups about the importance of water.

How to Use This Guide

This guide is designed for your convenience. You can read it cover to cover, or turn directly to a particular section, for immediate information.

The guide is divided into chapters covering different aspects of water stewardship education. It includes:

an introduction to water stewardship key concepts for water stewardship teaching ideas/activities case studies information on taking effective action information about water a list of resources appendices

Use the table of contents to find the section you need.

Who Should Use This Guide?

This guide has been written by teachers for teachers who wish to increase their students' awareness about water and water stewardship. While the handbook will be of particular use to teachers in the K-12 school system, it can also be used in community-based programmes or projects sponsored by citizens groups, clubs, or government agencies.

You will find a theme woven through the book that suggests greater collaboration among schools, government agencies, and community groups to achieve improved water stewardship at the community and regional levels.

Use this guide to design a programme that fits your students' particular needs and circumstances. You will find that the activities and examples provided are not intended to be age specific, although some activities may be more useful for students of a particular age. Feel free to adapt the materials.

This book uses specific examples to illustrate approaches to a topic or project, rather than trying to present a step-by-step manual of teaching ideas.

Chapter One

INTRODUCING WATER STEWARDSHIP



What is Water Stewardship?



Water Stewardship is a growing awareness of the importance of water to all living species. Water Stewardship means making informed decisions and taking appropriate actions to protect and conserve water for all plants and animals who share our planet. It means leaving healthy, undiminished aquatic ecosystems for future generations.

Why do we need Water Stewardship?

Available, drinkable water makes up less than 1% of our total water supply. An everincreasing human population is totally dependent on that small volume of water.

Several international agencies have estimated that a reasonable quality of life depends on an average of about 80 litres of water per person per day for domestic, agricultural, and industrial uses. In Canada and the United States the average is about 500 litres every day, while in Madagascar it is 5.4 litres. The average in Vancouver B.C. is about 700 litres per day.

Most of the water used in the "developed world" is for waste removal, washing, cleaning, irrigation, food processing and preparation, and for industrial processes. Only a fraction of the 500 litres a North American uses each day is actually consumed directly as drinking water. However, in many other parts of the world, human life literally hangs in the balance of water supply. Available, safe, clean water in quantity is a dream.

All living things need water

Humans are not the only species which depend on water. All life forms require water. A significant portion of the planet's biological diversity depends on inland and marine aquatic habitats. In turn, humans depend on many of these aquatic and marine ecosystems for food and for revitalization of water and air.

We have often acted without thought for our impacts on aquatic life and habitats. We pollute vast areas of fresh and salt water. We drain or dump fill into marshes, fens, sloughs, ponds, tundra, bogs, and swamps without recognizing their importance for the fabric of life on which we ultimately depend. British Columbia's land base has just over 6% wetlands, most of which are in the northwest corner of the province. In other areas of the province where wetlands are a minute percentage of the land base, these diverse habitats are disappearing at an alarming rate. 80% of the wetlands in the Fraser Valley delta are gone. In the Okanagan Valley there is extreme development pressure on wetland habitats and a poor inventory of what exists. The words from the Joni Mitchell song of the 1960s, "The Big Yellow Taxi," ring true: Don't it always seem to go

That you never know what you've got 'til it's gone They paved paradise and put up a parking lot... We change the courses of rivers, drain lakes, flood canyons, defoliate stream banks, and build canals, often without a real understanding or concern for the long term consequences of our acts.

Sustainable ecosystems, of which humans are only a part, are only possible with healthy aquatic habitats. We must find ways of developing a new water ethic as well as a new land ethic. We must recognize that acting in our interests as humans is only possible if we also act in the interests of the other living things with which we share the Earth.

As Aldo Leopold put it in A Sand County Almanac,

"a land ethic changes the role of Homo sapiens from conqueror of the landcommunity to plain member and citizen of it. It implies respect for his fellowmembers, and also respect for the community as such."

Water in British Columbia

British Columbia is one of the richest areas of the world for aquatic habitats. Its coastline is immense. Its rivers and their watersheds are some of the most important in North America. It is the site of the largest salmon run in the world and of some of the most significant fisheries.

Our vast forests depend on rain and snow. We draw upon the power of water to produce large amounts of electrical energy. We have created large garden landscapes and farms through irrigation.

Everywhere, growth and development depend on water and demand larger and larger quantities of it. Our cities have developed along waterways, at estuaries and harbours. Water is a highway. Water is a part of our psychology, an inseparable part of our appreciation of the scenic beauty of the province.

As the population of the province grows, we will be challenged to develop our capacities as stewards of water, wetlands, aquatic habitats, and life. Effective education for Water Stewardship is essential. It is to that purpose that this handbook, and the Water Stewardship Project, are dedicated.

Who is interested in Water Stewardship?

I here is an ever expanding interest in Water Stewardship. There are many different groups interested in protecting or restoring aquatic and riparian habitats. School groups, water suppliers, community groups (including the First Nations communities), municipal governments, federal agencies, and Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks personnel are all eager to participate. All over the province, pressures are being brought to bear on these habitats by the rapid growth in human population. We believe that an educated population is essential for effective environmental citizenship. Many water management and land use decisions are made not by professionals but by lay people serving on municipal councils, regional district boards, water districts, and irrigation boards.

Results of Effective Water Stewardship

By educating present and future decision makers regarding the value of our aquatic ecosystems we will avoid habitat destruction and the loss of biodiversity that results from uninformed decision-making and poorly planned development. Effective water stewardship will lead to an enhanced quality of human life.

The Chinese philosopher Kuhn Stu, expressed the idea three centuries before the birth of Christ:

"If you are thinking a year ahead sow seed, if you are thinking ten years ahead plant a tree, if you are thinking one hundred years ahead educate the people,"

History of the Water Stewardship Project

In 1989, the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks of British Columbia, under the auspices of the Fisheries Branch Hatchery Education and Information Initiative, requested proposals for a review of fish-related education initiatives that were being undertaken by public and non-profit agencies across North America. The Branch also requested a survey of its staff to determine the nature of their current activities in public education concerning fish and aquatic habitats. Educational resource material relating to freshwater ecosystems were collected from all over North America. Over 25 sources were found. Provincial fisheries staff were also interviewed and the findings were summarized.

In the fall of 1991, a group of biologists and educators met to discuss the kinds of education programmes that could be created to further develop knowledge and awareness of fresh water ecosystems in the province of British Columbia. It was decided that a pilot programme involving both schools and community groups interested in water stewardship should be developed.

Objectives of the Water Stewardship Project

- to define stewardship
- to implement several stewardship projects in the Okanagan
- to develop a Stewardship Guide for Fisheries personnel as well as for community groups and educators.

In June of 1992, a team based at the Simon Fraser University Tele-Learning Centre (Faculty of Education) in Kelowna was contracted to undertake the project. Letters were sent to every public school in the Penticton, Summerland, Central Okanagan

(Kelowna), Vernon, and Armstrong-Spallumcheen school districts inviting applications to participate. Twenty-two pilot schools were selected representing a wide range of teaching situations,



Chapter Two

STEWARDSHIP AND ENVIRONMENTAL LITERACY

"The real substance of conservation lies not in the physical projects of government, but in the mental processes of citizens." Aldo Leopold



Defining Stewardship

Trying to Define Stewardship

When we started the stewardship project, one of the first things we asked project teachers to do was to define stewardship. We discovered that the word meant many things to many people. Initially we agreed to describe water stewardship loosely as "looking after our valuable water ecosystems for future generations—not only future generations of humans, but future generations of all creatures".

At each meeting we kept trying to refine our definition. One of the reasons stewardship is so hard to define is that it encompasses attitudes, beliefs, and actions which are different for different people. These attitudes and beliefs are also subject to change as individuals develop a growing awareness of aquatic environments.

Developing an Interest in Stewardship

We believe that an interest in fish can be one starting point in the journey toward stewardship for many people. Some participants in the pilot project developed their interest in water stewardship from an interest in sport fishing.

Others became involved by working with children to raise salmon and release them into streams near their schools. These people felt the highs and lows of working with a fragile system. Some froze their arms picking eggs from incubators, felt anguish when streams dried up and fry suffocated in tiny pools, and felt ecstasy when adult coho returned to their stream after forty years of being barren of salmon.

Concern for the Whole Web of Life

Our first proposal to the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks for the Water Stewardship Project included funding for in-class incubators. However, the Steering Committee was adamant that this would not be part of the project.

We realize now that stewardship means dealing with aquatic systems in their entirety and striving to maintain the whole complex web of life. Suckers, mosquitoes, dragonflys, leeches, and salamanders are just as important as trout and salmon. Healthy ecosystems contain a wide variety of plants and animals. Water Stewardship involves speaking and acting for those creatures and systems which cannot speak for themselves.

Feelings About Water Stewardship

Working and being around water has a certain spirit to it. When we take part in recreation we often go to the lake, to the river, or to the ski hill. Working

around water helps us to develop a strong sense of belonging to life on this planet.

Teachers in this project have shared a variety of feelings with their students. They've felt disbehef and disgust during creek clean-ups when they hauled typewriters, beer cans, shopping carts, truck canopies, and kitchen stoves from creek sides. They have felt anger and helplessness when they followed oil slicks upstream only to find a discharge entering the stream through a storm drain. They have felt joy and satisfaction in restoring vegetation to denuded, eroding stream banks. They have felt pain and sadness when signs they and their students erected were vandalized and when wetlands were filled with materials from subdivision excavations.

A Rising Awareness

 \mathbf{F} or many people, water stewardship means a rising awareness that water is essential to life on this planet and that we must protect and conserve it. It may mean not watering the lawn even thought it is "my day." It may mean giving up some of "my land" along a steam to allow natural vegetation to regenerate the pyramid of life. It may mean planning a condominium project to preserve aquatic habitats as a selling feature, rather than filling, burying, and culverting habitats. One thing is certain—

> we must all work together to protect and sustain our precious aquatic ecosystems for the future!

A Different Perspective

 \mathbf{Y} ves Bajard, a professional with over 30 years experience working on water issues and secretary of The National Centre for Sustainability, made the following important points regarding the definition of stewardship when reviewing the draft Water Stewardship Manual:

> "Nothing really proves that we own the universe and are free to use its resources now for our short term benefits. Our power and ingenuity give us abilities that other species do not have, but not necessarily special rights. They give us however, special responsibilities.

> We have a responsibility to nature, to other people elsewhere and in the future, and to other living species - which have a right to live as much as we do.

Our activities in life should be governed not so much by what we, as individuals, can draw from nature to maximize our benefits and enjoyment, but by a much broader set of considerations, in which the individual comes second to the community, while each person remains a responsible citizen.

Water is not a resource. Water is the vehicle of life, the lifeblood of everything on Earth. We cannot therefore, use it freely."



Attributes of An Environmental Steward

 \mathbf{W} e might attempt to describe the attributes of a steward in the following way.

An environmental steward is someone who:

Is worthy of trust

An environmental steward demonstrates unremitting commitment to sustaining the environment for all life forms. He or she also demonstrates personal integrity. His or her lifestyle choices and actions are a model of human-environment interactions.

Demonstrates respect for life

This respect is demonstrated through self-esteem and is combined with regard for others and an appreciation for nature.

Sometimes environmental concerns become tainted by an attitude which is characterized by an apparent belief that humans are a blight on the planet and the source of all environmental problems.

Humans have made many unwise choices concerning the environment, but environmental stewardship requires a belief in human capacity to learn and to change for the better. Thus, true stewardship entails respect and value for both humankind and for the rest of the natural world.

• Demonstrates genuineness of heart

An environmental steward intends no harm to other humans or to the environment. He or she acts in ways which minimize harmful effects over the long term, to the environment, natural systems, and other humans and their communities.

• Embodies constancy of mind

An environmental steward shows patience and service. Environmental problems often require long-term commitment, hard work, and diligence. True stewardship requires persistence and effort, even through times of frustration and failure.

Demonstrates autonomy

An environmental steward acts from a sense of making informed choices based on awareness and knowledge. An effective steward is a critical thinker as well as one who cares. A steward needs to separate fad and fashion from truth and sense.

An effective steward acts with a sense of commitment to long term good, even when it may be unpopular to do so. An environmental steward must be committed to lifelong learning and personal development.

Education and Environmental Stewards

In North America, many educators and parents are examining the role that schools play in developing the character of young people. Education has always had a character development component. To behave in an educated way requires commitment to the highest values of our culture. Stewardship can keep character development in the educational process in an authentic way.

Stewardship invites students to recognize the work of many people in their communities who make contributions to the quality of life. Stewardship also allows people of different ages to engage in valuable work together work that makes a real difference over time, and can be immensely rewarding in a personal and spiritual sense, even in the short term.

Rising Concerns about Environmental Issues

Surveys of Canadian public opinion have shown a sharp rise in the concern for the environment, by people in all regions of the country.

A recent Maclean's magazine survey found that 44 per cent of Canadians think that by the year 2000, tap water will be undrinkable. In the same study, 61 per cent of respondents stated that they would be willing to spend between ten to twenty dollars more per week on household products that were less harmful to the environment.

In the major news media, reports concerning acid rain, the degradation of the ozone layer, or the problems of the greenhouse effect are common. These warnings, which have been given by the scientific community for many years, are beginning to be taken seriously by many people.

Greater Need for Public Awareness

 \mathbf{E} nvironmental concerns have risen, peaked, and declined in the past with little fundamental change in human behaviour. Some environmentalists maintain that clean-up campaigns to address local pollution problems are merely cosmetic approaches to a disease which has much deeper causes.

If we take scientific findings concerning global environmental changes seriously, they indicate the need for a much higher level of public awareness and greater commitment to personal and community action.

Role of Schools in Environmental Issues

As major agencies of education and socialization, public schools can play an important role in developing citizens who are environmentally informed and aware. But before programs can be developed or implemented effectively, we need to develop a clear understanding of the elements of environmental

literacy.

Combined with the notion of stewardship, environmental literacy can provide support for the development, implementation, and evaluation of programs in schools and community agencies.

Defining Environmental Literacy



What is Environmental Literacy?

In its simplest terms, environmental literacy might be defined as having well developed knowledge, skills, and awareness in matters of the environment. While stewardship reflects a deep caring for the environment, literacy reflects a thorough understanding of it.

Just as there are key attributes of an environmental steward, there are key attributes for a person who is environmentally literate.

Attributes of an Environmentally Literate Person

 ${f T}$ he attributes of an environmentally literate person can be described in the following way.

An environmentally literate person is someone who:

Thinks about systems

The message of modern ecology is that everything is ultimately connected to everything else. It may be convenient, and even necessary, to separate a system into components in order to analyze and understand it, but it is critical to think about the entire system as a whole.

Technology makes our lives easy, but it also separates us from the consequences of our actions. We don't know where our electrical power is produced, or where our wastes go when they disappear down the drain.

An environmentally literate person thinks about systems. He or she understands where things come from, where they go, and how much energy and material is used along the way.

Thinks in time

An environmentally literate person can forecast, think ahead, and plan.

The quick "fixes" of today often turn out to be the beginnings of serious environmental problems in years to come. Many human beings in the modern world seem to have difficulty thinking beyond the term of their own life span. Most environmental problems will not be solved quickly and will require extended effort over many years. An environmentally literate person has the ability to think ahead.

Thinks critically about value issues

Almost all modern problems, environmental or otherwise, have an important component based on human value systems. Contemporary society is pluralistic and multicultural. We do not necessarily share a common, culturally agreed upon set of values. Therefore, we do not all agree on how to solve the problems of the environment.

An environmentally literate person has the ability to think critically about what is of value for all living species. What we value is reflected in our actions. If we truly value a healthy environment, we may have to sacrifice some of our old ways of thinking and acting.

Separates number and quantity from quality and value In the structure of modern life, it often appears to be less expensive to pollute and waste than it is to conserve. Questions that are at the core of many environmental decisions tend to focus on the numbers or quantities of goods and the costs of solutions. For example: Why do we need more trees? Why should we try to have high quality, clean water? How much will this cost?

We assign numbers to things that should really be assigned qualities. We assume that because we have enumerated things, we have addressed their value.

An environmentally literate person has the ability to separate cost from value. He or she recognizes the importance of striving for value and quality over the long-term, rather than settling for solutions which may be faster or more cost-effective in the short-term.

Distinguishes between the map and the territory Many of our notions about the environment may in fact, be elaborate stereotypes. We are surrounded by high quality representations of the world—photos in full colour, video, stereo, models, simulations, and even virtual realities. These representations can be useful in helping us to understand components of the environment. But we can become so fond of our maps, that we forget that they may not be entirely faithful representations of the way things are.

An environmentally literate person has the ability to understand and see the environment as it truly is. He or she understands the importance of conserving natural environments—even wild or forbidding places that bear no real resemblance to the "picture perfect" representations we have become accustomed to seeing.

Moves from awareness, to knowledge, to action

The need to have people take personal actions which contribute to the solution of environmental problems has been widely recognized by environmental education writers. A popular slogan has been: *Think Globally, Act Locally*.

An environmentally literate person is able to see the link between knowledge and action. He or she understands that data alone carries no automatic set of instructions for converting it into appropriate actions. Data itself makes no decisions.

An environmentally literate person understands that growth in knowledge often leads to a need for acting politically or interacting with various community groups.

Learns and relearns

There are concepts to be learned and useful facts to be recalled in the course of developing environmental literacy. Ecological principles and ideas help organize experiences in the environment and provide insights which lead to critical thinking about environmental issues.

An environmentally literate person understands biological and geological cycles, bioenergetics, food and energy relationships, and concepts such as adaptation and diversity. He or she also understands how to access information and evaluate its quality. Knowing how to find up-to-date information is an important aspect of environmental literacy.

The environmentally literate person expects that many of the things he or she learns today may be different tomorrow, and that new things will have to be learned. The environmentally literate person is committed to lifelong learning.

Works co-operatively with other people

It is difficult to imagine that any modern environmental problem can be solved by a single person. Many environmental issues are complex and will require international co-operation as well as cooperation among neighbours in local communities.

An environmentally literate person has effective skills in group processes and communication. He or she has the ability to work in interdisciplinary teams and to employ citizen participation.

Uses skills in eight processes: knowing, inquiring, acting, judging, opening, imagining, connecting, and valuing

This set of skills represents an "ecosystem" of processes that are essential to effective intelligence. Although they are not specific to environmental literacy (they are necessary in many forms of education), an environmentally literate person is able to use and apply all of these skills when presented with environmental issues.

• Develops an aesthetic response to the environment Many scientific research projects were started because the investigator became enthralled with an interesting and beautiful plant or animal. An environmentally literate person is aware of the aesthetics of the environment and the responses it awakens in him or her.

Role of Schools in Developing Environmental Literacy

Schools play a critical role in helping students become environmentally literate. In order to foster the development of environmentally literate students, school programs must focus on the following areas:

- critical thinking
- active participation of students
- investigation of values issues
- co-operation between others
- commitment to lifelong learning
- teaching students how to access information
- thinking in wholes, not just in parts
- exploring cause and effect relationships
- teaching students how to respond accordingly and act appropriately

The Water Stewardship guide strives to promote this type of teaching and learning. The key concepts in Chapter Three, the teaching suggestions in Chapter Four, the activities in Chapter Five, the case studies in Chapter Six, and the action principles in Chapter Seven will give teachers ideas for helping their students develop into environmentally literate citizens.



Chapter Three

KEY CONCEPTS FOR WATER STEWARDSHIP

Parent:"What did you learn in school today?"Child:"Nothing."Typical dinner table conversation

Parent: "What did you learn in school today?"

Child: "We learned that water is finite and that humans are major users of water. Could we do an experiment to find out how much water we use at home each day?" Typical dinner table conversation after key concepts were emphasized at school.



Developing a Water Stewardship Program

Environmental Education, like many other contemporary subject fields taught in schools, is rich in resource materials. At the beginning of the Water Stewardship Project we filled a very large room with examples of curriculum materials for the project teachers to use and analyze. However, a curriculum is not simply a set of activities or learning experiences, no matter how excellent or worthwhile these may be. A curriculum is a program of learning experiences, supported and reinforced through teaching and materials, in which there is a coherent, logical purpose and a set of progressions used to reach this purpose.

The topic of Water Stewardship is so large and there is so much material available that there is a tendency to "do" many neat activities but not to tie the activities together with important concepts. One of the major goals in developing the Water Stewardship Guide was to come up with a set of key concepts about water, aquatic habitats, aquatic life, and stewardship of water.

Providing a Structure for Learning

These key concepts are meant to provide a structure to help students connect their water stewardship experience and activities into meaningful patterns. We recommend that teachers and students use these key concepts to organize and evaluate learning in their classrooms.

The following list was developed in consultation with teachers, scientists, technicians, resource managers, and conservationists.

* Note the icon or logo which accompanies each concept. These icons are designed to help your students remember the key concepts. For your convenience, these icons have been printed as a black line master in the Appendix.

Key Concepts for Water Stewardship

• 1. Water is essential for life.

All life on earth requires water. Without water there would likely be no life on Earth. While there may be frozen water or some water vapour on some of the other planets in the solar system, most are either too hot or too cold to have any liquid water. No traces of life as we understand it have been found on any of the other planets in our solar system.

• 2. All living things depend on water.

Different life forms have different water requirements, but all need water in some form. Different life forms may compete for water when water is scarce. Thus, water is a limiting factor in the environment.

• 3. Water is a unique material.

Water can exist as a solid, a liquid, or a gas. It dissolves many different types of materials. It is polar, that is, water molecules attract each other and tend to stick together in drops and films.

• 4. All water is part of the hydrological or water cycle.

Water passes through this cycle as it changes from a liquid, to a gas (water vapour), and back to a liquid again. Water may also be found as a solid (ice and snow). Water is an integral part of the weather/climate system.



















5. Streams, lakes, and rivers, as well as other water bodies are part of larger systems known as Watersheds.

Watersheds are characterized by the contours of the landscape, the vegetation covering the land, soil and rock formations, and prevailing patterns of climate in a region.

• 6. Watersheds are dynamic.

They change and evolve over time as a result of geological and biolo gical processes as well as human activities.

• 7. Humans are major users of water.

As animals, we humans need water for our lives, but we also use water in our technological processes to make things, generate electricity, grow food, and process food. We often compete with other life forms for water.

• 8. Water is finite.

There is only so much water available on earth at any given time. The amount of potable (drinkable) water, suitable for use by humans without advanced treatment is very limited.

• 9. Aquatic habitats are essential elements of the biosphere.

Aquatic habitats are home to a wide variety of plant and animal species and are necessary to maintain biodiversity. Many life forms exist for all or part of their life cycles in aquatic habitats. When water is used or contaminated with toxins, the habitat can be destroyed and species may be lost, resulting in a loss of overall biological diversity. • 10. Contaminants and toxins can move within water.

Contaminants have harmful effects on life forms, including humans, which are far removed in time and place from the sources of the toxins.

 11. There are a number of careers and vocations working with water, aquatic habitats, and their management.

There are jobs with private sector and government agencies as well as a variety of careers within forestry related fields.

 12. Different human cultures have different values about water and different patterns of use.

The concept of water stewardship should be examined from the perspectives of differing cultures and value systems.







How to Use the Key Concepts

The key concepts can be used to:

• provide guidance for the selection of resources for a Water Stewardship Program or for the evaluation of existing curriculum materials

plan teaching units or school projects

• act as guidelines for developing a comprehensive, school-wide, cross-grade or cross-subject plan for Water Stewardship education

· serve as a template to help assess prior knowledge and learning

· help students to plan and monitor their own learning projects

• help schools and community agencies develop joint Water Stewardship Projects and assist in monitoring the results of the projects

You will find teaching and learning activities to accompany the key concepts in Chapter 5 of this guide.

It is important to remember that the key concepts have been developed for both teachers and students. Students need to be introduced to the concepts and then have them reinforced through activities and experiences.

Students can be encouraged to develop their own metaphors, examples, and illustrations for the key concepts. By doing so, students can develop a real understanding of what each one means.

Teachers of young children may have to simplify the key concepts to make them more accessible to their students.

Key Concepts Across the Curriculum

There is currently great interest in multidisciplinary approaches to school programs. Many educators feel that the traditional isolation of one subject from another in schools detracts from the development of powerful understanding and is also a poor reflection of how knowledge is actually created and applied in the real world.

Water Stewardship is a natural topic for interdisciplinary study. It presents a good opportunity to make meaningful connections among subjects like Math, Science, Social Studies, Art, Music, Language Arts, and Technology Education. It is not possible to study water without using: Mathematics to determine quantities, Biology/ Ecology to study the living systems, Chemistry to analyze the composition, Language Arts to debate the issues, the Arts to express the aesthetics of water, and Social Studies to grapple with the social implications of water use decisions.

This does not mean that these individual subjects lose their identities by becoming part of a curriculum stew. Instead, the study of Water Stewardship can give students opportunities to develop an appreciation of the power and importance of the separate subjects, while seeing the connections among fields.

An Integrated Approach to Water Stewardship

The charts that follow at the end of this chapter are an example of how a class might use the key concepts in a variety of subject areas. the charts use the Cedar Creek (CC) Watershed (WS) as an example of curriculum

integration.

Students and teachers might also work together to develop a plan for an integrated unit by using a "web" or "bubble diagram" of topics. See the example on page 29.



TABLE 1 -	– Cedar Creek	(CC) & its Wate	rshed (WS) as	an Example of (Curriculum Integration
-----------	---------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------------------------

	Social Studies	Science	Language Arts	Math	Fine Arts
1 Water is essential for life	How has the availability of water shaped human settlements in this area?	How do living things use water?	Water poetry, water legends of First Nations Peoples.	How much water is there in the watershed now? How much is being used by humans and other creatures?	Create drawings/ paintings on the theme of water, humans, and the land.
2 All living things depend on water	What climatic area(s) is this watershed in? How does the availability of water affect plant & animal life?	How does the available water define local communities of plants & animals?			
3 Water is a unique material	How does water shape the landscape as an agent of erosion?	Exploration of states of matter through state changes of water: freezing, boiling. Is water a "universal solvent?"		Exploring relationships between volumes of liquid water vs. volumes of ice. Developing a method of measuring rainfall.	Exploring the characters of watercolours. How do the colours in watercolour work?
4 All water is part of the hydrological or water cycle	What is the Water Cycle? How much Rainfall does the Watershed get? How much Snow? How much water is stored in lakes?	Exploration of Weather and the Water Cycle. Clouds, Rain, Snow, Ice, Solar Energy & the Water Cycle.	The weather as subject for writing and conversation. Why do people often talk about the weather?	How could you measure the amount of water used by a growing green plant in one week?	Clouds and the Weather as subjects for Graphic Arts & Music.

	Social Studies	Science	Language Arts	Math	Fine Arts
5 Streams, lakes, & rivers, as well as other water bodies are part of larger systems known as Watersheds	What is the Watershed of Cedar Creek? Why does the Creek have this Watershed area?	Build a model Watershed using a Stream Table. Explore Evidence of erosion in the area.	Explore the names given to Lakes, Creeks, and Rivers. How did they get these names?	Measuring the flow rates and volumes of Cedar Creek & its major branches.	
6 Watersheds are dynamic	What human activities are now changing the watershed?	Explore evidence of past changes in the watershed & develop a time line showing changes in the WS for the past 50-10 000 yrs.	Interview pioneers in the area of the CC Watershed to discover their experiences of WS change during their lives.	Map a section of the WS using simple survey instruments, like plans tables and Silva Compasses.	Write and stage class play based on the life of a well known local WS pioneer.
7 Humans are major users of water	Conduct a survey of the industrial, domestic and agricultural uses of water in the CC WS.	Classify the river sources as above ground, aquifer, or ground water table.		Find out the available water volume of the CC WS. What are the predictions for its future demand?	

	Social Studies	Science	Language Arts	Math	Fine Arts
8 Water is finite			Develop a report for the local regional district on the status of CC & the WS. Present the report as a final desktop published document & accompany the presentation with an oral report with graphics.	Develop statistics and graphs to show changes to the CC WS in the period 1900 to the present. Apply these stats and graphs to the report for the Regional District.	Design a poster to convince people to use water conservatively and to apply water saving devices in the home.
9 Aquatic habitats are essential elements of the biosphere	What was the status of wetland habitats in the CC WS in 1900, 1950, and now? What caused these changes? Are any of the species which depend on wetlands extinct, endangered, threatened?	Develop a landscape plan based on the size of the typical single family home lot. Design the plan to avoid irrigation uses of water, to provide wild life habitats, and to promote the use and conservation of native plant species.			Build models showing the different approaches to landscaping and have the models critiqued by local developers, realtors, and landscape architects.

	Social Studies	Science	Language Arts	Math	Fine Arts
10 Contaminants and toxins can move with/in water and have harmful effects on life forms		Do a survey of common water in the CC WS. Test the waters of CC and its branches for the presence of some of these contaminants / pollutants and attempt to identify their sources.	Use Rachel Carson's <i>Silent</i> <i>Spring</i> tas a reading to focus on the biological effects of polutants in water. Stage a debate on the topic: "Rachel Carson: Sound Precaution or Hysterical Over- Reaction."	Develop a mathematical model to illustrate the impacts of bioconcen- tration in which substances such as DDT or Dioxins can move upwards in food chains. Graph the phenomenon of biocon- centration using actual research data.	
11 There are a number of careers and vocations working with water.	Arrange for a visit to class by a professional from fisheries, water management, water quality monitoring, irrigation, forest hydrology, or other water-related professions and fields. How does his/her work relate to the overall understanding and/ or development of the CC Watershed?	Contact the local college & find out what programmes they have related to water resources, fisheries, or aquatic habitats. What background would a person have to have to enter these programmes? Contact firms which sell or install irrigation equipment or plumbing fixtures. What training do employees need in water conservation technology?	Write a letter to a local agency responsible for water quality, water supply, fisheries, wetlands, or other aspects of the CC Watershed. Explain that your class is studying the watershed and that you would appreciate any information about the work of their department, and how that work might contribute to your class project.		
	Social Studies	Science	Language Arts	Math	Fine Arts
---	---	---------	--	------	---
12 Different human cultures have different values about water and different patterns of use.	Review the traditions of the First Nations Peoples regarding water and water habitats. What was the status of the cultural attitudes toward water among the First Nations		Write a series of water tales or legends for the CC WS and perform these as dramatic readings.		Many native peoples had symbols such as rock paintings and carvings which marked sources of water or springs, and various water life forms. Collect examples of some of these
	peoples in the region.				and use them as the basis for linocuts, paintings, or graphic designs for a series of Water Awareness caeds.



A Topic Web for Planning an Integrated Study of Cedar Creek's Watershedp

Chapter Four

TEACHING AND LEARNING – A PHILOSOPHY

"The principle goal of education is to create people who are capable of doing new things, not simply repeating what other generations have done— people who are creative, inventive and discoverers. The second goal of education is to form minds that can be critical, can verify, and not accept everything they are offered.... So we need pupils who are active, who learn early to find out by themselves, who learn early to tell what is verifiable and what is simply the first idea to come to them."

Piaget



A Constructivist View of Learning



The Constructivist view of learning is quite complex, but generally it may be said to be founded on several key ideas. They are:

- Learning is dependent on the student's prior knowledge, experience, and attitudes. Knowledge is built upon existing knowledge. The learner connects new experiences with past experiences.
- In order to learn anything, a student must be engaged with the tasks of learning. Although interactions with teachers, mentors, peers, and tutors can facilitate the learning process no one can learn for someone else.
- Human beings learn in an attempt to make meaning of the world. They relate learning experiences to themselves and to their own worlds and cultures.
- Learning is context sensitive. We associate what we learn with where, how, and why we learn it. Skills and knowledge gained in one setting are not automatically transferred to other settings.

Learning Through Water Stewardship

Many of the activities and learning experiences provided in this guide are based on Constructivist concepts about learning. In particular, the following beliefs have shaped the development of the Water Stewardship Program:

1. Learning occurs as part of a learning cycle.

(See the diagram that follows)

The learning cycle can be divided into the following phases:

Assessing prior knowledge

+inding out what students already know about a topic or concept is a good starting point for teaching and learning. This helps in planning learning experiences, selecting appropriate resources, and monitoring new learning. Use the "Test Your Water Knowledge" survey located in Appendix B to find out what your students already know about water.

Providing appropriate experiences for learning

*xperiences and activities which are not connected to broad ideas or purposes, are not likely to be effective in promoting learning.

☆nquiry and activity does not exist for its own sake, no matter how much fun it is, how engaging it is, or how popular we find it. When we use experiences and information as a basis for thinking, reflection, and learning, then they become valuable. We need not only "hands- on" activities, but also "minds-on" activities.

Debriefing and Reflecting

*hinking and talking about an experience helps students and teachers to answer a number of questions such as: What did the experience mean? Why did we do this? What have we learned? What are we still unsure about? What else do we need to do?

Applying and Integrating

*tudents use their learning in new ways. They put their experience into their own words, apply what has been learned to new problems, practice skills, use tools, or try things out with new materials or in new settings.

Assessing learning

*Il through the learning cycle, the students and teachers should be keeping track of what is going on. They should identify problems, watch for uncertainties, decide which skills need refining, and determine where further work is needed.

*istakes, errors, even disasters can be useful as long as they are used to help the learner understand or improve skills and performances. Ongoing assessment is an intrinsic part of the learning process.

2. Students are more likely to find a learning experience valuable if they can connect it to their own lives.

Learners need the opportunity to think about learning experiences in the context of their own lives and to understand why things are being taught and learned. Conceptual frameworks, curriculum guides, learning outcomes, goals, and critical indicators should be of service not only to the teacher but also to the students.

Thus, this guide can be shared with students and used in a co-operative fashion to help students keep track of their own performances.

The Learning Cycle

This is not really a circle or cycle, but a spiral. The student may leave phase 4 ready for new experiences, but he or she will have added the learnings, concepts, and experiences from the previous set to their knowledge base. Thus, learning and experience promote and extend new learnings and experiences.

Phase 1. Assessing Prior Knowledge. Reviewing Previous Experiences and Feelings.

Why? What is to be learned. What do I already know about this? What skills do I have? What am I likely to learn? How much do I want to know; what skills do I want to gain?

Phase 2. Experiences for Learning

Why are we doing this? How can I connect this experience to what I already know?

Phase 4. Application. Practice. Further Integration.

What can I do with this knowledge & experience? What could I make with it? Should I apply it to my current situation? How does it change what I knew/felt before? Who could help me learn more or accomplish my goals? What tools or experiences do I still need?

Phase 3. Debrief Experiences. Reflections. Interpretation. Assessment. Personal Integration.

What have I learned from the experience? How does the new knowledge or experience change what I thought I knew/could/do/felt before the experience? How good is my knowledge? How firm are my skills? What do I still want/need to learn about this?

An Example of the Learning Cycle

Applied to a Field Experience Testing Water Quality

Phase 4. Application. Practice. Further Integration.

One group decides to become experts on other water quality tests and to try to continue further water testing. The class also decides that because they did the tests in the winter, they might want to do them again in the spring, when different conditions might give different results. The class also decides to repeat the tests on another creek which is slower running and which passes near a cattle feed lot. Phase 1. Assessing Prior Knowledge. Reviewing Previous Experiences & Feelings.

Have you ever done any chemical tests on water or other liquids? Can you remember what they were for, or what information you got from them? We are going to use some simple chemical tests to find some basic facts about the water of Cedar Creek. Why do you think we might want to gather this information? We are going to learn how to do these tests and how to record the information so we can use it when we get back to school. What sorts of things would you like to learn about the chemistry of the creek's water?

Phase 3. Debrief Experiences. Reflections. Interpretation. Assessment. Personal Integration.

Each team summarises its data and presents the information to the other teams. Results are compared. One team's results for the nitrate test is very different from the others. The class reviews the test and the team with the differing results compares its procedures with those of the other teams to see if they might have made a mistake. The class decides to send one class member to gather some more creek water so they can all repeat the test. The class then decides what sort of "press release" they could issue on the "health" of the water in the creek. Some members decide that they haven't tested for things like phosphates, which might get into the creek from fertilizers and soaps. While they think the Creek is relatively unpolluted, they still would like to know more about its water quality.

Phase 2. Experiences for Learning.

A field trip to Cedar Creek. Class is divided into teams and each team works at a station to make measurements of the water temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen, and nitrates. Each team also collects a water sample for Coliform testing back at school. At each station the team discusses the importance of the test with an aide or mentor who operates the test station.

3. Data, information, knowledge, and understanding are different from each other.

Information or data collected without interpretation, questioning, criticism, review, and application are not likely to lead to an increase in student knowledge or understanding.

Students need to collect information and structure it around a framework such as the key concepts outlined in Chapter Three. These key concepts can be learned in a variety of ways and will help students develop an understanding of water, whether they live in Vancouver, Vernon, Courtenay, Coquitlam, or Dawson Creek.

4. Student learning can be helped through interactions with other people.

Students can work co-operatively with team members, mentors, teachers, resource people, and guides. Student learning is often enhanced by membership in teams, work groups, partnerships, classes, and communities.

Many projects and activities in this guide encourage co-operation. The Water Stewardship Program attempts to balance individual and group activities.

5. Students need to be taught more than new information and skills — they also need to develop positive attitudes about themselves as learners.

The challenges which face us in developing a new, more sustainable, more appropriate relationship to the environment, are difficult and sometimes daunting.

In order to help students face these challenges, we must encourage them to be creative and inquiring, think clearly and critically, make effective decisions, and learn how to resolve conflicts. To accomplish this, we must begin to transfer some responsibility for learning from the teacher to the student.

6. Teachers should introduce students to the rich history of human knowledge and encourage them to add to their cultural heritage.

Humans have developed many rich and powerful ways of thinking about the world around them and about their own lives. The natural sciences, the arts, the humanities, the practical arts, and mathematics all represent important fields of human knowledge. Introducing this knowledge to students is important.

Using real questions, issues, and problems provides an ideal starting point. Given the importance of water for life, Water Stewardship provides a good focus and a

vehicle for moving across these areas of knowledge. See the chart in Chapter Three for examples of activities from different fields or subject areas.

7. It is important to provide students with ways to help them remember and make sense of what they learn.

The icons or logos which accompany the key concepts for water stewardship (see Chapter 3) can be used to help students remember what they learn. These symbols can also be used to help the student organize data and information.



Chapter Five

ACTIVITIES FOR WATER STEWARDSHIP

"Every child should have mudpies, grasshoppers, waterbugs, tadpoles, frogs, mud turtles, elderberries, wild strawberries, acorns, chestnuts, trees to climb, brooks to wade in, water lilies, woodchucks, bats, bees, butterflies, various animals to pet, hayfields, pinecones, rocks to roll, sand, snakes, huckleberries, and hornets, and any child who has been deprived of these has been deprived of the best part of his/her education."

Luther Burbank



A common adage associated with environmental education is: Awareness, Knowledge, Action. We believe that to become a steward of the environment and to take effective action, awareness and knowledge must be addressed also. The activities in this chapter will help increase your students' awareness and knowledge and lead to action. Stewardship is an evolutionary process and these activities will help foster that evolution.

A major flaw often found in many existing water resource and activity books is the lack of connection between activities and key concepts.

The intent of this chapter is to offer activities which are clearly linked to the key concepts for water stewardship. The activities are designed to illustrate how teachers can use key concepts to select, refine, and adapt activities from existing sources, or how they can develop new approaches on their own.

We have not tried to link the activities to particular age groups. We know that teachers will present the materials to their students in ways they deem appropriate.

How the Activities are Organized

Every activity in this chapter is organized around one of the key concepts. For every key concept, a learning activity (or set of activities) is outlined in detail. The activities are presented in the following way:

• Activity—a learning activity which clearly illustrates a key concept of water stewardship

Background information—helpful information about water

• **Materials**—a list of materials needed (Sometimes it may seem difficult to find the equipment needed for the activities. One good way to acquire the equipment is to send home a list of materials that you need and ask the students to do a "Scavenger Hunt.")

- Procedure—step by step instructions
- Extensions—follow-up ideas for a particular concept
- *Assessment Ideas—suggestions for ways to observe what your students are learning

• **Connections to the Curriculum**—an explanation of how the water activity fits into various subject areas

*Assessment in this program is designed to be informal rather than formal. The ideas given in this section are simply suggestions of ways that your students can demonstrate what they have been learning. More formal evaluation of your students will be left up to

you and will depend on the age of your students, course requirements, and your particular teaching style.

We recommend that you begin your study of water by checking what your students already know. Try using the "Test Your Water Knowledge" survey found in Appendix C of this guide. Watch your students as they carry out the various activities in this chapter and observe how their understanding grows. At the end of the water study, use the survey again and find out how much your students have learned.

Pick and choose which key concepts suit you and your students. Look over the list of activities which follows. These activities are designed to foster the key concepts. You can also use activities from the Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks Project Wild to build the key concepts. See the table in Appendix D which matches key concepts to Project Wild Activities.

List of Activities

Concept 1. Water is Essential for Life	43
Concept 2. All Living Things Depend on Water Activities: • Comparing Habitat Life • Habitat Life Questions	47 47 48
Concept 3. Water is a Unique Material	51
 Activities: Properties of Water Freezing Water Observing Density of Ice Boiling Water Observing Capillary Action Observing Surface Tension 	53 54 54 55 56
Concept 4. All Water is Part of the Water Cycle	59
Observing Water in Different Forms Missing Water	59 60
Observing Water in Our Breath Changing Ice into Water	61 61
Observing Water on Your Body Observing Water in Plants Weighing Water	61 62 62
······································	52

63 64 64
67
68
69
70
73
73
74
74

Concept 1: Water is Essential for Life.

All life on Earth requires water. Without water, nothing could live. While there may be frozen water or water vapour on some of the other planets, most are too hot or too cold to have any liquid water. No traces of life as we know it, have been found on any other planets in our solar system.

Background Information

• Water makes up 2/3 of the human body and is of similar importance in the composition of most other life forms, plant or animal.

One way to show that water is a component of living tissue is to compare the wet weight of plant material to the dry weight of the same material. Most of the difference will be caused by the evaporation of water.

• Before humans used refrigeration or canning as a means of preserving, many foods were smoked or dried. This meant that the water content of the food was removed. The First Nations people of the Pacific Coast used smoking and drying as a means of preserving salmon. These methods are still used today.

Activity: Drying Fruit

 \mathbf{T} he drying process shows that water is a major component of living tissues. Drying works as a means of preserving food because there is little water left to support the growth of mould and bacteria. Therefore the food does not rot.

Materials:

fruit dryer (or oven) plums, apricots, apples, or other fleshy fruit food scale paring knives

Procedure:

Begin by dividing the class into groups and give each group one type of fruit to cut and dry. Ask each group to:

- 1. Wash and slice the fruit.
- 2. Estimate how much the fruit weighs. Record the estimate.



3. Weigh the fruit pieces. (If the fruit is on a tray, subtract the weight of the tray each time you weigh the fruit.)

4. Place fruit into the dryer. Predict how much the fruit will weigh when it is dry and how long it will take. Record your predictions.

The drying process may take up to several days.

Each day:

1. Take the fruit out of the dryer and weigh it. Record any changes.

2. When there is no longer any noticeable change in weight, stop the drying and weigh the fruit. Find out how much weight has been lost.*

*The difference between the fresh weight and the dry weight represents the water lost during the drying process.

Assessment Ideas:

- Write a report. Compare predictions of the drying process with what actually happened.
- Make a graph to show the change in weight (water loss) throughout the drying process. Try to show clear and accurate results.
- Compare the rates at which different fruits dried.
- Design other experiments to investigate the process of decay and decomposition.

Extensions:

Find out why drying is a good way to preserve food.

1. Compare fresh and dried fruits over a week. Place a piece of fresh fruit inside a jar, on top of a damp paper towel. Place slices of dried fruit inside another jar on a dry paper towel. Cover both jars. Check the fruit each day. What happens? How does the fruit look at the end of the week? 2. Place slices of dried fruit inside a jar, on top of a damp paper towel. Cover the jar. What happens to the part of the dried fruit that is touching the paper towel?

Note: It is important to keep the jars covered in order to keep out fruit flies or other insects.

• Use a classroom composter to investigate the process of decay and decomposition of fruits or vegetables. Keep a record of what happens.

• Use hand lenses or magnifiers to look at any moulds which may appear.

• Discuss the reasons for being able to replicate experiments.

Connections to Curriculum:

Math: estimating, weighing, graphing, number operations

Science: using an experimental design, comparing, predicting, observing, record-keeping

Fine Arts: drawing, diagrams

Language Arts: making an oral report, report writing

Concept 2: All living things depend on water.

Different life forms have different water requirements, but all need water in some form. Different life forms may compete for water when water is scarce. Thus, water is a limiting factor in the environment.

Background Information

■ With Canada's abundance of fresh water, it is easy to forget the great dependence life has upon a supply of clean water. Lack of water directly translates into a lack of variety of life forms. As Canada's population continues to grow, and pollutants continue to enter the water cycle, the availability of fresh water is rapidly becoming an important issue.

There are many major water diversion schemes on the "drawing board" which advocate diverting major rivers to help meet the water needs in the U.S.A.

■ Sixty per cent of Canada's fresh water drains northward to Hudson's Bay and the Arctic Ocean, while ninety per cent of the population is located along the country's southern border. This places greater demand upon the water resources in the southern reaches of the country. In this southern part of Canada, industrial pollution, agricultural chemicals, poorly treated sewage, and other forms of pollution are affecting the quality of fresh water.

Many wetland areas have been drained for agriculture and human habitation, devastating the freshwater ecosystems. The reduction of these wetland areas and the deterioration of water quality, results in a dramatic reduction of the number of species in a region. This, in turn, makes ecosystems much less stable. The preservation of freshwater quality and ecosystems is one of the most pressing environmental problems facing us today.

Activity: Comparing Habitat Life

Differences exist between plants and animals depending on whether they live in water, near water, or on dry land. Students can observe and compare the different life forms found in these areas.

Discuss the following list of Habitat Life Questions with your students before the activity. You will be investigating life in three places: in the water, at the edge of the water, and on dry land. Use the questions again after the activity, for further discussion.



Habitat Life Questions

• Are some species found only in one place? How do they differ from plants or animals found in other places? What features do they have which make it possible for them to live where they were found?

• Are any species found in all three sites? What features do they have which make it possible for them to survive in all three places?

Are some species very restricted in their distribution—found only in very specific conditions? What role does water play in determining the occurrence of these species? Are they water living, water requiring, or water avoiding?

Does any species spend part of its life in water and part of its life somewhere else? How do the different stages of its life cycle differ?

If the pond was drained or the creek dried up, what do you think would happen to the plants and animals you found? Which would survive? Which might thrive and increase? Which would die?

• Where is there the greatest number of different species of life? Where is there the lowest number of different species? Why do you think this is so?

In which environment would it be most difficult to survive?

Which life forms would be most affected by change in temperature, humidity, light, available water, or food supply as the day progressed or the seasons changed? Why?

Materials:

camera or video camera micro-boxes measuring tapes paper and pencils string or twine clip boards collecting nets hand lenses binocular microscopes monocular microscopes field guides

Procedure:

Select a field site near a body of water (a shallow lake, pond, or slow flowing, shallow stream). Divide students into groups of 3 or 4. Ask them to:

• Observe plants and animals found in three places: in the water, at the edge of the water, and on dry land (above high water).

Make a record of what you see. Draw, write, take photographs, or videotapes.
Use field guides to help you identify what you see.

Notes:

The biggest obstacle to this sort of field survey is identifying what is found. You might prefer to organize three separate trips instead: one to examine aquatic life, a second to look at life at the edges, and a third to look at dry land critters. This will avoid the rush to find things and enable students to make more careful notes.

Students should be encouraged to make good notes, measurements, and sketches so they can then make good use of reference books back in the classroom.

Make checklists ahead of time to help students look for particular plants or animals at the field site. Use an illustrated field guide to help you make up a list.

Don't worry about the names of everything. Encourage students to make up their own names if they can't find the correct one—the important thing is to observe, record, and think.

Assessment Ideas:

• Compare what you found, in each of the three places, by making a graph, chart or large mural.

Show the differences in the type of life forms found in the three habitats.
Possibilities include: making an illustration, chart, tape recording, or even a play with students dressed up as the major life forms from each habitat.

Write a paragraph describing what happens to plant and animal life when a pond dries up over a period of time.

Become an expert on one or two species of life forms found during the study.
 Give a report.

Take part in a school fair. Create a display to show what you know about your chosen species and the role water plays in its life.

Extensions:

• Find out more about the species you observe. Work with field guides and reference books to collect further information. It is not essential to correctly name all species—in fact this is even difficult for experts to do. You may, however, wish to introduce senior students to taxonomy.

■ Decide how many different species there are in the three locations and estimate their relative abundance. Use a five point scale to record abundance: 1 = very rare (only one or two seen) up to 5 = very large numbers (so abundant they can't be counted).

Connections to Curriculum:

Science: observing, identifying cause and effect relationships, record keeping, making inferences, classifying, using field guides

Social Studies: understanding habitat requirements of living things, examining relationships between environmental conditions and life forms

Math: graphing, estimating, measuring

Fine Arts: drawing and sketching



Concept 3: Water is a unique material.

Water can exist as a solid, a liquid, or a gas. It dissolves many different types of materials. It is polar—water molecules attract each other and tend to stick together in drops.

Background Information

Pure water is a colourless, tasteless liquid. It freezes to form solid ice at 0° C and boils to form a gas, water vapour, at 100° C. (at sea level). Liquid water has a density of 1 g/cm3 (at 4°C. at sea level).

The chemical formula for water is H2O. Water molecules are formed from two atoms of hydrogen (the smallest and lightest of all the known atoms) which combine with one atom of oxygen.

The hydrogen atoms are on one side of the molecule, while the oxygen atom is on the other side. This shape is important for explaining the properties of water. (Imagine that the water molecule is a Mickey Mouse head, with the oxygen atom forming the head and the hydrogen atoms forming the ears.)

Because the hydrogen atoms are more electrically positive than the oxygen atom, the hydrogen side of the molecule is more positive and the oxygen side tends to be more negative. This difference between one side and the other means that water molecules are polar.

■ In nature, likes repel and unlikes attract. The North Pole of one magnet will attract the South Pole of another.

When we have a container filled with water, it is really filled with water molecules. The hydrogen, or positive side of a molecule will tend to attract the negative, oxygen side of another molecule.

This mass of weak attractions, when combined for millions and millions of molecules, means that water tends to stick together. Water forms beads or droplets and has a surface tension. This is why water will rise in a fine tube through capillary action.

It is also why Redwood and Douglas Fir trees can pull water, over 100 meters upward, from the roots to the crown of the tree far above the forest floor, through capillary action.

Because of the electrical charges and shape of the water molecule, it also tends to form a definite structure when it freezes.







 charged side of the molecule

■ Solid water, or ice, floats on top of liquid water. People might think that solid ice would sink in liquid water, but ice is actually less dense—there is less actual matter in a litre of ice, than in a litre of water. You can see this when you freeze water in a container and observe that the ice expands, perhaps causing the lid to pop off, or the container to crack.

The electrical charges of water also explain why we need to use soap for washing. The soap molecules get between the water molecules and break up the clumps of water, making water wetter!

If you've tried to wash without soap, you may have noticed that the water tends to form beads or blobs on your skin, and it is difficult to get really wet and to remove the dirt. Soap acts as a wetting agent and breaks up the attraction between water molecules.

Activities: Properties of Water

Here are a set of activities designed to help students explore and understand the properties of water. Read through the activity titles and decide which ones you will work on.

Materials:

This is the complete materials list for all the activities which follow. Depending on which activities you choose, you may only need a few of these items.

freezer, ice cubes, or crushed ice plastic ice cube trays or small plastic or paper cups water salt thermometers glass jars or plastic yogurt tubs an electric kettle or a hot plate sauce pan liquid detergent eye droppers sewing needles flexible plastic tubing (.5 or 1 cm in diameter, cut into short pieces each about 10 cm long) fine diameter tubing (.2 cm or less) plastic jugs or pouring containers

Activity: Freezing Water

Procedure:

Divide the students into teams of 3. Ask each team to:

1. Fill a plastic ice cube tray or paper cups with water.

2. Record the water temperature with a thermometer, then place the trays in the freezer.

3. Take the temperature of the water every 10 minutes until the water starts to freeze. Keep a record of the time and the temperature for each measurement.

4. Watch what happens to the water as it freezes. Some things to look for include:

Does the water freeze suddenly or slowly?

How long does it take for all the water to freeze?

• Does the water freeze from the top of the container down or from the bottom up?

Assessment Ideas:

^I Make a graph showing how the water changed temperature until it reached the freezing point. Show when the water froze solid.

Extensions:

■ Design an experiment to find out which would freeze first—a cup of water at room temperature (20° C) or a cup of water at the boiling point (100° C). Write the steps of your experiment and list all the equipment you would need.

• Mix salt into water (at room temperature) and stir until the salt dissolves. Place the salt water into the freezer and take measurements and observations over time. How does the behaviour of salt water compare to that of fresh water?

Gather up a tub of crushed ice, some salt, a thermometer, and a partner. Have one person add several tablespoons of salt to the ice and mix together. The other person will place a thermometer in the salt and ice mixture and take the temperature—without letting his or her partner see the results.

Have the first person predict the temperature of the ice-salt mix. Is it accurate? Discuss why the temperature is what it is.

Try adding more salt and making observations over longer time periods. Think about why we put salt on icy roads in the winter? Why do people put salt in crushed ice to make homemade ice cream?

Repeat the above using sugar instead of salt.

Activity: Observing Density of Ice

Procedure:

1. Pour some water into a paper cup.

2. Mark the level of the water with a wax crayon or felt pen on the outside of the cup.

3. Place the cup in the freezer and let the water freeze solid.

4. Take the container out of the freezer and compare the level of the ice with your original mark.

Assessment Ideas:

■ Discuss any changes you observed in the water level. What happens when water turns to ice? What does this tell you about the weight or density of ice? Can you explain why solid water (ice) floats on top of liquid water? Suppose ice didn't float, but sank to the bottom when the water temperature reached 0°. Would this make any difference to life on earth?

Activity: Boiling Water

Procedure:

Divide your class into teams of 3. Ask each team to:

1. Pour water into a sauce pan or kettle.

2. Record the water temperature with a thermometer then begin to heat the water.

3. Every five minutes, carefully measure its temperature. Record the results.

4. Measure the temperature when the water begins to boil and record the results.

Be very careful around boiling water. Boiling water, or the steam above, it can burn your skin. Ask for an adult for help if you are unsure about what to do.

5. Continue boiling the water for another 5 minutes. Take the temperature.

6. Turn off the heat and take the temperature again.

Assessment Ideas:

• Describe the temperature changes you saw. Once the water began to boil, did it continue to get hotter? What do you think would happen if you continued to boil the water and didn't turn off the heat?

• Make a graph or a set of drawings to explain what you observed.

Activity: Observing Capillary Action

Procedure:

1. Take various diameter plastic tubes and dip them into a container of water. (Add a few drops of food colouring so you can see the water.) Observe the level of water outside the tubes and inside the tubes. Is there any difference?

2. Place your finger or thumb over the upper end of the tube and hold it there. Now lift the tube out of the water, keeping your finger or thumb sealed across the upper end. What happens?

3. Take your finger off the tubing. What happens now? Can you explain what is going on here? Repeat this, lifting the tubing from the water without holding your finger across the upper end. What happens?

Assessment Ideas:

• Discuss what you observed. What does this tell you about water? Why would this be important for trees?

Extension Ideas:

If you have a really small diameter piece of tubing, place one end of the tubing in an open container of water. Leave the other end open and hold the tube so that the upper, open end is straight up above the water container. Watch what happens to the level of water in the tubing.

Place a stalk of celery into coloured water and leave over night. Explain what is happening.

Activity: Observing Surface Tension

Procedure:

- 1. Wash and dry your hands thoroughly.
- 2. Pour some water into a clean shallow dish or plastic yogurt tub.

3. Try to place a sewing needle so that it floats on the surface "skin" of the water. (It may take a few tries to do this or you may want to try setting it on with tweezers.) Think about why the metal needle floats—shouldn't it sink?

4. Once the needle is floating, use an eye dropper to add one drop of dish detergent to the water. Be careful not to create a splash or to disturb the water and needle. What happens to the needle?

Assessment ideas:

- Discuss why you think the needle floats. What changed when you added the soap? Why?
- Write your ideas explaining why you think we use soap to wash things.

Extension:

■ Pour a small amount of water into a shallow dish so that it covers the bottom. Add one or two drops of food colouring. Swirl the plate gently so the food colour mixes uniformly with the water. Now add one or two drops of alcohol to the water in the plate. Note what happens. Can you explain the behaviour of the coloured water?

Connections to Curriculum:

Math: measuring length, volume, and temperature, and graphing

Fine Arts: drawing and sketching

Science: observing properties and changing states of matter, predicting, hypothesis testing, record keeping, using thermometers, becoming aware of safe procedures when heating and handling equipment and materials

Language Arts: report writing, oral reporting.

Concept 4: All water is part of the hydrologic or water cycle.

Water passes through the cycle as it changes from a liquid, to a gas (water vapour), and back to a liquid again. Water may also be found as a solid (ice and snow). Water is an integral part of the weather/climate system.

Background Information

■ Water is a very unique material because it can exist in all three states of matter- solid, liquid, and gas within a 100° C temperature range. Thus, water freezes and becomes a solid at 0° C, yet boils and changes into a vapour at 100°C. (at sea level).

• Liquid water is always evaporating unless the air around it is already holding all the water vapour it can, at that temperature and pressure.

■ Water will evaporate into dry air even when the temperature is very low—as people discover when drying clothes outside in the winter. Water will even boil at room temperature if the air pressure above the liquid is reduced enough.

■ Under normal temperature and pressure ranges, the energy which drives the water cycle is solar energy. The sun's energy evaporates water.

The sun's energy creates the differences in air pressure, which cause high and low pressure weather systems and which carry water vapour, containing air, up into the higher atmosphere where it condenses to form clouds, snow, ice, hail, and rain.

These same differences in pressure create the winds which carry watercontaining air from place to place and shift water from the oceans to the land, from wet regions to dry ones. The water cycle is a solar powered system.

Activities: Observing Water in Different Forms

Materials:

This is the complete materials list for all the activities which follow. Depending on which activities you choose, you may only need a few of these items. shallow bowls kettle small hand mirrors





one or two potted plants such as coleus, geranium, or chrysanthemum plastic sheeting medium sized aquarium or terrarium tank electric fan gauze from a first aid kit elastic bands three or four thermometers rubbing alcohol kitchen scale

Activity: Missing Water

F ind out what happens when water is heated. Observe steam and discover what happens to water that continues to boil.

Procedure:

I. Place a measured amount of water in a kettle or pyrex beaker and bring it to a boil. Keep boiling for several minutes—don't let the kettle boil dry.

2. Let the kettle cool and measure the remaining water. Find out how much water is left.

3. Think about where the missing water went.

Assessment Ideas:

• Discuss ways to recover the water which escaped from the kettle. If the water from the kettle is still in the room, where is it? How could we get it back?

Note: The key point here, is that water is matter. Matter cannot be created or destroyed under normal circumstances. Therefore, the water that was no longer in the kettle cannot have been lost. It must have changed form or state.

Activity: Observing Water in Our Breath

Procedure:

1. Blow gently on a hand mirror. What do you observe?

2. Place the mirror in a fridge for 15-20 minutes. Take it out and blow onto the chilled mirror surface. What do you observe now?

Assessment Ideas:

Discuss the results of the experiments. What is the mist you see? Where does the mist come from?

Activity: Changing Ice into Water

1. Place several cold, dry chunks of ice into a bowl.

2. Put a thermometer in the bowl so that it is near, but not actually touching the ice.

3. Observe and record the thermometer readings as the ice melts. Take a temperature reading every 5 minutes.

4. When all the ice has completely melted, wait ten minutes and take a final temperature reading.

Assessment Ideas:

Make a graph showing how the temperature changed during the melting process.

Make a report describing what you thought would happen to the temperatures. Compare your initial ideas with what actually happened.

Activity: Observing Water on Your Body

Procedure:

1. Run up and down a flight of steps until you begin to sweat. Observe the sweat. Where on your body is it?

Assessment Ideas:

Think or talk about what perspiration is made of. Where does the water come from, and what purpose does it serve?

Activity: Observing Water in Plants

Procedure:

1. Set a potted plant inside an empty aquarium tank.

2. Cover the tank with a piece of plastic sheeting held in place with tape.

3. Leave the plant for a day or so. Observe the aquarium tank and plant. What do you notice about the walls of the aquarium?

Assessment Ideas:

• Discuss what you observed. If you noticed moisture or fogginess on the aquarium wall, where did this water come from?

• Offer an explanation as to why a large tree in a yard can provide cooling on a hot day, not only by creating shade, but also by evaporation.

Activity: Weighing Water

Procedure:

1. Weigh a potted plant, including the plant, the pot, the soil.

2. Fit a piece of plastic sheet over the top of the plant so that it covers the soil surface, but allows the stem of the plant to pass through an opening.

3. Use tape or an elastic to seal the plastic against the rim of the pot and against the plant stem.

4. Place the pot with its covered soil on a window ledge or counter top. Weigh the plant and pot again every day.

Do not water the plant or remove the plastic seal which covers the soil. Observe what happens to the weight of the potted plant.

Assessment Ideas:

• Describe your results. Compare your observations with those made in the activity, Observing Water in Plants.

Activity: Watching the Weather

Procedure:

1. Keep a log of the weather. Observe changes in cloud cover, type of cloud, precipitation, wind (strength and direction), temperature, and air pressure (if you have a barometer).

2. Make careful observations and notes for several weeks. Things to observe include:

- Which sorts of conditions seem to precede rain or snow?
- Which sorts of winds bring bad weather?
- What is the average daytime temperature?
- What is the range of air pressure change over the time period?
- Does low or high pressure indicate improved weather?

3. During the same time period, try to post the daily weather map from the local newspaper on the class bulletin board. Make comparisons for the following:

• Do your observations agree with the weather predictions?

• Does the wind in your area blow toward or away from high pressure systems as indicated on the local weather map?

Note: Check to see if your school has a connection to an on-line computer service, such as the Community Learning Network (CLN) in B.C., or to other Internet services. If so, you may be able to download daily weather satellite maps and other weather information to your school computer.

You will need a computer with a telephone modem, a phone line connection, and an account for an on-line service. You will also need the appropriate software for making the connection and searching for the weather information. In some school districts, local computer co-ordinators can provide assistance, while in other districts, school librarians can help you make the connections.

Assessment Ideas:

Write or give a report explaining what you observed and learned about weather conditions and predicting weather.

Activity: Reading Weather Maps

Procedure:

1. Obtain a map from the weather office showing average annual rainfall patterns in your area.

2. Locate the following:

- Where are the wettest places?
- Where are the driest or sunniest ones?

• How do these places of greatest wetness or dryness correspond to the local terrain? Are the dry places near the mountains, in valleys, on open plains, or up-wind from the prevailing wind direction?

3. Act as class meteorologist for a day. Use the map to make a prediction about the weather for the next day. Compare your results with those of the official forecasters.

Note: Maps showing the different bio-geoclimatic zones or biotic regions of B.C. can also be compared with the weather and climate zone maps to explore the connections between climate and life forms in an area.

Assessment Ideas:

• Use a newspaper weather map, without the written forecast, to predict the weather conditions in the area of the map and for the period covered by the map.

Describe why it rains more on the windward sides of hills and mountains, than on the leeward or protected sides?

Activity: Measuring Relative Humidity

Meteorologists use wet and dry bulb thermometers to determine the relative humidity of the air. The relative humidity is a measurement of how much water vapour is present in the air at a given temperature.

Procedure 1:

1. Use a thermometer to measure the temperature of rubbing alcohol. Record it.

2. Tie a piece of gauze bandage around the bulb of a thermometer with a piece of string or an elastic.

3. Dip the bulb and gauze into the rubbing alcohol and record the temperature while the bulb is immersed.

4. Remove the bulb from the alcohol and record the temperature over the next several minutes. Observe what happens.

Procedure 2:

1. Wrap a thermometer bulb with a piece of wet gauze. Leave another thermometer unwrapped.

2. Place the two thermometers close together in the classroom. Record the temperature of the wet bulb thermometer while a partner records the temperature of the one with the dry bulb.

3. Record the temperatures at the same time intervals over a period of several hours. Observe what happens.

Procedure 3:

1. Place a thermometer with a dry bulb near a small electric fan, or use a hand fan to create a draft near the thermometer. Record the temperature while the fan is being used.

2. Repeat the above process using a thermometer with a wet bulb.

3. Record the temperature of the wet bulb thermometer without using a fan. Then begin to fan the bulb. What happens to the temperature reading?

Assessment Ideas:

• Keep a careful record of your observations. Explain the results of your experiments and what you think these results mean.

• Explain which would give scientists a better indication of the amount of water vapour in the air—a wet bulb thermometer reading or a dry bulb thermometer reading. Why?

Extensions:

It has been said that every bit of water that there ever was is still in circulation today. We might be drinking water that was once part of the body of a dinosaur!

Organize a class debate on the theme: No new water, so we'd better look after what we've got. Set up two teams—one for water conservation, the other against it. Have remaining students act as a jury. Have the jury decide which side wins the debate and submit a written report giving reasons for their decision.

Curriculum Connections:

Science: observing weather, cloud formations, wind, air pressure, changing states of matter, conservation of matter, conservation of energy, experimenting, making inferences, measuring, predicting, developing an understanding of human physiology and plants

Social Studies: identifying weather patterns and landforms, map reading

Language Arts: oral reporting, log and record keeping

Mathematics: measuring temperature, mass, and pressure

Fine Arts: role playing



Concept 5: Streams, lakes and rivers, as well as other water bodies are part of a larger system known as Watersheds.

Watersheds are determined by the contours of the landscape, the vegetation covering the land, soil and rock formations, and prevailing patterns of climate in a region.

Background Information

• A watershed is the region or area drained by a stream. Standing in the water and looking upstream would give a view of the land that the stream drains—this area is the watershed.

Every body of water has a watershed and all people live in watersheds.

Most of a watershed is made up of land, not water.

• Watersheds differ greatly in size. For example, the Fraser River watershed, drains about one quarter of British Columbia, 234,000 km2. This is a massive area. In contrast, a mud puddle may have a watershed of only a few square meters.

• The analogy of a huge deciduous tree may be helpful in explaining what a watershed is. When rain falls, one drop may join with others to form a rivulet. Think of the twigs on the tree branches as rivulets.

The rivulets join with other rivulets to form a stream (tree branches are the streams). The streams flow into rivers (the large branches) which combine to form larger rivers (the largest branches). Imagine that the tree trunk is the main river that finally reaches the ocean.

• It is important to realize how we affect water as it passes by us. Everything we do affects the plants and animals using the water downstream. People who get their drinking water directly from streams and rivers, are acutely aware of upstream activities such as: cattle watering and defecating in the water course, or towns discharging effluent.



• For the purposes of teaching the watershed concept, we recommend that you focus on a small watershed, preferably one the students are familiar with—a local stream, perhaps. Older students may be able to grasp the idea of larger watersheds for major rivers, but it is advisable to begin the study of watersheds on a small scale.

Activity: Making a Watershed Model

Before starting the activity, find out what students know about watersheds and have a class discussion. Ask a student to record various thoughts on the blackboard or a flip chart. Don't judge the "correctness" of the various ideas simply collect them for later reflection.

Materials:

chalk an outside area paper and pencil

Procedures:

1. Use chalk to draw a large tree-like structure on a paved area of the school playground. (If your school yard does not have a large paved area, use a stick to scratch the figure on the ground or use string and golf tees to peg out a "tree" on the lawn.)

2. Make sure there is one "twig" for each child in the class. Place each student at the end of a twig.

3. Ask the students to walk, one at a time, from their twigs onto the nearest branch where they will join with other students. Like a Grand March, keep joining the groups together, until they are in groups walking down the trunk of the tree.

4. Explain that they started as individual water drops or rivulets and joined together. When the class looks back at the "tree", they will see their watershed.

5. Repeat the procedure but give students in one branch some "pollution" (popsicle sticks or bread tags) to float down to the mainstream and demonstrate how contamination is transferred.
Extensions:

Other activities to develop the watershed concept are:

Make a model watershed with plasticine or in a sandbox. Or, design a watershed on a table top. Use boxes and cardboard tubes to create hills and valleys. Drape clear plastic over the contours of the watershed. The plastic will hold and shape the direction of water which is poured over top.

Before pouring water across the model landscape, make predictions. What do you think will happen as the water flows? Write down or draw a sketch of your prediction.

Turn the water on and observe what happens. How close was your prediction? Revise your prediction to show what actually happened.

• Conduct field studies on a local creek, noting tributaries and trying to locate the sources of the creek and its branches. Make a map of the creek and post it in the classroom.

Map the route a salmon would have to take to get to the ocean if the young fry started out in a branch of a nearby local creek or river. (Don't worry about whether or not the creek actually supports a population of salmon.)

• Study the flow of water on streets and playgrounds when the snow melts or rain is falling. Map some miniature watersheds and describe any erosion features like meanders, channels, or deltas.

• Use guided imagery to take students through a watershed. Have students imagine they are a drop of rain. Begin by having the rain land on a mountain slope, continue along the watershed until you become part of the river that flows into the ocean.

• Make a stream table for studying water flow. (See the illustration for an example of a stream table.)

How to Build a Stream Table

Procedure:

1. Use a sheet of plywood, with pieces of $1" \times 4"$ nailed or screwed around the edges to form a rim. Drill holes in the bottom piece of $1" \times 4"$ so the water will run out of the box. On this same $1" \times 4"$ fasten a piece of gutter slightly off level so the water will run to one side.

2. Raise the other end of the stream table and prop it on blocks of wood or bricks. This will help support the middle of the table and keep it from bending under the weight of sand.

3. Use a plastic drop sheet as a liner, or use silicon seal to caulk the edges, and then fill the shallow box with sand. (You can get sand from most building supply centres).



How to Use a Stream Table

Procedure:

1. Shape the sand into hills and valleys creating a tree-type pattern of branches and main streams. Create a lake area at the lower end of the table.

2. Use a small hose or plastic tubing as a source of water and run the water gently from the top of the branches so that it flows down the table. Notice any new erosion or channels created by the water and watch how the running water deposits the sand as it flows downward.

Note: it is important to use a very gentle flow of water on model stream tables—too much water flowing too hard will destroy the model.

3. Try various different landscapes by reshaping the sand on the table into different forms. Study the effect of making the slope of the table greater or les



Assessment Ideas:

• Compare your new ideas about watersheds with what you used to think. Write a summary of the things you've learned.

* Sketch a map of a local river or creek from its source to the ocean or a major lake. Show how a pollution source could contaminate the water downstream. Show the best place to build a hydroelectric dam.

• Create a word list of watershed terms. Or, make a crossword puzzle of watershed words. Exchange your puzzle with another student in the class.

Rate each other's puzzles for the following: Is the puzzle complete? Were any important watershed terms left out? Were the clues useful? Was the puzzle challenging? Were th**ere** any new words in it?

Connections to Curriculum:

Social Studies: mapping water systems, studying erosion and landforms

Science: designing models, observing, predicting, hypothesis testing, exploring cause and effect relationships

Practical Arts: model making, designing, using tools, constructing, making prototypes and revising, practical problem solving

Language Arts: report writing, communicating orally, creative writing

Fine Arts: drawing, map making, illustrating and sketching

Concept 6: Watersheds are dynamic.

Watersheds change and evolve over time as a result of geological processes, biological processes, and human activities.

Background Information:

The action of wind, rain, flowing water, glaciers, snow, ice, earthquakes, and volcanoes is continually changing the surface of the planet. This change may be an almost imperceptible process of weathering, or a very obvious event such as a landslide, earthquake, or volcanic eruption.

One needs only to observe the gravy-like consistency of many streams during the spring run off, to understand how much silt is moving from the upper watershed to the lower watershed each year.

Biological processes are at work in the watershed too. The natural succession of plant communities changes our watersheds as young forests mature, and lakes gradually become bogs or marshes.

Perhaps the most dramatic impact on watersheds, comes from human activity. Logging, mining, agriculture, hydro-electric projects, and everexpanding population growth are all having an impact.

Even global climate changes (resulting from human activities), can have significant impacts on watersheds, particularly when patterns and amounts of rain and snowfall change.

■ Geological processes, biological processes, and human activities do not work in isolation—they are interrelated. Human activities such as agriculture, logging, and strip mining may alter the processes of succession and erosion.

Activity: Exploring How a Watershed Changes

Use a Stream Table to explore how watersheds change and what causes these changes. See the instructions for making a Stream Table in the previous set of activities. Or make one of the following models:

Build a Stream Table Outside

This stream table can be built on the school grounds. The directions are as follows:



1. Build a frame with 2 x 4 or 4 x 4's on a part of the school grounds where there is a natural slope.

2. Place a plastic drop sheet inside the frame.

3. Build a model watershed using sand, gravel, clay, and other materials.

Design an Outdoor Watershed Model

1. Find a spot where there is open, sloping ground, uncovered by grass or other vegetation. A loose sand and gravel bank is ideal.

2. Use a garden hose or buckets of water to simulate running water and a spade to create a landscape, letting water flow downstream across the bank. Be careful to keep the water flow quite low and gentle—you are modelling a river on a small scale.

Exploring the Changes

Use your model to find out how glaciers change a watershed.

Procedure:

1. Make model glaciers. Stir sand, gravel, and water together to make a fairly thick, but still fluid paste. Freeze the mix inside milk cartons.

2. When the mixture is solidly frozen, peel the milk cartons away from the ice and place the glaciers at various spots on your model.

3. Predict what will happen when the ice melts in the mountains. What landforms will be created or destroyed? What changes will occur? Record your predictions.

4. Observe what happens. Do you need to change your predictions?

Extensions:

Here are some other activities for developing the concept that watersheds are dynamic:

- Change some of the variables in the stream table by: changing the slope of the box, flow rate or volume of water, adding vegetation, or altering the landscape.
- Relate what students observe to real life situations in the area—point out evidence of stream erosion, delta formations, and glacial erosion.
- Interview pioneers and First Nations elders about their memories of the watershed from when they were youngsters. Ask them about what changes they've seen and what caused the changes.

• Use museum and newspaper archives to find photographs and references to historic waterways. Find out about the changes that occurred in the watershed over time.

Investigate city maps to discover culverted creeks.

Make an illustrated glossary of the geological terms for various land forms and geological structures. Create a classroom display of these terms, using examples.

• Visit a local watershed where logging is underway (the trip will need to be arranged with the local Forest Service or logging company). Invite representatives of the company to describe the operation and to explain what steps are being taken to avoid damage to streams through logging and road building.

Assessment Ideas:

Draw or write your ideas about how the watershed was, ten thousand, one thousand, one hundred, or twenty-five years ago.
 *escribe what the watershed is like today, and how it will be in the future if current trends continue.

• Use the previous idea and create a timeline mural to display in the classroom or school. Work alone or with a partner.

Create an illustrated glossary of watershed terms and publish them on a computer.

Interpret unfamiliar maps of watersheds. Use the maps to create a three dimensional sketch or model. Or write a report describing what the map tells you about the watershed.

• Using air photos or satellite based maps of watersheds, try to interpret the photos and answer the following questions:

• How are current human activities changing the watershed?

• How have geological or biological processes shaped the watershed that we see today?

Note: This is a good time to use air photos or satellite photos of areas near your school. Call Maps B.C. (387 -1441).

Air photos are especially interesting to students. If you can borrow a set of stereoscopic pair air photos and a viewer, the students can use these to get a 3D view of the landscape. The local Forest Service office is often a good source of these materials.

The regional district offices or planning departments of the city are also good sources of large scale, detailed maps of the area.

Connections to Curriculum:

Science: observing, measuring, exploring cause and effect relationships, record keeping, predicting, and hypotheses testing

Social Studies: doing historical research, interviewing pioneers, using archival sources, interpreting modern landforms

Mathematics: measuring and calculating, exploring scale and proportion

Practical Arts: constructing, designing, using tools, making prototypes, selecting and using materials, model making

Fine Arts: sketching, map making, model building

Language Arts: report writing, oral reporting, designing an interview, interviewing and listening skills

Concept 7: Humans are major users of water.

As animals we need water for our lives, but we also use water in our technological processes to make things, generate electricity, grow and process food. We often compete with other life forms for water.

Background Information:

• Urban Canada uses large amounts of water. Canadians have the second highest per capita water consumption in the world, second only to the United States.

Water is used to fulfill a wide array of needs, from food production and processing to generating hydro-electric power. Human activities often leave contaminants in the water cycle in the form of acid rain, agricultural run-off, and municipal effluents.

The ability to turn on a tap and receive clean, running water is taken for granted by many children. Children don't always know where their water comes from and where it goes after it runs down the drain.

With rapid population growth in many parts of Canada, an increasing demand is being placed upon supplies for domestic and industrial water. An understanding of the issues surrounding sources of drinking water and the disposal of waste water, are essential for the development of informed, rational decision-making about water-related issues.

Activity: Mapping Your Water Supply

This activity is designed to help you find out what students know about the sources, uses, and disposal of water in their homes. It can be repeated at the end of your water study as an evaluation tool.

Materials:

notebook pencil



Procedure:

1. Draw a map or diagram to show the following:

- where water in your taps comes from
- how water is used in your home
- where water goes after leaving your home
- what goes with the water that leaves your home

2. Label your map so that other people can understand it. Don't put your name on it.

3. Join a group with three other people.

4. In your group, look at another group's maps. Look over the maps and compare the similarities and differences.

5. With your group, make up a new, common water system diagram that everyone agrees on.

Afterwards, compare your map with an actual diagram or flow chart of the town's water supply and liquid waste disposal systems. How is your map different? Is anything missing?

Find out how many students have visited the town's water intake or reservoir, or the town's sewage treatment plant. Ask them about what they saw.

Extensions:

 Go on a field trip which begins at the source of the community's drinking water.
 Visit any other components of the community's water and waste water system, such as sewage treatment plants.

Have the students keep track of water consumption in their homes for an average week. Graph the results, comparing them to consumption in other countries.

- Compare the water system of an urban community with that used in a rural setting. Have groups research some of the following topics:
- septic fields and tanks
- fluoridation
- chlorination
- primary vs secondary sewage treatments
- coliform tests
- aquifers and wells

• Use books on ancient Rome to find out how the Romans built elaborate water supply systems—aqueducts, fountains, drains, in order to supply their cities with water. Other ancient civilizations also built waterworks: canals, dams, pumps, dikes, irrigation systems. Students can report on a number of these.

Note: *City: A Story of Roman Planning and Construction*, by David A. Macaulay, is an excellent reference. *Underground*, also by Macaulay, describes the structures below ground needed to support life in a modern large city.

Assessment Ideas:

Design a new water system map or diagram. Compare it to the map designed before your study of water. Observe any changes. Has the diagram become more accurate or more detailed? Does it show cause and effect relationships which weren't present in the first map?

Connections to Curriculum:

Social Studies: map drawing, diagram drawing, investigating civic government services, exploring health and environmental regulations, studying regional water features and watersheds, developing an awareness of historical practices and life in ancient times

Math: graphing, estimating, measuring

Science: investigating water treatment methods, public health, and water supply

Practical Arts: exploring civil engineering (water systems and treatment plants)

Language Arts: developing library skills, making book reports, and oral presentations

Fine Arts: drawing, drafting

Concept 8: Water is finite.

There is only so much water available on earth at any given time. The amount of potable water, suitable for use by humans without advanced treatment is very limited.

Background Information

Water is finite. The earth is essentially a closed system in which the water cycle operates with no deletions or additions. With our abundance of freshwater rivers, streams, and lakes, one may easily forget the very small proportion of this limited resource which is actually accessible and usable to us. By examining the statistics on location and the state of water resources on earth, students may see how small and limited our usable water resources actually are.

Students can also examine the potential effects of climate change on the state of the planet's water. If global temperatures rise even a few degrees through the greenhouse effect, the impact on the polar ice caps will be tremendous. Large areas of heavily populated coastline could be flooded and significant areas of agricultural land could be lost.

Activity: Analyzing the World's Water Supply

9 tudents can analyze water statistics to find out about the availability and condition of the world's water supplies.

Materials:

statistics on the earth's water supply (See Appendix A- A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures) chart paper graph paper

Procedure:

- 1. Read the following information:
 - 95% of the world's water is ocean water
 - 3.4 % is ground water
 - 1.6 % is frozen
 - -.005 % is surface water

(Source: The State of the Environment Report For British Columbia, 1993, p. 18.) Note: These figures are estimates and vary slightly with different sources.

2. Construct a graph to show the relationship between ocean water, fresh water, and accessible fresh water.



Note: An example of such a graph is shown in A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures, Appendix A. This is only one way to graph this information however, and students should be encouraged to try other approaches. See the extension ideas that follow.

Extensions:

• Cut an apple to demonstrate the amount of fresh drinkable water on earth. Leave the peel on, so that each piece of apple you cut is still covered by some peel.

Take an apple and cut it into four equal pieces. Take one piece and cut it into five equal parts. Take one of the 5 small sections—this represents the amount of fresh water on earth, in all forms. The rest of the apple pieces combined represents the amount of salt water on earth.

Take the small piece (which represents the world's fresh water) and cut it into three equal sections. One section represents the total amount of fresh water which is frozen. The two remaining sections represent all of the world's underground water.

Finally, take one of the three tiny sections and carefully peel it. Cut the peel into three pieces. One of these pieces of peel represents all the surface, non-frozen, available fresh water on earth!

Another way to dramatically demonstrate the amount of surface water available on earth is to:

- start with 1000 ml. of water in a beaker
- pour out 28 ml. to represent the fresh water on earth
- from the 28 ml. pour out 23 ml. to represent the frozen water tied up in glaciers and icecaps
- that leaves 5 ml.
- from the 5 ml. pour out 4 ml. to represent the ground water in aquafers and underground streams
- from the 1 ml. remaining, pour out .8 ml. to represent water in the air and in the soil
- you will have approximately two drops left which represents all the surface water in lakes, rivers, streams, marshes and wetlands.

Hold a classroom debate. One group can represent a city or regional government who wants to install water meters to measure how much water is used in each home. They also want to charge a fee based on how many litres of water each home uses in a month (just like the bills we get for electrical power, gas, and telephone).

The other group can represent homeowners who would argue that there should either be no fee for water use at all, or that there should be a very low charge for water use as part of the overall city or regional taxes. This fee would be the same for every home, no matter how much water was used. (This is currently the situation in many B.C. cities and towns).

Using their knowledge of water resources, students representing the government side can prepare arguments to support their opinions.

Stage a debate about using technology to distil salt water in order to produce drinking water for humans. Students can be divided into three groups: one group who is for the idea, one group who is against it, with the remaining group acting as a jury to decide which of the sides in the debate wins.

• Keep a personal log of how much water is used in your homes over a period of one week. The data might be organized as:

Use	Amount of water
cooking food	litres
flushing toilets	litres
washing clothes	litres
	litres
	litres
	litres

Write a report or make a graph to show what you find out. Make a personal plan for conserving water in your home.

Assessment Ideas:

Make a poster or draw a picture to show what you discovered about the world's drinkable water supply.

Write a report or letter to the local city or regional government. The report should explain why all new homes should be required to install low volume flush toilets and shower flow- restrictors. The report should also state why all existing homes should have to install them by the Year 2000.

Use actual data to support your point of view. Describe the amount of domestic water use in your region, and the potential water savings attained by using these two conservation approaches.

Make a sketch chart outlining your city's water supply system. Where does the water come from and what is done to it before it gets to your home? How much water is used every day, week, month, year in your city?

Develop a written argument for or against the use of meters on private wells. In some regions, people who have wells on their own property must install water meters on the wells. These meters measure how much water is drawn from the well and the owner of the well is charged a tax or fee by the regional government for the use of the water.

• Write a report or prepare an oral presentation outlining your ideas for ways to conserve the world's fresh-water supply.

Connections to Curriculum:

Math: analyzing data, graphing, calculating per cent, scale and proportions

Social Studies: investigating government roles in resource conservation, exploring taxes and government services

Language Arts: oral speaking, debating, creative writing

Fine Arts: designing graphs, using page layout, line and colour

Concept 9: Aquatic habitats are essential elements of the biosphere.

Aquatic habitats are home to a wide variety of plant and animal species and are necessary to maintain biodiversity. Many life forms exist for all or part of their life cycles in aquatic habitats. When water is used or contaminated with toxins, the habitat can be destroyed and species may be lost, resulting in a loss of overall biological diversity.



Background Information:

■ Water is habitat for many forms of life.

■ Biological diversity refers to the variety of living organisms within an ecosystem. Organisms within an ecosystem not only include the obvious variety of wild animals, birds, and fish, but also include other important organisms such as bacteria, fungi, and algae.

■ All of these organisms play a vital role in the functioning of a healthy ecosystem. Biological diversity reflects the health of an ecosystem. Biological diversity influences the stability of an ecosystem, while lack of diversity often results in a less stable ecosystem.

One way to illustrate this concept is to reflect on the typical urban lawn. The lawn is an artificial ecosystem in which the homeowner has replaced the native flora and fauna with one species of plant—the lawn grass. The system will be stable as long as the homeowner maintains it. To do this he or she will be required to spend considerable time and money weeding, spraying, and irrigating.

If the homeowner neglects the lawn, it will quickly be invaded by other plants and animals and begin to become less homogeneous. When the homeowner planted the lawn, a monoculture was created— an ecosystem with only one major species.

This makes the lawn system unstable—it can only be maintained by spending energy and doing work. Native ecosystems, on the other hand, will only change slowly and will tend to be stable unless there are outside interventions, or climate and soil conditions change.

In aquatic communities, the diversity of organisms found, directly reflects the quality of the water. Within uncontaminated water, a wider variety of organisms is often found than in polluted waters. In polluted water, the variety of organisms is reduced, leaving fewer pollution-tolerant organisms which will thrive in larger numbers. Thus, polluted waters often have large numbers of very few species, while water in its native state supports a wider array of species in more balanced numbers.

Activity: Going on a Pond or Stream Study

This lesson is a field study of life in water habitats. Use the term field study rather than field trip. Using this terminology helps students and parents realize that field experiences are an important part of learning and not frills or a day off. Students will visit a stream or pond, and collect and observe the organisms who live there. This lesson is designed to help students see the relationship between biodiversity and water quality. It will also help students move toward an examination of biodiversity and environmental conditions on a larger global scale.

This activity has three parts: collecting of a sample of invertebrates from a small stream or pond, determining types and numbers of species found, and creating an index to calculate the biological diversity of the stream.

The method used in the activity is borrowed from *Field Manual for Water Quality Monitoring* by Mark K. Mitchell and William B. Stapp, 1991.

Materials:

dip nets kick screens (preferred for stream work) ice cream buckets hand lenses aluminum baking pan or pie plates wide mouth jars and bottles tweezers turkey basters sugar styrofoam egg cartons or ice cube trays microscope slides

Wear rubber boots or old running shoes, shorts or old jeans, and bring a change of clothing and footwear.

Procedure:

Before the Field Study teachers should:

1. Discuss how water quality affects the numbers and variety of organisms that live in the water.

2. Make and show overhead transparencies of the more common fresh water bottom-dwelling invertebrates, so that the students know what to look for on



the field trip. (Use a simple field guide to find common species of fresh water life.)

3. Clearly explain the purpose of the field trip—to take a survey of the types of organisms found living in the stream or pond you are visiting. Pay particular attention to the organisms who live in the bottom materials of the stream or creek.

4. If you are going to a stream, check with The Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks Fisheries Personnel to determine the timing of your trip so you won't disturb spawning fish.

How to make dip nets

The easiest type of net to make is called a D-Frame Net. Gather up an old pole, broom handle, or stick, a coat hanger, and some netting (an old nylon stocking leg with attached foot is ideal).

Bend the coat hanger so that it forms an oval or circular frame. Attach the handle to the coat hanger at the hook of the coat hanger with duct tape or string.

Stretch the stocking opening across the coat hanger frame and fold the nylon over the wire rim. Use small safety pins to hold the nylon to the wire frame.



How to make kick screens

purchase fine-mesh screen door screening (1.1 meter per kick screen)

find 2 hockey sticks or broom handles

wrap the screening around the stick 10 cm. from the bottom leaving 10 cm. of stick protruding to bury in the stream bottom

staple the screening to the stick.



During the Field Study

Note: Before any sampling begins, the class should be reminded about their impact on the area. Students must return all specimens to the pond or stream at the end of the study, restore rocks to their normal positions, and avoid doing damage to the organisms or the area.

1. Look for the common invertebrate life forms (insects, worms, crustaceans) found in water. You don't need to identify the organisms you find—only decide whether one organism is different from another in some obvious way.

2. Use the dip nets or kick screens to collect your samples. Try to:

- work in groups of two or three
- choose a sampling area in the stream or pond bottom, about 1 m in length
- have one person hold the net on the downstream side of the area you are sampling

- have another person go upstream and lift up any rocks 5 cm or more in diameter. Rub the rocks in the water to free them of organisms clinging to the surface. Do this above the net.

- when all of the larger rocks have been moved, have one person gently

shuffle his or her feet on the stream bed (above the net) for two or three minutes. This will stir up any organisms which are living in the bottom mud and debris.

- return rocks to their normal positions

3. Pull the net upstream and remove it from the water. Empty the contents of the net into an ice cream bucket or large jar. Come away from the water.

4. Pour the contents of your bucket or jar into a shallow aluminum tray. Look at the organisms you have collected. Use the tweezers and/or the turkey baster to separate organisms from any grit or mud.

5. Make sketches of what you find. Use your field books and hand lenses or magnifiers.

6. Calculate the diversity of the organisms you've found. (See the instructions which follow this section.)

7. Carefully return the organisms to the place where you found them.

8. Select two other parts of the stream or pond to sample. Choose different habitats—perhaps an area where the current is slower or faster, where there is overhanging brush, or where the stream undercuts a bank. Make notes, sketches, and calculations at each part of the stream you sample.

How to calculate the diversity of bottom-dwelling organisms

1. Choose one organism in the tray. Look at it carefully and note its major features: shape, number and types of legs or other appendages, colour, how it moves and so on. Place this organism in a small amount of water on the surface of a glass slide, egg carton or ice cube tray. This is your counting tray.

2. Choose another organism from the tray and place it beside the first organism, making sure both are covered with a small amount of water.

3. Repeat this process of selecting and moving the organisms to the counting tray until you have a row of 10-20 organisms there.

4. Group the organisms according to type. (Similar ones are placed beside each other.) Each type can be called a "run". How many runs (different types) do you have?



See the following example of how to group your organisms.

AAB BBBBBB	388
------------	-----

If a letter is given for each different organism in this group of 10, the letters could be: A, A, B, C, C, C, D, D, E, E.

5. Calculate a Diversity Index (DI), using this formula:

```
DI = <u>number of runs</u>
number of organisms
```

In the illustration, the Diversity Index would be:

DI = 5 runs DI = .5.10 organisms

If every organism had been different, the DI would have been:

 $DI = \frac{10}{10} \qquad DI = 1$

If all the organisms had been the same, the DI would have been:

 $\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{DI} = \underline{1} \\ 10 \end{array} \qquad \qquad \mathsf{DI} = .1 \end{array}$

After the Field Study

1. Use your Diversity Index calculation to make conclusions about the water quality in the stream or pond you sampled. A higher Diversity Index represents more biological diversity. More diversity means a better quality of water. A notable exception to this might be in high elevation rivers draining glaciers. They often have low biodiversity but are not polluted.

2. Examine the relationship between the location of each stream sample and any factors which may be having an impact on the water quality.

3. Make note of any major differences in the Biodiversity Indexes from site to site.

Extensions:

Select a stream which has significant locations which may show drastic changes in water quality. For example, look for locations before and after sewage treatment plants, industrial areas, or agricultural areas. Draw a map which shows the locations of the test sites and the results. Monitor the water quality over time. Do some further testing of the sites for such factors as dissolved oxygen, pH, temperature, nitrates, or conductivity. Attempt to make connections between the chemical test results and the Diversity Indexes of invertebrates at the different sites.

• Use common field guides to determine the identity of the different species of invertebrates collected. Find out as much as you can about their habitat requirements. Try to connect this information with the relative abundance or scarcity of the different organisms.

• Create a large wall map of the section of creek sampled. Attach drawings of the various organisms found and Biodiversity Indexes from the different sampling sites.

• Discuss the accuracy and validity of the Biodiversity Index method as a means of estimating water quality. Are there any possible false assumptions? Might the sampling approach have missed any species which might nevertheless be important in the stream ecology? Might the method have favoured the collection of some organisms over others, making some organisms appear more abundant or common than they actually are?

• Explore the problems of sampling by using a "How many jelly beans are in the jar?" puzzle as a class challenge. Get a large glass jar and fill it with coloured objects in different proportions—jelly beans, perhaps. Mix the objects well.

Have students come up with different ways to figure out how many jelly beans are in the jar, without counting them one by one.

Invite students to try out their sampling designs and estimate the number of beans in the jar. You might want to stage a contest with a prize for the closest estimate.

Assessment Ideas:

1. Give students a set of data which shows the Diversity Indexes of invertebrate populations from a number of test sites on an imaginary stream. Have them use the data, interpret the results, and draw some conclusions regarding the health of the stream.

2. Take the students on one more field study, to a different stream or locale. Have students work in teams to: design their study of stream life, select and use equipment, gather data, calculate the DI's for the stream, and present a final report on the health of the stream using all the information gathered from the field study.

This is an ideal summing up activity. Since the students will work in groups, the students should be asked to review how well their group members worked together, and to self-assess their team work.

Connections to Curriculum:

Science: studying biology, observing, comparing, classifying, examining cause-effect relationships, making inferences

Fine Arts: drawing, sketching, map-making

Mathematics: calculating percentages, using scale and proportion

Language Arts: recording field data, keeping field records

Concept 10: Contaminants and toxins can move within water.

Toxins can have harmful effects on other life forms, including humans, which are far removed in time and place from the sources of the toxins.

Background Information

■ In moving through the hydrologic cycle, water carries nutrients which are essential to the environment. However, water may also carry contaminants which are harmful.

Because the hydrologic cycle works on a global scale, vast regions of the planet are linked by this process. For example, the flow of rivers and precipitation moves contaminants from southern regions in Canada, the United States, Europe, Russia, and Asia into the Arctic where mammals and fish are contaminated by southern pollution.

■ An understanding of the water or hydrologic cycle is essential for understanding global ecology and the worldwide implications of environmental contamination.

Activity: Reducing Toxic Dumping

Although most people have seen storm drains, many do not have a clear idea about where the drains (and their contents) actually go.

In this activity, students can study the path that water-borne toxins take from a storm drain near their school. Based on their findings, they will develop an action plan to help reduce toxic dumping.

Materials:

map of the local community

Procedure:

1. Draw a map of where you think water goes when it is passed down a storm drain.

2. Compare your map with a community map which shows where the storm drains actually run.

3. Find out if the run-off, collected by storm drains, is treated in any way before being discharged. Where does the run-off go? Are sanitary sewers joined to the storm sewers in case of overload in the sanitary sewers?



4. Review the hydrologic (water) cycle. Discuss the following questions: What would happen to toxins poured down a storm drain in your area? How might toxins be transported by surface waters or by ground waters? Could a toxic material which went down a storm drain in one place end up in well water in another?

5. Brainstorm with others and think of ways to inform the public not to pour toxins down storm drains (or household drains, either).

6. In a group, choose one or two practical solutions and develop an action plan to help reduce toxins moving through storm drains.

- Criteria for choosing a solution could include:
- cost
- time involved to implement it
- number of people required to make it work
- special training
- special equipment
- 7. Present your plan.

Extensions:

Implement other suggestions from the brainstorming session.

Note: In many communities Storm Drain Marking is an activity which students have undertaken. Pictures of a fish are stenciled onto the curb beside the storm drain to remind people that storm drains are connected directly to streams. Pamphlets explaining about storm drains and how to dispose of toxins properly are delivered to residences. This activity is usually sponsored by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans and is written up in the Stream Keepers Guide. Contact the Department of Fisheries and Oceans Community Advisor in your area for more information

• Write a newspaper article informing the public of the problems which result from dumping toxins down storm sewers. A map and diagram of the water system could accompany the article. A team of students might approach the editor of a local newspaper for help in developing and publishing the article.

• Design a brochure. One of the reasons there is a problem with the disposal of household toxic chemicals is that many homes have cupboards and shelves with a number of potentially harmful substances. Often these chemicals are old, out of date, and may even be decomposing their containers.

The class might develop a design for a brochure to be distributed to all parents in the school concerning the hazards of such materials, examples of them, and recommendations for safe disposal. The class could desktop publish the brochure and a group of students might seek support from local printers to produce it. Note: In a number of communities, the local fire departments sponsor special days on which people can bring any sort of unused or old chemicals to the fire halls for disposal. A number of oil companies now have special programs to recover waste oil.

• On a rainy day students might collect run-off water from the school parking lot, a local mall or other large paved area. Use the water to irrigate growing bean seedlings and observe any effects.

Investigate the toxicity of run-off water using the following method:

•. Make a series of dilutions of the run-off water by adding one drop of the runoff to 500 ml of distilled water. Add one drop of the first dilution to a second lot of 500 ml of distilled water.

•. Use the original run-off, the first dilution, and the second dilution, and add 2-3 ml of each to a culture jar containing live yeast cells in a sugar solution. (Add about 1/2 tsp. of dry yeast to a solution of 10-15% sugar.)

•. Cover each yeast culture with a rubber glove stretched over the mouth of the jar. Observe the results over 1-2 days, keeping the yeast culture jars in a warm place. If there are toxins in the run-off water, they may kill the yeast cells or depress their growth. See if the diluted run-off water still has any effect.

Note: This method is known as a Bioassay, in which the growth of one organism is used to measure the effects of toxins, or other materials which might be present in very small quantities. Cultures of other organisms such as bacteria, or even small aquatic animals such as brine shrimp could be used, but yeast cultures are easy to establish and killing a few yeast cells seems to have less serious ethical dimensions than does the destruction of a happy group of brine shrimp, even though these organisms are grown in aquarium shops as food for fish and amphibians.

• Use the above method to investigate the potential toxicity of many household chemicals, even in low concentrations. We daily pour large amounts of soap, cleansing fluids, tea, coffee, cooking oils, cosmetics, and other items down the drain. We also often discard unused or out of date drugs, such as aspirin and other common medicines, down the toilet or in the garbage, where they can enter the groundwater unless the solid waste disposal area is very well maintained.

Assessment Ideas:

Provide the students with the following scenario:

You are the county medical health officer. A family using well water complains of having headaches, rashes, and itching, and sometimes dizzy spells. They think the problem might be coming from their well, but they live away from industry and in a rural area. The farm is on the shore of a large lake.

About 15 km upstream on the lake is a city of about 20,000 people. Your analysis of the well water from the farm shows trace amounts of a common additive used in car gasoline. The family claims that their car, farm machinery, and trucks are not operated near the wellhead and they never discard oil or gas on the farm lands. Where will you look next for possible sources of the contamination in this water? Develop a story to continue the scenario and write it up as if it was a report from you, the Medical Health Officer, to the regional water board.

Ask students to write a report on the chemical toxin potential of his or her home. Begin by having students conduct an inventory of the chemicals found in their homes. Chemicals include medicines, soaps and cleaning products (for people and the home), pesticides, solvents, used oil and gas.

For each chemical the students should decide:

- what would happen if the chemical was dumped down the storm drain
- how the chemical should be disposed of in a safe manner

Students might examine reports of famous chemical toxin spills or problems. For example: Minimata, Japan; Love Canal, USA; Prince William Sound (The Exxon Valdes); Union Carbide, India.

Students can select one famous spill and write a report or give an oral presentation to the class outlining:

- what happened
- why it happened
- what was required to clean up the spill
- who paid for the clean up
- who suffered as a result of the spill
- what was learned as a result of the accident
- what changes were made to laws or procedures

Connections to Curriculum:

Social Studies: mapping, studying rainfall, water movement on the land, lake and river system geography.

Science: developing a definition of toxic chemicals, examining how toxins work in the environment through bioconcentration, developing household chemical safety, examining cause and effect relationships, making inferences, replicating experiments

Language Arts: persuasive writing, desktop publishing

Graphic Arts: desktop publishing and design, map making

Concept 11: There are a number of careers working with water, aquatic habitats, and their management.

There are jobs with private sector and government agencies as well as a variety of careers within forestry related fields.

Background Information

■ A great number of people in many jurisdictions are employed to look after water resources. These jurisdictions overlap somewhat and the structures of their organizations change periodically, so we can only provide a general description of their areas of responsibility.

■ There are jobs with the Federal Government, which oversees the waters of anadromous fish—fish that use both the ocean and inland waters during their life cycle. The federal Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) is concerned with enforcement, enhancement, public involvement, habitat, inspection, and fish culture (hatcheries). The activities of DFO are supported by the Fisheries Act, a federal law.

There are also careers with the Provincial Government, which has interest and jurisdiction on all waters (surface and ground) in British Columbia. The Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks (MOELP) is concerned with enforcement, water management, water rights, water quality, habitat, fisheries, and wildlife. These activities are governed by the Water Act (which is currently undergoing major revisions) and the Wildlife Act. The Ministry of Forests is concerned with the management of the forests and range land in a watershed. There are many careers preserving, protecting, and restoring these ecosystems which are interrelated to all the systems in the watershed.

Regional and Municipal Governments have interests in waters in their areas. The supply of water for drinking and irrigation is of prime concern, as is the treatment of sewage and the handling of storm drain water. There are jobs in many of these areas as well.

■ First Nations governments also have interests and concerns in streams, lakes, and rivers in British Columbia. Land claims, including traditional fishing rights, are currently before the courts to determine how the resources should be allocated and used. People in a variety of roles and jobs are working together to decide these issues.



Activity: Investigating Careers in Water Stewardship

Students can make phone calls to set up interviews with people who have careers in Water Management and Stewardship.

Note: Before students begin to make phone calls, teach them how to use the Blue Pages of the phone book. The Blue Pages are divided into 3 main government sections: Canada, British Columbia, and Municipalities and Regional Districts.

• Check out the availability of people before your students start to make calls. Many agencies have educational or public relations personnel who will come to the classroom as guest speakers. Students should only call people who have agreed to be contacted and at a convenient time.

Make up " Investigation Cards" which list questions that students can ask. Or have students make up their own questions. See sample Investigation Cards below.

Have students role play phone calls with partners before they actually make calls to government agencies. Help the students learn to be polite and wellprepared with questions.

• Wherever possible, have student callers ask the person being interviewed to describe what his or her job entails.

Materials:

phone book telephone permission for students to make long distance calls (use 1-800 numbers, where possible) Investigation Cards

Procedure:

1. Look through the blue pages of the phone book and decide who you would like to call.

2. Develop a list of questions to ask the people you phone. Or use questions that your teacher gives you. See sample investigation cards and questions which follow.

3. Make your call and ask your questions. If the person is willing, ask for a description of his or her job. Remember to thank the person at the end of the call.

4. Keep notes of who you call, their phone number and what they said.

Sample Investigation Cards

Make up some of these cards ahead of time and have your students use them when making phone calls. Present different challenges on each card.

Investigation Card

You are the investigator and it is your challenge to:

Find out who has water licences on a particular creek.

Investigator (your name)	
Name of agency to phone	
Agency telephone number	
Contact person's name	
Their telephone number	
Is this person willing to come to class as a guest speaker?	
Yes No	
What date and time would be convenient? Date Time	

(Write your notes on the back of this card.)

* Develop challenging questions on other cards. For example: **Find out what to do if you see someone throwing rocks at spawning fish.** Have students develop their own challenges or use some of the sample questions from below.

Sample Questions

Try to develop investigative ideas using real questions and concerns of your students. Or use some of these sample questions:

Where does the water in our community come from? How is the water treated before it enters the system?

How is the water treated after it has been used? Where does it go?

What is the quality of water in a specific stream? Who has jurisdiction on the stream?

From whom do we need permission to start a storm drain marking project?

Where should toxic waste be disposed?

Are trout in a stream all right to eat?

We would like to plant trees on the side of a stream. From whom do we need to get permission?

We would like to investigate the aquatic life in the stream, what are the best times of year to do that?

We would like to do a clean up of a stream. When is the best time to do that? Where can we put the litter and from whom do we need permission?

When can we fish in the local stream? What is the limit of fish we can catch? Do we need a fishing license?

How many registered water licences are there on the creek and what volumes of water do they allow the licence holders to take?

How many salmon spawn in a creek?

We want to build a spawning channel. Whom do we need to contact for permission?

We want to raise salmon in the classroom. Whom should we contact?

Our creek is drying up and we would like to save some of the fish by moving them. From whom do we need permission?

Where can we get a map of the creek showing the land owners along it?

How much water flows down this creek in a year?

We are concerned about flooding around our creek. Whom do we call?

We are concerned that logging is occurring too close to the creek. Whom do we call?

We are concerned that cattle are watering and defecating in our creek, and breaking down the banks. Whom do we call?

What are the First Nations claims on this creek?

What is the traditional native and present native food fishery on the creek?

Extensions

Take a field trip to a government agency and have students try to find answers to certain questions. Of course, you will want to alert the agency ahead of time.

■ Get information on the "Scientists and Innovators in the Schools Programme." Arrange for a guest scientist to come and speak to the class. Phone 604-687-8414

- Arrange for a day of "job shadowing" in which students are paired with people who work in water-related jobs. Students can prepare questions about the job ahead of time. Possible questions include:
 - What do you do in a typical day?
 - What do you like and dislike about your job?
 - What kind of training did you need?
 - What new things are you learning now?
 - Do you have any other career goals?

Assessment Ideas

• Make a presentation to the rest of the class showing what happened during the job shadow or interview. This could be in the form of a skit or role-play.

• Make a large class chart showing the structure and functions of all the agencies concerned with water use and management.

• Write a journal entry describing a "Day in the Life" for your chosen profession in a water related field.

Connections to Curriculum

Language Arts: speaking, listening, note taking, report writing

Practical Arts: investigative training and work requirements

Social Studies: taking personal histories, investigating the roles of government agencies, researching careers and work

Fine Arts: role playing

Concept 12: Different human cultures have different values about water and different patterns of use.

The concept of water stewardship should be examined from the perspectives of differing cultures and value systems.

Background Information

■ Canadians are the second highest per capita water consumers in the world. For domestic (household) use in Canada we use an average of 340 litres of water per day. USA uses 425 litres per day, United Kingdom, 200 litres per day, Sweden, 200 litres per day, France, 150 litres per day, and Israel, 135 litres per day. (Environment Canada - Fresh Water Series - Water Works)

■ In Canadian homes 45% of daily water use is for flushing the toilet, 30% for baths and showers, 20 % for laundry, and 5% for cooking/drinking.

- Such high use of water is the result of a number of factors:
 - Water is regarded as abundant, therefore little has been done to encourage conservation (although this is beginning to change).

- Over one-third of Canadians pay a flat fee for their water, no matter how much they use.

- Over one-third of Canadians pay less per litre when their consumption actually rises.

In countries where water is in shorter supply, or where larger populations are competing for limited water resources, consumption is much less.

The public is beginning to become aware of the issue of water consumption. Increases in populations and shortages of precipitation in certain regions have raised the profile of this issue.

■ In addition, proposals to sell Canadian water resources to the United States have created a great deal of controversy. Certain proposals even plan to divert waterways to feed USA markets. Clearly, the issue of how our water resources are used is becoming one of the more prominent issues of our times.

■ Different cultures have different religious ceremonies involving water – for example, the practice of bathing in the Ganges River or Christian baptism.



■ Different cultures have different norms for bathing and showering activity. North Americans often bathe or shower once a day. Other cultures where water is scarce may bathe once or twice a year.

Activity: How Much Water Do I Use?

This activity is intended to make students more aware of how much water they actually consume in day-to-day living, and to compare this to the consumption in other countries.

Begin by having students discuss and determine how to estimate the amount of water they use in a day. Make up a chart which shows the average amount of water used to flush the toilet, brush teeth, take a bath or shower, cook dinner, wash dishes and clothes, take a drink, and so on.

Materials:

graph paper record sheets

Procedures:

1. Keep track of how much water you use in a week and what you use it for.

2. At the end of the week, calculate how much water you've used. Divide this amount by the number of days you used the water. This figure tells you how much water you use a day.

3. Compare the amount of water you used per day, with the amounts people in other countries use per day. Use water statistics to find your information. See examples of water statistics which follow.

4. Make a graph to show the rates of water consumption in different countries.

5. Discuss why differences in water consumption might exist among countries.

Water Statistics

These statistics show the amount of water used per capita in different countries.

Country	Litres of Water Used
USA	425 litres
Canada	340 litres
Sweden	200 litres
UK	200 litres
France	150 litres
Israel	135 litres

Note: These figures are created by dividing total daily household water used by the population of the country to produce the per person result. These figures do not include water used for industry, mining, and agriculture.

Extensions:

Some activities to further develop the concept are:

Find out which human activities use the most water. Industry and agriculture may use a much larger percentage of water than the average household. Compare the percentage of water which is used for various activities (home use, industry, agriculture, and so on) in Canada. Find out how these percentages compare to water used in other countries.

• Locate a penpal in a foreign country. (This may be a "keypal" if you have access to the Internet through a computer and modem). Ask your pen pal to complete the same water use survey you did in your class. Find out how much water your penpal uses in a typical day. Think about the lifestyle of your penpal. Can you explain why she or he might use a different amount of water than you do?

• Write a story in which a town runs very short of water. Only a few members of the community have access to active wells. What happens in the town?

Develop a model of a landscaped yard, built to the scale of the average city lot in your area, and come up with some ideas about using native plants which do not require extra irrigation.

Investigate different sorts of agricultural irrigation methods used in your area and present a report to the class on which ones use the most and least water.

Compare the prices of these products in a one litre size:

- tap water
- soda pop
- bottled mineral or spring water
- milk

Find out which is most expensive. Which is least expensive? Do you think price makes a difference to how people use a product? What do you think would happen if tap water cost more?

Interview elders or spokespeople from the local First Nations community. Find out their ideas and concerns about water, aquatic life, and water habitats. Possible questions include: What role does water play in the life of your community? What role did it play in the past? Is anything different now? Do you have any water legends, stories, or ceremonies you can tell me about?

Take a survey of water rituals from a variety of religions and traditions within your community or from around the world. Baptism with water is an important



Christian ceremony, for example. Create a display showing what you find out about the ceremonial importance of water.

- Explore the aesthetics of water. Water is often the subject of poems, songs, paintings, stories, films and so on. Ask students to find out how water is used as a subject in a variety of contexts. Possible contexts include:
- songs and music
- tales and legends
- poetry
- graphic arts
- movies and films
- advertising

Encourage students to explore cross-cultural art forms, too.

Assessment Ideas:

Design a plan of action to reduce the amount of water you consume in your home. Try out your plan and record your daily water use once again. Afterwards, compare the results to see if your plan helped you use less water. Write a report on what you found out. Make a graph to illustrate your findings.

• Use water as the subject of creative art or music projects. Set up a class display or presentation of student work.

Design a presentation or write an essay to show how water is an important subject in the arts or religions of many cultures.

Connections to Curriculum:

Math: graphing, performing number operations, calculating averages, comparing unit costs

Language Arts: letter writing, creative writing.

Social Studies: creative problem solving, investigating lifestyles of other cultures and countries, researching patterns of resource use

Practical Arts: exploring landscape design, model building, investigating agricultural practices

Fine Arts: painting, sketching, drawing, musical composition
Chapter Six

CLASSROOMS IN ACTION— CASE STUDIES IN STEWARDSHIP

"When as today, signals from the Real World clash with the expectations of the world view constructed by our particular culture, then the time is right for a new look, a change to better glasses, keener insight, improved theories about where we are, who we are, and what we should be doing." Stan Rowe

signt, where hat We believe that Water Stewardship will be fostered in programs where concerns for water, aquatic life, and aquatic habitats are part of the total culture of the school. School interest, we hope, will lead to greater community involvement in Water Stewardship.

A number of teachers took part in the developmental and pilot phases of Water Stewardship. We asked them to write about their experiences.

Groups of two or three teachers worked together to combine their descriptions of classroom activities and projects that took place over a year. These composite descriptions are intended to spark ideas for you and show you how Water Stewardship can provide a meaningful theme for curriculum integration.

The case studies are not intended as prescriptions or models to follow. It is our hope (and experience) that teachers will pick and choose elements that fit their classes, their situations, and their teaching styles. We have included sample webs at the end of this chapter to graphically illustrate how a study of water may be planned.

Green Valley Elementary School

About Our School

We are primary teachers at Green Valley Elementary School. Our school has about four hundred students in an urban area of sixty thousand people.

Three of us decided to plan together and chose water as our first theme. We thought this theme would last for two months, but once we got started we decided to use it for the entire year.

Our classes have twenty-five students each, ranging from six to nine years old. They include one child with Cerebral Palsy, one Down's Syndrome child and one Autistic child. We have three Special Needs Assistants.

Fall: A Fishy Theme

 \mathbf{T} here is a marshy area in one corner of our school grounds which drains into a large creek two blocks from the school. The creek supports spawning Kokanee and a wide variety of other aquatic life. Because the fall is spawning time for Kokanee, we started our theme with the study of this fish.

We found that the B.C. Primary Program goals were well served by the Kokanee theme. We used a learning centres approach in the afternoons and felt that this approach really fostered the Emotional and Social Development goals of the program. Students worked toward being more self-directed within the structure of the centres and they worked on sharing and co-operating.

The Kokanee theme was also useful in developing attitudes of Social Responsibility and caring for the environment. We also found many opportunities for Aesthetic and Artistic expression through the centres approach. For Intellectual Development, while continuing to work on basic reading, writing, and arithmetic skills, we wanted the children to learn the life cycle of the Kokanee, the names of the parts of a fish, the importance of fishing regulations in protecting fish, human impacts on fish habitat, and how important fresh, cool, clean water is for them.

We planned co-operatively with our teacher/librarian and found all the children's literature we could on fish, water, and aquatic life. We went on field studies to the spawning channel with a Park Interpreter and went for several walks over to the creek. We also took part in a storm drain marking project near the school. All these activities kept us busy until late November when snow and Christmas concerts took over our attention.

Winter: Finding Out How Humans Use Water

When we got back after the Christmas vacation, we began to look at human uses of water and the water cycle. We started by asking the students to make drawings showing where their water comes from and where it goes.

We discovered some large gaps in their knowledge, so we arranged field trips to the water purification plant and the sewage disposal plant. We had a representative from the engineering department as a guest speaker, to explain where the pipes underground come from and where they go. The school's custodian took us on a tour of the boiler room and showed us how water comes into the school and how it is distributed.

We made a large mural depicting all the pipes and all the users of water in the school area. We kept track of water use at home and estimated how much water was used at school each day. This kept us busy until the Easter Bunny arrived.

Early Spring: Food Chains in a Watery World

As spring emerged, we directed our attention to the marshy area in the corner of our school playground. The children discovered "water zoos" through the wonder of the microscope. They also learned about food chains and food webs and made another huge mural including all the plants and animals in the marsh and drew in their connections.

We revisited the spawning stream one rainy spring day and watched the gravy-like water from the storm drain join the main stream. We worried about the little alevins under the gravel trying to breathe. The students did some interesting writing in their journals that day!

Late Spring: Water Safety

Because we were concerned that we had enticed the children to be around the creek during high water, we decided to do a water safety unit. This tied in beautifully with the swim program that the students participate in every May and June.



By now, Sports Day and final report cards were upon us. We culminated our year with, what else? A picnic at the beach! This ended what we considered to be a very meaningful year tied together by a powerful unifying theme. We are full of ideas for expanding and improving the theme next year!

Elementary School, Interior B.C.

About Our School

Our elementary school is located on the edge of a small community in the Interior of British Columbia. The school is located near the service core of the town, with farmland on the north and west sides.

The school's population is 80% European in ancestry and 20% First Nations. Three teachers chose to involve their classes in a collaborative water study project for the duration of the year. Their students were in Grades 4, 4/ 5, and 6/7.

Our Study of Bolean Creek

Bolean Creek, the focus of our study, is situated within walking distance of the school, where it flows from a small lake to a larger lake. It provides our community with water and supports fish life. The area closest to the school passes through an area of mixed land use (agriculture, urban, and rural).

We decided to address the issue of Water Stewardship through a stream clean-up project. The stream has a small tributary within walking distance of the school, which is dry from August to March. This provided us with an opportunity to explore and analyze a dry streambed. Further down the creek, we have an area where the streambed has been enhanced for spawning. Here we could analyze stream habitat, and compare natural and human-altered habitats.

Using Key Concepts

We decided to look at the creek through two key concepts—Concept 9: Aquatic habitats are essential for life, and Concept 5: Streams, lakes and rivers are part of a larger system known as a Watershed. We wanted to weave a theme of responsible Stream Stewardship throughout our teaching.

We felt that the students needed some basic knowledge before they could develop a sense of responsibility.

Grade Four Students

 ${f T}$ o introduce the Grade Four students to the idea of a streambed, we visited the dry streambed in September and October.

Our plan for the year was to have the students: learn about streambeds, do a comparative study between a natural stream and a human-altered stream, and to study the properties of water.

Our time line was as follows:

September: an in-class study of streambed characteristics

October: a dry streambed field trip to explore and analyze the recently taught characteristics

November: field studies to conduct habitat surveys in a flowing stream and to compare differences between a human-altered and natural stream habitat.

February - April: in-class science experiments to explore the properties of water.

May: field studies to follow up habitat surveys on a flowing stream. Also, to compare changes in habitat from fall to spring.

To facilitate the field studies of the flowing stream, we enlisted the support of some high school students. They were trained to conduct all of the different stream survey tests, so that they could show the younger students how to conduct the tests.

Bussing was required to carry all the students to the area where we wanted to run the tests. To facilitate the trips, teachers developed data collecting forms for each child.

Notes for next time: We will make more time available for the high school students by incorporating the lunch hour into the field trip. We will also train each high school student to be responsible for only one type of test at the habitat survey site.

Grades 4/5 and 6/7

 ${f V}$ arious projects were carried out for the grade 4/5 and 6/7 classes.

Stream clean-up

The first project was to organize a school wide half-day outing to clean up the creek. The outing grew to be larger than the core classes, because other teachers became interested in the concept of combining stewardship with a



science project.

The positive outcomes of the clean-up were as follows:

- buddy classes were on a "hands-on" environmental outing together
- students became aware of the garbage that had accumulated in the creek
- students voiced awareness of their ownership of and responsibility toward Bolean Creek

The negative outcomes were as follows:

- not all students became involved with direct clean-up
- not enough of the creek was cleaned up
- further permission is required from landowners to go farther up the stream closer to the lake
- safety precautions had to be stringently enforced because the banks of the stream were too steep to allow students close access to the water

We felt that future stream clean-up projects should:

- take place earlier in the year
- only take core classes to keep the group size manageable
- have greater classroom follow-up after the trip

Note: be sure to leave large, woody debris in the stream to provide habitat.

Marking storm drains

In conjunction with the stream clean-up, another Grade 6/7 class chose to do storm drain markings to make the public and themselves aware of the delicate nature of the stream and how it can be damaged by pollutants. This tied in well with the Stewardship Program.

Classroom water studies

After the stream clean-up, water studies became centred in the classroom. The cleanup teacher and two other Intermediate teachers collaboratively



planned a station study based on key concepts related to water and stewardship.

Each teacher chose three concepts and developed an activity package for each station. Print materials, audio-visual materials, and guest speakers provided data for each of the stations.

The stations were organized as follows: The Water Cycle, Watersheds, Pollution (Concept 10), Okanagan Wildlife, Okanagan Plants (Concept 9), Irrigation (Concept 7), Vernon's Water and Sewage Systems (Concepts 7, 8 and 10), Conservation (Concept 9, Concept 8).

On the positive side, we noticed that:

students became more aware of the complexities of water studies

• different learning styles were accommodated because of the variety of materials used

students completed a booklet which was used to evaluate their learning

students were involved in discussions of the various concepts

On the negative side, we noticed:

- some stations could not be completed in the allotted time
- the quality of the completed booklets was not as high as desired
- some concepts were not fully developed

The key concepts that we feel need to be more fully developed are: Watersheds, Habitats and Human Usage (domestic, agricultural and waste water).

Water experiments

Within the core classes, three specific experiments were done with water in the form of ice. This was done to ensure that the students were becoming more familiar with the properties of water (Concept 3).

Catherine Schubert Elementary School

About Our School

Bonny Jones, Georgina McGillicuddy and Pete Orwell (real teachers—assumed names) all teach grade six and seven classes at Catherine Schubert Elementary School. The school is located at the edge of a small town surrounded by mixed farmland and some wooded areas. Cyclone Creek runs through the town and is within easy walking distance of the school.

About The Teachers

Georgina has an extensive background in science education. She is known in the district as "Einstein's Coiffeur" for her extensive scientific knowledge and ability to design elegant curriculum materials. Bonny and Pete describe themselves as "scientific illiterates who would think a Petri Dish is something you order in an Italian restaurant." The areas in which they feel most confident teaching include Language Arts and Social Studies. They have little background or confidence in teaching Science.

Team Teaching a Year Long Theme

 \mathbf{P} rior to the school year, the three teachers decided to team teach a year-long theme on water. More specifically, they decided the theme would focus upon the following concepts:

- Streams, lakes, and rivers, as well as other water bodies are part of a larger system known as the Watershed (Concept 5).
- All water is part of the hydrological cycle or water cycle. (Concept 4).

The study of these concepts was built around a series of field studies, making use of local resources and field sites. Each field study involved:

1. Pre-trip Preparation

Prior to each trip into the field, students worked through a number of activities to prepare them for the trip. These activities introduced students to the concepts involved in the field study. They also learned a series of data gathering methods needed for the field study.

2. The Field Study

During the trip, students had an extensive series of water tests and data gathering tasks to complete. They recorded their data in field study booklets.

3. Post-trip Follow-up

Following the trip, students used their data to complete a number of activities related to the key concepts. The data from the field study wre also used for related activities in Mathematics, Language Arts, Social Studies, Fine Arts, and other subject areas. Students were also required to report to their parents on the activities during the field study and to explain the concepts covered.

Fall: Blueberry River Field Study

Our first field study was to Blueberry River in early fall. This river was chosen because it gave students a chance to study a watershed from the headwaters to the delta. Also, we could travel to and from the river in one day.

Before the field study, students were introduced to the concept of Watersheds. They used models and studied satellite photos and diagrams of watershed areas. They also visited Cyclone Creek where they practiced gathering the field data. They learned how to estimate the width and depth of the creek, draw valley and channel profiles and measure the temperature of the water and speed of the current.

On the day of the field study, the classes made three stops. The first stop was at the headwaters of the Blueberry River, where students drew a river profile. The second stop was midway down river, where a second set of data were collected. The final stop was at the delta of the river where the Blueberry River drains into another major river.

At each stop, a resource person from Parks Canada accompanied the group and reinforced concepts covered in class, by making a brief presentation and answering questions.

After the field study, students completed a final, finished copy of the field study booklet which they shared with their parents. Students completed a number of activities in Art, Mathematics, and Language Arts, using the data gathered during the field study.

Winter: Studying the Snow Pack

In December, the teachers developed a field study focusing on the concept of water's changing states of matter. Students carried out a series of snow pack studies in the school yard, to see how snow changes over time.

Prior to the field study, students were thoroughly prepared in the procedures of data gathering required for the snow pack study. The class was divided into groups and each group was sent out into the school yard on three occasions during December and January to dig a snow pit and gather data.

Data included: the depth of the snow, thickness of each layer found in the snow pack, temperature of each layer, type of crystals and hardness of snow. In addition, samples of snow from each layer were collected and weighed back in the classroom to determine the density of the snow in particular layers. After the field study, students were expected to produce a finished copy of the field data. The data gathered were examined to see the various processes at work in the changing snow pack. This used a number of activities in Mathematics. In addition, a resource person was brought in to discuss the importance of snow pack changes and their relationship to avalanches.

Spring: Back to Blueberry River

In April, the three classes went on their final field study—back to the headwaters of the Blueberry River. The area was still deep in snow and allowed us to combine the earlier watershed study with the snow pack study. The area allowed students to gather new data, compare it with their fall data, and use information they had gained in their snow pack studies.

Students understood the expectations for the trip by reviewing the data sheets to be used in the field. On the day of the trip, the classes completed river profiles and snow pack studies. Once again, a resource person was on hand to answer questions.

Back in the classroom, the students used their data to review and reinforce the water concepts covered during the year.

End of the Year Conclusions

 \mathbf{T} he three teachers considered many aspects of their experience to be successful. Pete and Bonny, by working with Georgina and drawing upon her expertise, gained a great deal of confidence in their abilities to teach a field based science unit.

They felt the key to their success was their extensive preparation of students before going on the trip. Also, by treating the trips as field studies and making students responsible for gathering specific data, the pitfalls of behaviour problems and lack of academic relevance, were greatly reduced or entirely eliminated.

The extensive follow-up activities, where field data were used for analysis, also enabled the teachers to integrate the water theme into numerous subject areas and to solidify the concepts being taught.

Recommendations for Another Year

Implementation of the water theme was not without its difficulties. Problems often arose when students were assigned to work in groups in the collection of data. Often, one or two members of the group would gather the data while the other members stood around and watched.

Students need more guidance—there should be an assigned role for each member of a group. Every student in a group should be required to complete a number of specific tasks.

A number of refinements could be made to the various data gathering sheets. The logistics of gathering some data (the snow sample collection, for

example) should be refined to help the students gather more reliable data.

Overall, the year long theme on water at Catherine Schubert Elementary was very successful. As the year drew to a close, the three teachers began planning next year's activities to extend the theme of Water Stewardship, realizing that in one year, they had just broken the surface of the topic!

Sockeye Elementary School

About Our School

Sockeye Elementary School is located in the centre of a large urban area, with the closest creek or river located far enough away that students require bussing to do a field study.

About the Teacher

 \mathbf{R} eg McLean teaches a grade six class at Sockeye Elementary School in downtown Quagmire City. Reg wanted to focus on the changing nature of watersheds and link this to some mapping and geography he had taught earlier in the year.

A Watershed in the Classroom

Unable to take his class out into the reaches of the watershed, Reg decided to bring the watershed into his classroom. His plan was to build a wooden box (4' x 8' x 3.5") which would simulate the changes which take place in a watershed.

The first challenge was to find the space for such a large structure within the classroom. He stopped using his desk and moved it out of the way. After diplomatically gaining the support of the school's custodial staff, Reg began to build the box.

The watershed model consisted of a 4' x 8' sheet of plywood with a ledge of 2 x 4's running around the perimeter. A series of drain holes were drilled at one end with a piece of gutter placed underneath, and the corners of the box were sealed with silicone. The box was propped on a number of saw horses and partially supported by what once was the teacher's desk. The upper end of the box was 20 cm higher than the lower end. The box was half-filled with sand and buckets of gravel and coarser rock were added.



Using the Watershed Model

Reg gathered his students around the box and slowly poured running water from the top end of the box. The students examined the landforms created by the water through the eroded sand.

Reg introduced his students to a variety of landform types by using models, maps, and satellite or aerial photographs. The class was divided into groups and each group was asked to create a simulated watershed in the box. Each group was asked to incorporate different variables, including:

- slope of the box
- quantity and speed of water poured from the top

- use of different materials in the box (sand, gravel, various sizes of rocks, snow, ice, vegetation).

A Student Example

Enid's group raised the box up to 30 cm at the one end, mixed large rocks and gravel into the sand and poured water from the top.

The rest of the class gathered around to observe the water being poured into the box. They were asked to watch for changes to landforms as the simulated erosion process took place.

Following the simulation, the class discussed what happened and recorded their observations in a record book. Through this example, the students were able to see how large rocks and patches of gravel affected patterns of erosion and the development of landforms within the watershed.

Assessing Student Learning

Following all student demonstrations, the class was shown slides of landforms. Using their knowledge of landforms, erosion, and their observations from the various simulations, students were asked to identify the landforms and speculate which processes were at work in the watershed.

Groups of students were challenged to build a simulated watershed in the box. The rest of the class predicted what landforms would develop through erosion within each simulated watershed. Their predictions were tested and evaluated for accuracy.

Reg felt that the most important aspect of this study was the "hands-on" involvement of the students. By manipulating the materials and playing around with the simulations, Reg found that the students developed a thorough understanding of the watershed concepts. They were able to see how watersheds are in a constant state of change, and were also able to see the processes causing the development of a variety of landforms.

Positive Notes

The choice of focusing upon one key concept—watersheds change, suited

Reg's year long curriculum plans. The class was able to delve deeply into this one aspect of water rather than attempting to cover a large amount of content in a more superficial manner.

This in-depth study also enabled Reg to link the students' work in science to some elements of the social studies curriculum. Generally, the three week unit was a success, because it effectively met the class' curricular goals in a process that was highly motivating to the students. In fact, the unit was so successful that Reg is contemplating marketing copies of his watershed simulation box through mail order sales.

Future Watershed Studies

In the future, Reg hopes to give students more time to explore the variables using this watershed simulation table. He can also see giving students further challenges which face engineers and planners, such as how to protect a roadway or human settlement from flooding or erosion. Reg would also like to find an alternate site for the table, because going three weeks without his desk proved difficult at times.

Parkway Elementary Student Planned Earth Day Celebration

About Our School

Parkway School has been "green" since 1989 when the staff first adopted an environmental theme for the year. We have not looked back since and the environment has remained the main focus in the school.

About Our Teachers

One of the main concerns for staff was to involve the students in as many ways as possible, so an Environment Committee was set up. The committee consisted of 12 students and a teacher co-ordinator. These student representatives are elected each year by their peers and they are integral in developing programs for the student body.

School Projects

 \mathbf{S} ince 1989, many projects have been undertaken, many of which are continuing today. For example: Parkway was the first school in Penticton to

recycle paper and to compost their organic waste. For every tonne of paper recycled, we have planted a tree on the school property. To date, we have planted eight trees and a number of shrubs.

As well, the students worked to make a large "Parkway Cares" sign that hangs in the gymnasium, a "Welcome to Parkway" sign in the front hall, and a forty foot mural depicting environmental awareness which decorates the intermediate wing of the school.

Another major school project was the acquisition of a two acre parcel of land housing one of the last oxbows in the region as an Environmental Study Area. (An oxbow is like a horse shoe shaped pond with an island in the middle). Many of the classes have used this "outdoor class" to study water stewardship, beaver, turtles, air quality, and bats.

Other projects have included: making calendars depicting endangered species; making "Parkway Cares" reusable lunch bags (which were sold in order to buy plants for our front entrance; setting up vermacompost bins; raising salmonids in the classroom; planting trees at the school district maintenance yard; and taking part in outdoor education programs at Silver Lake Forestry Camp.

Planning an Earth Day Celebration

As part of our school year, we have always had an Earth Day Celebration on April 22 to celebrate the students' hard work. Students were involved in a day-long conference celebrating four years of environmental awareness at Parkway. Students were involved in all aspects of organization including: inviting presenters from across B.C. to share their expertise; scheduling and publicizing the conference; making name tags for each student; fund raising; ordering nutritional snacks, chair, sound systems, and stages; sponsoring a contest for our Earth Day logo; silk-screening 320 t-shirts for students and staff to wear on Earth Day; and inviting special guests to attend the daylong conference.

Earth Day

Earth Day began with a student-led assembly and a keynote address. Students signed up for sessions throughout the day on topics such as: endangered animals, reforestation, water control, second hand smoke, Water Stewardship, bats, bears, forest fires, edible plants, UV rays, insects, snakes, birds of prey, recycling, and being an environmentally responsible citizen.

Nutritional breaks included muffins, apples, and fruit leather donated by local businesses. Lunch time featured a garbageless lunch and students had an opportunity to view a number of displays created by classes in the school. The day ended with a singsong led by the school's music teacher and a short closing address by the student committee.

Future Plans

The environment has been a number one priority at Parkway School for four years and we are not going to stop there. Already plans are in the making for a number of activities for next year, including having our oxbow designated as a community park and protected habitat, greater student involvement at the oxbow, and the creation of a large outdoor mural to grace the walls of the school. With student input and teacher guidance we plan to continue to show the community that "Parkway Cares!"

Secondary School, Okanagan, B.C.

About the School

Our school has 1200 students and is located on the edge of a city park. The park has a creek running through it. After much political debate, it was decided that our old school would be closed and a new "state of the art" school would be built about three miles downstream on the same creek.

The Career Preparation Environmental Studies Class was given permission to be stewards of the thirty acres between the schools. This includes the land which borders the creek.

About the Teacher

Mike Hutchinson teaches Biology 11, Biology 12, and a Career Preparation course focusing on environmental studies. Mike's class meets every Wednesday evening and is required to do one hundred hours of meaningful environmental work for course credit.

Fall: Student Activities

In early fall, the students took part in a variety of activities including cleaning up the litter from the creek bank and bed. The students were disgusted by what they found—everything from old bicycles, shopping carts, condoms, old type writers, to bottles and cans. They witnessed an oily slick emanating from one of the many storm drains and struggled with a debate on what to do about it.

Later in the fall, students observed and studied the 200 or so Kokanee salmon struggling to spawn in the creek. A Fisheries Biologist came to the class as a guest speaker to explain the efforts he had made to bring the stream back to life. The local Conservation Officer was invited to the class and gave a presentation outlining her job and the problems she encounters.

The trapper who has a contract to live-trap beavers on the creek came in and gave a presentation. Two of the students decided to investigate the water quality of the creek as part of a Science Fair Project. They monitored the chemistry of the water and the macro- invertebrate life in the creek.

Students took a Survival First Aid Course and a Fast Water Rescue course. They also participated in the Chinook "egg take" with a community club working on the Shuswap River. The students were introduced to video techniques and taught how to use editing equipment. Many of their activities have been recorded.

The students made a presentation to an Environment Day involving elementary children. Some young people from the Environmental Youth Alliance (EYA) made a presentation to the group and two of the students attended a conference sponsored by EYA.

A professional forester, a pesticide expert, and a Habitat Technician from the Ministry of Environment Lands and Parks made presentations to the class. The follow-up to these presentations focused on making sure the students looked at all sides of environmental issues before deciding on the "right answer."

A research scientist from the Forestry Center came in a showed the students how to propagate cuttings. He also explained the importance of vegetation in the riparian zone. The students took some willow cuttings for planting in the spring.

Spring: Student Activities

 \mathbf{T} he class' spring activities involved getting the approvals and advice to develop slow impact walk ways and study areas in the wet lands at the new school.

The procedure for getting approvals and advice involved getting together all the government agencies with jurisdiction in the area, and all the clubs with interests in the area for a Collaborative Planning Meeting. (see the case study on Collaborative Planning for more detail). This proved to be a very important step. It allowed everyone to be informed about what was going on and allowed the development of common goals for the creek.

After the Collaborative Planning session, approvals were achieved quite easily and professional advice was received. Pathways were planned and staked. Donations of lumber were sought and the work began!

It was hoped that by involving the students in the planning and development of an aesthetically pleasing area for the observation of nature, the students would treat the area with respect.

Positive Notes

The Wednesday night format of this class, combined with meaningful and well planned action projects on the weekends worked very well. On Wednesday evenings guest speakers were fairly easy to schedule. Government and community experts were very accommodating and interested in helping. On weekends, the students were focused and relaxed.

Future Plans

 \mathbf{F} uture plans include: further monitoring of the stream, completing the paths and study areas, planting indigenous trees and shrubs in the riparian zone, and improving some of the gravel for Kokanee spawning.

Collaborative Planning—A Case Study

Collaborative Planning Meeting

Collaborative Planning is a key element for stewardship action projects. It entails involving all the government agencies, clubs, and citizen groups who have interest in an issue or area. When the process goes well, the results can be very beneficial for the environment and make things more pleasant for the participants. The following are the Minutes of an actual collaborative planning meeting. The meeting went well and consequently the project went smoothly. The Minutes may provide an example of how to plan and operate a collaborative approach to a stream stewardship project.

Background Information

Vernon Creek flows 10.5 km from Kalamalka Lake through the city of Vernon and into Okanagan Lake. Historically, it was an important spawning and rearing habitat for Rainbow Trout and Kokanee, as well as habitat for a wide variety of aquatic and riparian life. The creek begins as beautifully clear, cool water as it leaves Kalamalka Lake and gradually deteriorates as it wends its way toward Okanagan Lake.

Until the early seventies, Vernon Creek served as the outflow of Vernon's sanitary and storm drain sewage system. In the early seventies, a future-thinking City Engineer, Dave McKay, designed a plan to develop a spray irrigation system for the City. It was hoped that this would solve most of the problems but the creek has not regained its productivity.

Storm drains enter directly into the creek from the City and with them, loadings of silt and contaminants. Large fluctuations of flow also result during storms and droughts. Channelization and resultant increased velocity is a problem where the stream has been straightened to accommodate development. In its lower reaches, the creek is denuded of vegetation by the grazing of horses and cattle. The banks here are continually being eroded and the water becomes warm and turbid.

Several studies have been done on the creek and rehabilitative measures suggested. One of the suggestions was to form a Vernon Creek Committee to carry out projects to restore the creek. This was done and although the committee worked very hard, the base of the committee was too small and a few people ended up doing most of the work. In the fall of 1992, it was decided, as part of a Water Stewardship project in the Okanagan, to form a wider based committee to address some of the problems described above.

How to gather a wide base of support is shown here in the following example. A meeting was called and the following people were invited. An agenda was circulated in advance and input was requested.

Participants

- Dr. Michael Carlson, Research Scientist, Kalamalka Forestry Research Center

- Dave Smith, Fisheries Biologist, Penticton, Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks of B.C.

- Brian Robertson, Habitat Technician, Vernon, Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks of B.C.

- Rob Wilson, Design Engineer, City of Vernon, Engineering Department

- Pete Wise, Naturalist, Trapper, Vernon Creek Committee

- Mike French, Biology/Career Prep Teacher, School District 22, Fulton School

- Ben Heenskirk, Student, School District 22, Vernon Senior Secondary School

- Kyle Sturkoff, Student, School District 22, Vernon Senior Secondary School

- Kim Fulton, Project Co-ordinator, Okanagan Water Stewardship Project

- Dennis Demontier, Community Advisor, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Environment Canada.

- Jim Fisher, Director, Kalamalka Fly Fishers

- Neil Brookes, Educational Director, Kingfisher Community Club

A list of other groups who had interests in Vernon Creek was brainstormed at the initial meeting. The list included: Regional District, Naturalist Club, Western Wilderness Committee, Save Our Lakes, Vernon Yacht Club, Tolko, B.C. Hydro, Riverside Forest Products Scouts, Guides, Naturalists Club, Bird Watchers, Vernon Water Committee, Native Groups, Save Our Lakes, Vernon Fish and Game, Historical Society. Many of these groups were contacted after the meeting.

Introductions and Goals

Everyone was introduced, and attendees outlined their interests in Vernon Creek, and described long-range dreams. In summarizing the long-range visions, there was unanimity of purpose to:

- protect the current creek and banks and reclaim Vernon Creek as a natural system
- restore denigrated habitat for fisheries and wild life

 educate the public regarding the value of the creek and its riparian zone

• do a scientific study to determine the current base-line condition of the system

Discussions: Possible Negative Impacts and Problems

 \mathbf{T} here was a frank and open discussion concerning possible road blocks to a successful project. These concerns included:

beavers blocking spawning migration

 safety of workers in regard to drug paraphernalia, glass, rapid fluctuations of flows and deep holes

- animals eating the planted vegetation
- coordination among different participating organizations
- impacts on wild life by encouraging human activity

 getting permission from private land owners and securing longterm tenure for the planting sites

- introduction of non-native plants
- planted vegetation getting too tall
- limited times for creek work by students—times don't match the school year

Means of removing the possible road blocks were discussed and it seemed that the obstacles could be over come.

Criteria for Site Selection

Safety, potential benefit, high public profile, ease of approval, and suitability of soil for growing riparian species were all to be considered.

Parameters for Success

 \mathbf{T} he parameters used in other studies were requested. Ben and Kyle will be doing some standard water quality tests to get a base-line.

Field Observations and Site Selection

• The rip rap (rock covering for stabilization) area downstream from the new bridge at Fulton School, on both sides of the creek, provided an excellent site. It is visible, it would benefit, the soil appeared to be acceptable, and the Department of Highways would probably be eager to accept help.

• Work in the area between the new school and the creek was discussed. There appears to be enormous potential to create a plan which would protect the habitat, educate the students and guard against possible degradation by an influx of students. The students could be involved in the planning and the implementation of the plan, which would help them develop a feeling that they are guardians of the area.

• The area downstream from the crossing at Okanagan Landing Road was examined. It also provided an excellent test site.

• Because of difficult access, the agricultural section further down stream will be revisited for further analysis.

• An area on Coldstream Creek will be examined once Bill Osborne, the manager of Coldstream Ranch, has been consulted.

Various commitments were made and tasks assigned. These included: making inventories of the stream and the riparian zone, obtaining approvals from various government agencies, planning school projects, organizing a creek clean-up, training volunteers in creek work and riparian planting techniques, securing plantings for riparian enhancement, designing scientific studies of the creek, checking covenants and legal access, and developing a public relations program. Everyone who attended the meeting left with a task which he or she understood, had agreed to assume, and with a clear schedule for completion.

Follow-up

A summary of the meeting was sent to each participant, including their commitments and time lines. The project coordinator also followed up with phone calls. The Regional District representative was contacted and taken to the sites. The project coordinator attended a meeting of the Vernon Water Committee and explained to them what had transpired. They were very supportive.

Conclusions

Most long-term, serious stewardship projects require the involvement of a number of different individuals and organizations.

Streams and rivers are subject to regulation by a number of different levels of government and by different regulatory agencies within those levels. Private interests, such as those of landowners whose properties adjoin the stream may also be affected.

A variety of talents are needed in many projects. Different individuals and organizations can bring different experiences and resources to the project. Thus, one of the major challenges facing effective stewardship is that of creating collaborations and partnerships, sometimes among those whose interests may appear to be in competition, if not in actual conflict.

Effective stewardship requires good communication skills and good organization. It can also require mediation and conflict resolution. The information on student action projects provided in Chapter Seven offers guidance for the development and operation of effective stewardship projects.

There is currently a general interest in enhancing school-community relationships and collaboration. Water stewardship is a natural vehicle or focus for this.

Case Studies – Summing Up

 \mathbf{T} he examples or case studies of classrooms involved in Water Stewardship are as diverse as the teachers and students they describe. There are, however, a few common themes that emerge:

Water Stewardship programs benefit from communication between disciplines.

 \mathbf{T} he theme of stewardship is a natural meeting place for Social Studies, Language Arts, Mathematics, and Science, but the Fine and Practical Arts also have contributions to make.

This means that collaborative, co-operative planning among teachers can be an asset to developing education about Water Stewardship. Teachers can be assisted if they tap the resources of the school librarian, government workers, community members, and parents through a process of collaborative planning.

The teaching of Water Stewardship comes to life through first-hand field experiences.

In many of the classrooms profiled, teachers planned and organized extensive field experiences and took advantage of local streams and rivers as teaching sites. A wet corner of the schoolyard can be a useful site for well planned field work!

The teachers recognized that an effective field experience comes from good prior teaching and preparation of the students, clear tasks in the field, and effective follow-up use of field data upon returning to the school. Even where field work outside the school is difficult, the use of models, labs, and simulations in the class, adds powerfully to the students' understanding.

• Students need to be active participants in the learning process.

Whether students work as individuals or in groups, they need to be challenged, encouraged to engage in the work, and to be stimulated to form questions, develop investigations, solve problems, and communicate their findings.

• The key concepts are useful for planning and organizing learning experiences.

 \mathbf{A} number of teachers used the key concepts as guideposts in this complex topic of Water Stewardship. The key concepts were seen to be good organizing devices, particularly in the class profile where teachers used the concepts to set up learning centres.

People outside the classrooms are important to the success of the various units of study, themes or projects.

Water Stewardship is a logical vehicle for community involvement in schools. Many teachers sought advice, help, or information from a number of people involved in fisheries, parks, government agencics, and so on.

Involving people from outside the schools helps develop environmental citizenship and promotes valuable communication between adults and students.

Examples of Teacher Plans for Water Stewardship

On the following pages, are examples of topic webs and bubble diagrams developed by the teachers who are profiled in the previous case studies.

Diagrams and webs are useful ways for teachers and students to keep track of connections between different subjects and concepts, particularly when planning for team-teaching, or integrated programs.

The diagrams show samples of ways to plan for Primary, Intermediate, and Secondary Level programs.

Remember, when planning for curriculum integration, it is important to apply a few criteria. Simply put, they are:

• Subjects being integrated should not lose their own identity or power.

• Topics for integration should require an integrated approach. In order for the topic to be meaningful, it should demand the perspectives of more than one discipline for a full understanding.

• Connections among subjects should be logical—there are clear requirements for the application of mathematics to scientific data or observations.

See if you think the plans on the following pages meet some or all of the above criteria.

Sample planning web - Primary







Sample planning web -Secondary



Chapter Seven

DEVELOPING SCHOOL ACTION PROGRAMS

"Always act in such a way that the principles underlying your actions could become the principles of humanity." Immanuel Kant



The following material is based on the **Action Handbook**, by William Hammond, Natural Context, 1993. It is reprinted here in an adapted version with permission of the author.

Why do we need Action in Education?



Gince the earliest days in the 1960's, when environmental education was being redefined from its predecessors—nature education, conservation education, and outdoor education—environmental education has been defined to include three critical components:

- a developing awareness of the environment and one's connections to it
- a developing understanding of environmental concepts and knowledge of ecological, scientific, social, political, and economic systems
- a capacity to act responsibly upon what one feels and knows within the processes of the democratic system, in order to implement the best solutions to environmental problems

Many environmental education programs built their philosophical foundations, curriculum frameworks, and program activities upon the premise that awareness leads to knowledge, which in turn creates the potential and capacity for appropriate actions. This premise may be questioned.

It is often evident that people who have considerable knowledge may not be particularly effective as action takers. It is also evident that people can be overwhelmed by the sheer volume of information, sometimes conflicting or contradictory, about a given topic. Many people would like to wait until all the scientific and technical questions have been definitively answered before taking action.

But science is always tentative, it is always in process and there may always be new discoveries and inventions which will profoundly alter today's situation. Nevertheless, we need to act responsibly, recognizing the limits of current knowledge and technology. If we were to wait for total percent certainty, we would likely never act. As has been noted by other environmental writers, a decision not to act is also a decision.

Beginnings of Action in Schools

Many young people appear to have no feeling of connection or sense of personal control over the "system". Instead they feel rejected by the democratic system or feel that it has failed them. However, many very successful instructional programs have been designed and implemented since the early 1960's to engage students in action work, within the context of schooling.

These programs have clearly demonstrated that if students are taught basic "action skills" and are actively involved in trying to solve local, provincial, national, or international problems, they will act within the democratic system as responsible citizens—not only while in school but after graduation.

However, schools are not usually seen as venues for action. Many people continue to see schools as places for learning about things, rather than places for learning how to do things—especially when learning how means taking action on significant or controversial problems.

Issues in Implementing a School Action Project

Implementing an action project within the context of schools is different from implementing one within community organizations, businesses, or special interest groups. Schools have special obligations to the spirit of ethics and fair play, in a world of diverse values and viewpoints. Schools are obligated not to use their privileged positions to propagandize and must not make self-serving advocates of students who are required to attend.

It is critically important that every school board, principal, and teacher makes an uncompromising commitment to provide students with a wide range of viewpoints on any values-based issue. It is important for students to recognize that knowledgeable people may differ widely in how they see a problem and what they see as a solution.

It is up to the student to make an informed choice about what position to take on any issue. If a student does not feel allowed to take a reasoned position which varies from his or her teacher or classmates, we will know that education has been replaced by propaganda or indoctrination.

Role of the Teacher in an Action Project

Introducing action into the curriculum requires a change in the teacher's role. He or she must move from being the primary conveyor of information, to being the facilitator of action-skill development and coach or mentor in student decision-making and implementation of proposed solutions.

A set of goals for developing action in schools may be described in the following way. Teachers must develop programs that:

help students develop the capacity and skills to effectively anticipate the consequences of their actions.

enhance student self-concept by helping students to be independent thinkers and instilling them with confidence for leadership. Leadership comes from acquired knowledge, understanding, skills, and experience which is built upon previous successes.

develop student spirit and skills, and inspire, motivate and prepare students to be full participants, working for positive change within the democratic system.

Why Action Projects are an Important Part of Education

There are other good reasons why action projects play an important role in the basic education of all learners. These reasons are:

1. It has long been an accepted principle of education that one of the most powerful ways to teach something is by modeling the thing to be learned.

2. Constructivist views of teaching and learning point out the importance of students applying information in order to build a personal body of knowledge. If we expect students to truly understand new knowledge, we must provide them with real life situations where they can transfer and apply their knowledge to new situations or circumstances.

3. Critical and creative thinking strategies are enhanced when people are given real, life-wrenching things to think about—things which affect their neighbors and themselves.

4. Students don't always get an opportunity to do something of benefit for others. The power of the altruistic feeling which comes from doing something for someone else is missed. Many students truly enjoy the feelings of accomplishment and satisfaction when they complete a service project for the first time.

5. Many business and education authorities believe that students should have opportunities to develop skills in leadership, conflict resolution, and teamwork or collaboration. Young people need to experience new co-operative, collaborative leadership alternatives as opposed to the highly competitive, win-lose, leaderfollower models with which they are generally provided.

6. The practices that characterize effective schools such as: time management, co-operative learning, a safe and orderly setting and interdisciplinary studies, are enhanced when students have an opportunity to take on a meaningful role in school leadership and service responsibilities.

7. When students develop more community perspective and commitment they feel attached to their communities and enhance their sense of belonging to something larger than themselves. Such attitudes replace the notion of "us versus them".

8. Improved life skills, data collection skills, communication skills, co-operation, time management, and priority setting are critical outgrowths of any student participation in an action program. The best way to learn many skills is in the context of meaningful, real applications of them.

9. Political effectiveness is learned through experience. Action programs provide students with an opportunity to develop skills in the political process and to apply them in a variety of contexts.

10. Students have the opportunity to become peer teachers, as well as learners. They can build relationships with many different people in the school and community as they work on their action goals. Students gain experience and support of mentors who assist them as they strive to attain their goals.

The three important outcomes that are likely to be acquired by every student participating in an effective school-based action program are that students become committed to natural systems, to democracy, and to their community.

Types of Action Projects

*O*ver the past thirty years, experience has affirmed that action work within schools, can be effective with students from preschool through high school and beyond. It is just the level of sophistication and magnitude of the problems addressed that varies with age levels. A successful "Action Project" may be an individual effort or a small or large group endeavor within the context of school programs.

In Canada, many schools have become involved in environmental action. The various projects have included:

- SEEDS (Society, Energy, Education and Development)
- Salmonid Enhancement Program (SEP) of the Department of Fisheries and Oceans of Environment Canada
- Environmental Youth Corps, Local Initiative Projects and Opportunities for Youth
- Ducks Unlimited
- Canadian Wildlife Federation's Habitat 2000 program
- Watershed Restoration Projects
- other joint efforts between schools and community interest groups

In the USA, the Monday Group (environmental seminar classes) of the Lee District Schools in Florida, has possibly the longest running school-based action program in the nation.

The Monday Program has been featured in the Project Wild Teacher's Guide as a model for school-based action projects. It was established by Bill Hammond and Environmental Education teaching staff, some of whom began school-based action work in 1962.

Other approaches to action programs may be found in the effective programs developed at Southern Illinois University by Harold Hungerford and his graduate students. These programs are called Investigating and Evaluating Environmental Issues and Action Skill Development Modules.

Other programs to mention include: Global Rivers Environmental Education Network (GREEN) Program, established by William Stapp and his graduate students at the University of Michigan, and the Audubon Expeditions Program established by Michael Cohen and implemented through the National Audubon Society of the United States.

There are literally hundreds of other documented, successful environmental action programs which have been conducted in schools and developed by classroom teachers throughout North America and the world.

Implementing Action Programs in Classrooms

Key Elements of an Action Program Component in Schools

The action element of a sound educational program requires that a student have mastery of basic skills in reading, writing, math, science, social studies, the arts, ecological systems, and technology applications. In turn, the action element provides a very effective context for the direct application of these academic subjects in the real world.

Action projects bring life to learning, because the ultimate outcomes are unknown as learners take part in the action. The experience becomes a real problem-solving process which allows students to synthesize what has been learned in school and apply it directly to the selected problem or issue.

An action program enhances the development of character skills for students of all ages. Honesty, integrity, work ethic, trust, positive risk-taking, collaborative participation, and empathy for others are a few of the character skills that are emphasized through action work.

Learner-Teacher Guidelines

A critical teacher role in implementing action programs is coaching students to plan their broad visions or goals into a set of key steps, milestones, or critical subgoal accomplishments. In this way, if the time constraints of the school setting or the political process (which always seems to take longer than most of us estimate) delay the attainment of the ultimate goal, students will still have a positive sense of accomplishment, of partial closure, and a feeling that they indeed made a difference and can continue to make a difference if they persist.

There are other important guidelines that have evolved over years of studying successful practices for carrying out action projects or programs in schools. Simply stated they are:

1. Learners should be free to decide upon and select the problem they feel is important to research and address with action. Teachers and other adults may serve as advisors in this process. However, it is important for the students to develop personal ownership of the project. 2. A basic set of "action skills" can be learned and must be taught, practiced, and applied. These include:

- how to identify, research, and investigate the problem or issue
- developing leadership and group organization skills
- developing communication and lobbying skills (letter writing, phone calling, public speaking)
- developing presentation skills
- developing conflict resolution skills
- "force field" analysis—determining support and opposition to the solution and selecting appropriate methods, strategies, and tactics for implementing action
- understanding alternative strategies, learning how to sustain and continue projects

In addition to mastering these individual skills, it is equally important to master collaborative team skills, particularly if a project is a group project. Often, we do not distinguish between individual skills and the equally complex but different set of skills required to be an effective, contributing group member.

3. The Monday Group in the Lee County Schools program has developed a set of guidelines for interactions and communication with those involved in any action project. They are:

Express positions in positive terms.

If you are opposed to something, you must be for something. It is your responsibility to express what you stand for and what your proposed solution is, in positive, concrete terms.

Avoid stereotyping others.

Treat everyone as a person of high moral worth whether they are in support or opposition to your project. Stereotypes : (developer, environmentalist, liberal, conservative, politician, bureaucrat, tree hugger) get in the way of establishing positive relationships and communications, because they lump individuals into categories.

Do your homework—become an expert on your topic.

Read specific articles about your topic, interview experts, do field investigations, and get first hand information where possible. Don't rely on rumours or hearsay. Identify the core problem or issue(s) and formulate your research questions and hypothesis based on the best way to address the problem.

■ Follow the "force field".

Investigate the viewpoints of all people who have a stake in the problem. Keep an open mind to the views of others. Try to consider the impact that proposed actions will have on the lives of the various stakeholders, both in the short and long term. Formulate an action plan selecting the strategies and tactics you believe are most appropriate to the situation.

Avoid scapegoating.

If you fail to attain your goal for any reason, avoid the temptation to blame your lack of success on someone else or on some other set of circumstances. If you failed to attain your desired goal, it may be because you did not do something as well as you needed to. You may have not done your homework, lobbied, or communicated to all the concerned people effectively enough.

■• Recycle your efforts.

If you do not reach your intended goal, recycle your efforts or start the process all over again. You know far more the second or third time through the process than you did the first time. You know key resource people and what worked and didn't work in your initial approach. Do it again! Try again and again until you succeed.

Be persistent—stick with it!

People don't always recognize the potential students have to accomplish community changes, particularly on environmental problems and issues. Long term planning, commitment, and a tenacious approach are most important to the success of significant environmental action projects. The action process tends to be a spiraling pattern of action-research-action-research-action. This is why recycling your efforts is critical to success.

Three Levels of Action

There are typically three types or levels of action work. Succeeding levels require a greater degree of sophistication and skills for successful action.

Level 1: Actions which result in a distinct end-product within a fairly short time period.

This type of project involves generating products or producing results such as: wildlife habitat improvements, marked watershed storm-water drainages, developing informational publications and multimedia programs, planting trees, recycling trash, or building and placing bird or bat boxes in critical locations. Other activities might be: writing letters, making phone calls to decision makers, or buying a piece of tropical rainforest. The goal is to achieve action within a fairly short period of time.

Level 2: Actions which result in ongoing or sustained environmental processes.

This category includes Level 1 type projects, but it goes farther. Level 2 projects involve the development and design of long term, on-going endeavours that continue even after the project designers have moved on to other grade levels, schools or projects.

People involved in Level 2 action projects have to develop strategies to train their successors and to maintain political, institutional, or financial support for the long term.

Level 3: Actions which result in some level of policy change.

A Level 3 project is directed at changing or creating new public policy at the school, school district, city, county, state, or federal level. Students in this type of project need sophisticated skills in lobbying, working with mass media, dealing with governmental processes, and knowing how to work within the democratic system. Projects of this type require the most complex set of skills in order to succeed.

Although the three levels of action require different qualities and sets of skills, one level of action work is no more important than another. Elementary, middle, and high school students have successfully carried out projects at all levels. A typical pattern for a teacher and students is to evolve through the levels as skills are acquired and students mature. However, students and teachers sometimes directly enter a higher level and accomplish a Level 3 project without ever completing a Level 1 or 2 project. In any action project, motivation, commitment, and skill development are the keys to success.

Mentors in Action Programs

Mentor: a wise, loyal advisor; a teacher or coach

Students rarely succeed in their first attempts at action without developing a special supportive relationship with someone outside their group. This specialized form of intervention and teaching or coaching may be defined as mentorship.

A mentor provides support in many ways. He or she may advise, counsel, encourage, suggest, and provide critical information or materials. A mentor gives support at the right time—perhaps by making critical phone calls when the way seems blocked.

A mentor may be a friend, another student, a caring teacher or school staff member, a business person, or an outside government or public agency member. Whoever it is, a mentor can make you feel positive and willing to risk the next step in your action plan.



In the Monday Groups, the team of teachers tries to make sure that every student feels positive affirmation of his or her efforts every day. This affirmation helps students recognize the progress that she or he is making.

When speakers or resource people from business, government agencies, or community groups meet with students, they are encouraged to get to know one or two of them. They are urged to make follow-up calls or write brief notes of encouragement to the students. Often, these encounters become a rewarding and collaborative relationship for both the mentor and the student.

The mentor relationship must be actively cultivated and supported for all students engaged in action work. While this is especially true for students new to action work, even experienced project workers find mentors to be an important element in helping them to pursue their goals.

Leadership

Leadership, within this context of this guide and these action projects, is defined as existing when a person takes actions which help a group move toward attaining its goal. This definition of leadership is much more inclusive than many. By using it, anyone can see his or her potential for leadership.

Conflict Resolution

The "art of the possible"—even when things seem impossible!

For centuries, the primary ways to solve conflict have used force, cunning, trickery, or skillful negotiation. In this type of conflict resolution, there is usually a winner and a loser. Recent conflict resolution strategies focus on both sides working to get mutual satisfaction—a "win-win" approach.

"The only good deal is one where all parties to the deal feel they got a good deal." Frank Hammond, President S.S. White Dental Company

Two different strategies for this type of negotiation are summarized in Getting To Yes by Roger Fisher and William Ury. Their process may be summarized as having the following attributes:

Attributes:

- People—separate the people from the problem.
- Interests—focus on interests, not positions.
- Options—generate a variety of possibilities before deciding what to do.
- Criteria—insist that the result be based on some objective standard.

These attributes are the basis for a negotiating process that has four steps:
Step 1. Define the Problem. (In the real world)

Identify what is wrong. What are the current symptoms? What is disliked? What is the preferred situation?

Step 2. Analyze the Situation. (In theory)

Diagnose the problem. Sort symptoms into categories. Suggest causes. Observe what is lacking. Note barriers to resolving the problem.

Step 3. Consider Possible Approaches. (In theory)

What are the possible strategies or prescriptions for addressing the problem? What are some of the theoretical cures or solutions? Generate broad ideas about what might be done.

Step 4. Develop Action Ideas (In the real world)

What might be done? By whom? When? How? What specific steps might be taken to deal with the problem?

This process is powerful if the participants are skilled in problem analysis or have a facilitator to guide them through the process. Too often, participants have not developed enough skill to objectively separate the problem from the personalities or to distinguish the underlying problem from the symptoms which surround it. In either case, training can provide a real bridge to getting past these obstacles.

Developing Student Confidence: Simulations and Role plays

6 imulations, role plays, and debates are effective ways of helping students develop an understanding of environmental issues. Each of these strategies allows students to look at issues from many points of view.

It is often effective to assign roles to students that they would not typically choose. This "force fit" helps participants to develop empathy—an understanding of what it feels like to be in someone else's shoes. Here are some examples of how to train students for political lobbying, using simulations and scenarios.

Definition of Lobbying

To many people, the word "lobby" as a form of political influence has connotations of corruption or political sleaze. In the development of the Monday Group Environmental Action program, the staff have defined the term as: "To lobby is to communicate with and persuade a person(s), agency or organization that represents a "power influence" on an objective you wish to achieve." A lobbyist is the person(s) doing the lobbying. With this definition in mind the Monday Morning staff have created a way to teach students the process of lobbying. It is as follows:

Instructional Goal: To develop skills in effective lobbying in all students.

Guidelines for Action: Set up a lobbying team that is made up of three team members. Each person on the lobbying team should have a very specific responsibility and role to play in the lobbying effort. The three assignments are as follow:

Lobbyist Role 1: The Recorder

This person plans the lobbying session with two other team members and observes and records all that occurs. He or she usually leads the debriefing session for the rest of the team members immediately after the lobbying session.

Lobbyist Role 2: The Listener/Support Speaker

This person co-plans the lobbying session and listens carefully to everything people say. He or she should be ready to assist the Presenter by adding key points which have been missed and providing additional information, as needed, during the lobbying session.

This member of the team must know the objectives for the lobbying session and be sure the Presenter covers them all. He or she must participate in the debriefing session when lobbying is complete.

Lobbyist 3: The Presenter

This person co-plans the lobbying session and is prepared to be the primary communicator for the lobbying team. He or she must also take part in the debriefing session.

Steps for Classroom Simulations of Lobbying Action

1. Do your homework and plan.

2. Make appointments for the lobbying session.

- 3. Make an effective entrance with introductions and set the stage.
- 4. Communicate your purpose and plan to the person(s) being lobbied.
- 5. Clarify understandings and commitments.

6. Summarize the key points of understanding and define follow-up actions and their timing.

7. Thank the person(s) being lobbied and remind them of follow-ups or commitments to be acted on (by both parties).

8. Debrief the session with the lobbying team to verify what each person observed and to review commitments and follow-up promises.

9. Send a note thanking the person(s) who was lobbied, include any pertinent information and affirm commitments.

Note: Written scenarios based on actual community issues, may be used in the lobbying practice sessions. Other students or teachers can act as the "targets" of the lobbying effort and can evaluate the success of the team's approach.

Try role playing the lobbying of a mock county commissioner or other elected official. Have the class critique each team's lobbying effectiveness. A variation might be to ask the recorder/observer to publicly debrief the lobbying team in front of the remainder of the class and invite class feedback.

An Example of a School Action Project

Here's an example of an action project that you can use to involve students and community members.

Riparian Zones

A riparian zone refers to an area situated on the banks of a river or other body of water. Riparian planting means re-planting indigenous vegetation on the banks of a creek, river, or other body of water.

Background Information

Kiparian areas are an important part of aquatic ecosystems. By restoring vegetation in these areas, the health of these systems will improve dramatically and quickly. The benefits of riparian planting include improvement of the habitat and strengthening the food chain not only for aquatic organisms, but for terrestrial organisms and birds as well. Riparian planting helps: stabilize stream banks, traps sediments and pollutants, slows and dissipates flood waters, provides thermal cover, and improves water quality and wildlife habitat.

Urbanization, logging, and agriculture, in some areas, have had a profound negative impact on the riparian zones of our waterways. In urban areas, streams have been dredged, channelized, culverted, and development has occurred right up to the banks. Past logging practices have seen harvesting right up to the edges of lakes and streams. Livestock have been allowed to browse riparian vegetation, denuding the banks of major waterways.

Remediation of these problems through riparian planting is inexpensive and rewarding for groups interested in protecting aquatic environments.

Activity: Riparian Planting

This type of project can be taken on by clubs or school groups. It involves planting indigenous trees and shrubs in the riparian area of lakes, streams, and rivers where the vegetation has been removed by grazing or human activities.

Ask a naturalist or landscaper for help on choosing the right type of trees and shrubs for planting. Use ones that are indigenous to your area and can be planted fairly easily. Spring is a good time for planting.

There are several ways to get trees and shrubs to use for planting:

- grow your own from cuttings

- (Note: only Cottonwoods (Populus) and Willows (Salix) are easily propagated this way. These are usually the natives and are a good choice for your first year.)
- start your own from seed
- purchase plants from a commercial nursery

- get plants donated by forest tree nurseries
- use a combination of the above

Materials:

trees shrubs hoe or shovel well-rotted manure straw for mulching mouse guards

Procedure:

Before Planting

1. Get approvals from the owners of the land where planting will take place.

2. Find a source of trees and shrubs for planting.

3. Plan your planting. Find out which plant species suit the area and map out how you will plant them. Make the layout look as natural as possible. (Ask a naturalist or landscaper for help.)

Note: if you are planting only one or two species, the planning is easier. Generally, you will want willows in the wetter sites, close to the stream bank and the cottonwoods further back. Shrubs and conifers can be interspersed as shown in the diagram. To emulate natural succession, you may want to plant deciduous trees the first year and coniferous trees in subsequent years.



During Planting

Begin by explaining and demonstrating the following steps to your group. (See the diagram showing a properly planted tree.)

The steps are:

1. "Think" like a tree and choose a planting site accordingly. Think about high and low water conditions. The site needs to be "digable". On rip rap (rocky) sites, soil should be brought in to allow the plants a foothold.

2. Clear the micro-site. You need a circle of about 1 meter (3 feet) around the planting spot that is clear of weeds and grass.

3. Dig a hole. Make it about 15 cm. (6 inches) bigger than the root ball of the plant.

4. Place the plant in the hole so that the top of the roots is slightly below ground level. Pack the soil firmly around the plant so that no roots are exposed to the air.

5. Build a crater about .3 m. (1 foot) around the plant to hold the water. Put the mouse guard around the stem of the plant with the bottom end 3-5 cm. (1-2 inches) below the ground level.

6. Place a scoop of well-rotted manure inside the crater, around the plant. Cover it with a mulch of straw.

7. Water the plant by filling the crater with 8-12 litres (2 or 3 gallons) of water. Place a stake next to the plant so that it doesn't get trampled or mowed and is easily found for follow-up care.



After Planting

- 1. Water the plants once a week over the summer.
- 2. Remove competing weeds.
- 3. Remove the stakes once the plants are well established.

Publicity

Invite the media to your planting. Put up signs at the planting site to explain what you are doing and why. Education of the public can begin by publicizing the work you do in riparian planting.

Summing Up

Awareness and knowledge without the capacity for effective, appropriate action is sterile and lacks engaging power or relevance for students.

The above concepts, guidelines, and approaches, can be used to train students for effective action. The fact that many classes have had great successes protecting, restoring, and sustaining the environment speaks for the success of action projects. Less evident, but equally important, are the personal success stories of students who discovered their capacities for leadership and increased their sense of self-worth and competence.

Directions for specific action and monitoring projects such as: Stream Mapping,

Water Quality/Quantity Surveys, Stream Invertebrate Survey, Storm Drain Marking, Stream Clean-Up, and Streamside Planting are available through the Fisheries and Oceans Streamkeepers Handbook. Contact the Community Advisor or Water Stewardship Co-ordinator in your area for information.



ENDINGS AND BEGINNINGS

"Don't it always Seem to go That you never know What you've got 'Till it's gone They paved paradise And put up a parkin' lot Lyrics from "Big Yellow Taxi" Joni Mitchell



Within each human body beats a wonderful organ, the heart. From before birth until the moment of death, the heart beats regularly, providing the impetus which moves the blood in our arteries and veins. Without the faithful work of the heart, life ends almost immediately. When we are healthy, we take this essential organ for granted. But as anyone who has ever suffered from a heart attack can attest, even a few seconds without a heartbeat will suddenly and fearfully focus our attention on just how vital the heart really is.

Water is like the heart. It is absolutely essential for life, but we continue to take it for granted. Health of our water depends on proper care and attention, and is achieved by avoiding abusive practices.

Water stewardship is an evolving concept. It can include pollution control, water conservation, and the restoration or protection of entire aquatic ecosystems. Water stewardship entails awareness of watersheds and water supply and demand. It requires that we understand how the components of the ecosystem interact and that we develop a holistic perspective.

But water stewardship is more than all of this. Stewardship requires that we care, not simply because scientific information and concepts suggest it is in our own interest to care, but because we feel that humankind cannot exist without its spiritual and emotional connections to nature.

We are only just beginning to understand how dependent we are on our natural roots. Recent medical studies have shown that workers whose office windows afford views of the outdoors, are less likely to be ill and they are more productive and happier than workers who have no view of the outside, even if the outside world is urban.

In all the talk on curriculum integration, attention has been somewhat diverted from another kind of integration—our personal, spiritual, and psychological integration. Education has long been held to be inextricably connected to overall health and well-being. The ancient Greeks spoke clearly of the connection between a healthy mind and a healthy body. But a healthy mind and a healthy body depend on a healthy planet. When we become stewards, we are attending to our minds, our bodies, and our planet, as well as fostering our educational and spiritual well-being.

British Columbia faces several decades of explosive growth. Whether or not this growth improves the lives of people in this province, will depend entirely on decisions we make about how to integrate a growing population into the natural environment. If we lose our natural heritage—the beauty and solace of our rivers, lakes, wetlands, forests, grasslands, harbours, inlets, and mountains—in the scramble to develop, we may well lose our own health and sanity in the process.

The children who are in school now and those who will enter school over the next few decades, will become the citizens who will shape these decisions. We must help them do that. Therefore we dedicate this handbook to those children, passing on the idea that education and action can be linked in a responsible fashion. We know all too well that this book is incomplete. But we hope that teachers will recognize that it is not necessary to know everything, to have all the resources, or to be fully prepared, in order to begin. There is much to be learned in the course of action. There is much, in fact, which can only be learned in the course of action. There are many small projects which can make a difference to water use, aquatic habitats, and aquatic life. Individually, they may seem insignificant. But when many such small acts combine, they make a great difference.

In a sense, the course of great rivers can provide us with a metaphor. Even the greatest stream begins as a small trickle at the top of a watershed. As individual tiny trickles combine, they create larger and larger streams, eventually becoming great rivers which flow into the sea. Rivers which transport masses of soil, create deltas, and wear away entire ranges of mountains.

We hope that this book will contribute to that confluence of trickles. That it will help form a river of stewardship actions. That it will help change the ways we view and act upon water in our lives.

"And as we lengthen and elaborate the chain of technology that intervenes between us and the natural world, we forget that we become steadily more vulnerable to even the slightest failure in that chain. The time has long since passed when a citizen can function responsibly without a broad understanding of the living landscape of which he is inseparably a part." Paul B. Sears.





APPENDIX A

A Compendium of Water Facts and Figures.

We have assembled some key items of information in an accessible format to meet the need for a compendium of information about water, aquatic life, and aquatic habitats. We hope the compendium will be useful to busy teachers. You may also want students to "dig" for information in other sources and to compare information critically. The numbers from different sources will be slightly different.

Students often like collections of interesting, perhaps novel, and unfamiliar facts. For many years the column, Ripley's Believe it or Not, provided interesting, bizarre, and obscure items of information entertaining newspaper readers all over North America.

Today, the Guiness Book of Records and Harpers Index serve the same general purpose. While bits of information don't constitute an education they can be the bricks from which foundations of knowledge and concepts are built. They can provoke thought. During any unit of water studies it can be useful to invite students to create class displays, clip files, give daily reports, or provide other quick capsules of information about water. As much as anything else, the search for interesting items can lead students to browse information sources which they might otherwise ignore.

Water Facts

The first several of the following facts are taken from: *State Of The Environment Report For B.c.*. *Ministry Of Environment, Lands, And Parks*. 1993. The sources for facts from other sources are cited with each fact.

"British Columbia has the highest incidence of water-borne illness in Canada." (p. iv.)

The Largest and most important river drainage system in B.C. is the Fraser River. It drains almost 1/4 of the land area of the province. (p.19.)

The average annual flow of the Fraser R. is 3,972 cu. m/sec. This is enough to fill three Olympic size swimming pools every second.

Sixty per cent of the water withdrawn for use in Canada was used in thermal power generation (conventional and nuclear power stations.) (p.20.)

In B.C., nearly 78% of the municipalities have water rates that do not promote water conservation. In most municipalities people pay the same flat rate no

mater how much water they use. B.C. has the second lowest water-use charges in Canada. (p.21.)

Pollution Control Permits are required where human activities, such as industries or farms, discharge wastes into water. They specify what sort of wastes may be discharged, the amount of waste permitted, and the type of treatment required prior to discharge. The idea of the permits is to stop any waste discharge which will seriously degrade water quality below the point of discharge.

In October, 1992, there were 3,596 active waste discharge permits in B.C. Since July 1990, 259 operations have been listed as "not in compliance" with their permits.

minimal sewage treatment." (p. iv.)

"Over 1.5 million people in B.C. live in communities which lack, or have



Water Use in B.C., by type of use

In B.C., there are 64 secondary and 9 tertiary treatment plants discharging into fresh water serving 550,000 people.

Six primary treatment facilities still discharge into fresh water: unfortunately, the two largest primary treatment plants in B.C., at Annacis Island and Lulu Islands in the lower mainland, on the Fraser River, serve more than 700 000 people. (p.24.)

There are nine municipalities serving a total of 240,000 people, which discharge untreated sewage into marine waters. They include the cities of Victoria, and Prince Rupert. (p. 33.)

Another seven municipalities serving 660,000 people, discharge primary treated sewage into marine waters.

Between April 1991 and March 1992, there were 506 spills of hazardous materials into freshwater in B.C. Of these, the largest number were oil and gasoline spills. (p.26.)

In 1991, over 4,300 commercial vessels harvested over 80,000 tonnes of salmon from or in B.C. waters. The value of the catch was nearly \$170,000, 000. This was about 9% of the total world supply of salmon. About 15% of the salmon catch is produced from enhancement activities such as stream enhancement, artificial hatcheries and spawning channels, fishways, and side channels. (p.45.)

B.C. supports the 3rd largest freshwater sport fishery in Canada. In 1990, 390,000 people spent 4.5 million days angling. They caught 9.6 million fish, an average of 2 fish per day per fisher. They spent \$457 million on their sport. This level of expenditure has been estimated to create or maintain 5300 person years of employment. (p.48.)



B.C. Hazardous Material Spills, by Type, percentage. April 1991- March 1992

Just over 6% of B.C. is covered by wetlands. The highest percentage of the wetlands in B.C are in the NE corner (27%). Wetlands are rapidly being converted to provide space for agriculture and rapidly growing human populations. (p.43.)

Over thirteen million (44%) of Canadians swim for recreation.

About six million Canadians (20 %) purchase fishing licenses annually. (p. 44) *Currents of Change, Inquiry on Federal Water Policy.* 1985.





Eight per cent of Canada is covered by lakes: more lake area than any other country on Earth. Canada shares, with the U.S., seven of the world's largest lakes, the Great Lakes system. The average annual precipitation in Canada is about 600 mm/year (6 meters). However, on the Pacific Coast, rainfall can reach 3500 mm, or 35 meters/year! (p.25) *Currents of Change, Inquiry on Federal Water Policy. 1985*.

Canadian rivers discharge close to 9% of the world's water supply. (p. 34) *A Primer on Water*, Environment Canada. 1991.



Salt v Fresh Water, and distribution of Fresh Water, compared

In 1987 Canadians spent \$110,000,000 on bottled water. This figure is expected to double by 1995. In a 1990 study by the Consumers Association of Canada 12 of the 16 domestic or imported bottled waters contained potentially harmful contaminants at levels above those considered acceptable in the Canadian guidelines for drinking water quality. (p. 21) *A Primer on Water*, Environment Canada. 1991.

One litre of tap water in Canada costs about .00047 cents. The same amount of bottled water would cost 50 cents; cola, 79 cents; milk, 95 cents; table wine, **\$8.00.** (p.18) *A Primer on Water*, Environment Canada. 1991.

In Canada about 36% of the annual precipitation is in the form of snow. (p. 9) *A Primer on Water*, Environment Canada. 1991.

The same water molecules that are now circulating on Earth were circulating more than 1 billion years ago. Virtually no new water has been created since water was first formed on the planet, more than one billion years ago. The water we drink today might have been in a plant, other animals, the ocean, or other people before.

About 83% of our blood is water. (p. 7) *A Primer on Water*, Environment Canada. 1991.



Water Withdrawn per person per year (in gallons per year)

To support a reasonable quality of life requires about 80 litres of water / person/day. World average water consumption varies from 5.4 litres/person/ day (Madagascar) to more than 500 litres /person/day (U.S.) More than 70 percent of the population of the U.S. drinks water that has passed through waste water treatment plants elsewhere (upstream).

(pp.102–3) State of the Earth Atlas. Seager, Joni. (ed.) N.Y.:Simon & Schuster. 1990.

APPENDIX B Test Your Water Knowledge Survey

Assessing Prior Knowledge.

Because prior knowledge is important in the formation of new knowledge, it can be useful for teachers and students to assess what students already know about Water Stewardship before beginning any unit of learning experiences. This assessment can take many forms in addition to the typical "paper and pencil" pre-test. Interviews, developing goals for learning contracts, class discussions, creating maps and diagrams—are all useful assessments of prior knowledge. The following questions are written as if they were test items but they could be used as an agenda for class discussion or student interviews.

It is important that students understand the purpose of finding out about what they already know before beginning a set of learning experiences. They should be invited to develop the questions, and to interpret the results of any paper and pencil tests, diagrams, or mapping exercises. Students can be quite good at recognizing what knowledge they don't have, and what skills they lack.

The assessment of prior knowledge must be seen as the basis for developing learning goals, for planning learning experiences, and for measuring future progress toward goals, rather than as a basis for assigning scores or for ranking and sorting. The items provided here are examples only, although they do connect to the framework of key concepts about Water Stewardship which has previously been described .

Most of these questions do not have one single correct answer. Many of the "facts" and figures are estimates and vary from source to source. Many of the answers will depend on where you live.

Test Your Water Knowledge.

- 1. What percentage of the world is covered by water?
- 2. How much water is contained in the human body?
- 3. How much water does the human body lose in a typical day?

4. What percentage of water used inside the home is used for: flushing the toilet, bathing and showering, doing laundry, and for cooking and drinking? Note: this could be a good starting point for having students monitor their water use at home and in the school

5. In many parts of the world, marshes, bogs, and other wetlands are often drained and filled in or destroyed for farming, housing, or recreation. Why should we be concerned about the loss of these wetlands?

6. We use water in our homes, in industry, in mining, in thermal power generation, and in agriculture. In British Columbia, which of these activities do you think uses the most water? Which uses the least?

7. Where does the water which comes out of your water faucet at home or school come from? Draw a simple diagram showing all the steps you think the water takes from its source to your faucet or sink.

8. Where does the water from your home go when it goes down the sink drain or toilet? Draw a simple diagram showing the steps you think the water from your home takes after it leaves your house.

9. What is the largest lake in your area? What is the largest river? Can you draw a sketch map showing your town, and some of the bigger lakes and rivers in your area. If you can, try to expand your map to show how the river(s) connect(s) to the ocean, or what lakes they flow into.

10. Think of all the things you use water for each day. Start with getting up in the morning and make a list of "water using activities" as you go through your day, finishing at bed time. Opposite each activity, try to make a rough estimate of how much water (litres) you think each activity uses.

11. If you put some water into a saucer or small bowl, and leave the bowl or saucer uncovered on an open counter top or sink for several days or weeks, what will happen? Explain what you will observe.

12. What are clouds?

13. Why does it rain sometimes? Where does the rain come from?

14. If you had a can of poisonous chemicals in your home, why should you never dump it down the sink, or flush it down the toilet? What should you do with it in order to dispose of this poisonous stuff?

15. Your home is supplied with water. Where does the water come from? What sorts of work do people have to do in order to make water available in your home whenever you need it? Who do these people work for?

16. Is water free? You use water every day, but do you have to pay for it? What do you think it costs your family for water every year?

17. How many centimetres of rain falls in your area each year? Which is the driest place in B.C.? Which is the wettest place?

18. What is snow?

19. Can you think of some animals that live in water and cannot live on dry land or outside of water? Make a list of as many as you can.

20. Can you think of some animals which live on water, or near water, but which have to breathe air? Make a list of as many of these animals as you can.

21. What is the freezing point of water? What is the boiling point of water at sea level? Why is it important to specify at sea level?

Answers.....

Note: The answers to some of these questions vary from source to source and you should accept a range of answers. This is a good starting point for discussing the critical analysis of "facts and figures" so that students learn to look skeptically at statistics.

1. About 75% of the earth is covered by water.

2. The human body is about 70% water. Water is about 83% of our blood fluid.

3. This question is more difficult to answer. It has been estimated that people need to consume the equivalent of 8 glasses of water/day to be healthy, but at least half of this amount can come from foods which are high in water content such as fruits and vegetables. People lose water from perspiration (sweating), from their exhaled breath as water vapour (the breath we see on cold days), and from urine and so-called solid wastes. The amount lost depends on how much water we are consuming, how much work our bodies are doing, the temperature (we perspire as a means of cooling down), and other internal factors.

4. Inside the average Canadian home water use is estimated as follows: toilet flushing 45%; bath and shower 30%; laundry 20%; cooking and drinking 5%.

5. Wetlands are very significant habitats for many species of birds, insects, small mammals, reptiles, amphibians, and plants. Small pothole ponds and lakes are important breeding areas not only for migratory water fowl but also for small song birds which nest in the surrounding rushes, sedges, and grasses. As these so-called "swamps" are filled in for development, or sometimes simply as dump sites, the habitat is destroyed. As more and more habitat disappears, the risk of species extinction becomes greater and greater. Each time a species is lost, the overall biological diversity of the planet is reduced, and part of an ecosystem on which other organisms may depend may be lost also. It has been estimated that at least 80% of the wetland habitat in the Okanagan Valley has already been lost to development. In the lower mainland, wetlands are also threatened or have been lost in many areas of the Fraser River delta and flood plain.

6. In British Columbia, water use has be estimated as follows: manufacturing 51%, agriculture 22%, municipal 22%, mining 3%, and thermal power 2%.

7. This question's answer depends on where you live. Can you draw this diagram for your area?

8. As for number 7, above.

9. This question also depends on where you live. The answers can be quite surprising. People often don't think of little, local creeks as part of much larger river systems, but they are.

10. This can also be quite a surprise. For example, about 75% of the indoor home water use occurs in the bathroom for toilet flushing and showering. Using an insert to reduce toilet flush volume can save 45 000 litres of water in a year for a family of 4.

11. The water will evaporate, or literally, become a vapour, or gas. Water vapour is the gaseous form of water. Within a range of 100 degrees on the Celsius scale water can change from a solid (ice) to a liquid, and then to a gas, as it boils. However, even at temperatures below boiling point, water will evaporate into the surrounding air, if the air contains less water, and if it is moving. You may have noticed that ice cubes "disappear" if they are left in the freezer for many months.

12. Clouds are formed as masses of ice crystals in the upper, colder atmosphere. The high Cirrus clouds are of this type. Clouds can also be formed as water vapour condenses around small particles of dust, pollen, or other larger molecules in the air, under the right temperature conditions. Light reflecting from and passing through the water droplets gives clouds their colours. As more and more vapour condenses, the cloud will become so water-logged that it will begin to rain, hail, or snow.

13. It rains when the water vapour in clouds condenses to form droplets, which combine to form drops, which are so large and heavy that air currents can't hold them in suspension any longer, and the droplet falls to earth. Rain makers try to "seed" clouds with particles on which the water vapour will condense to form large enough droplets to fall to the ground as rain.

14. If you flush poisonous materials down the drain or toilet at home, it will end up in either your septic tank or in the sewer system. The septic tank depends on bacterial activity in the tank to treat the wastes from the home system. Toxins can poison the tank's bacteria and destroy the operation of the system. The toxins may also move from the tank into the septic field where they can then enter the ground water table and eventually enter run off, or even be pumped into domestic wells. Even when the house is connected to a central sewage treatment plant, toxic materials may not be degraded by the treatment and may eventually enter lakes, rivers, or the ocean. Very small amounts of some household insecticides, drugs, and cleaning chemicals can be very dangerous to other organisms or humans.

15. Again, the answer to this question will depend on where you live and how your water is supplied.

16. Many people think that their water is "free". Water taxes are often hidden in the total home tax bill and are based on a flat rate charge which doesn't vary no matter how much or how little water is used. However, many towns and cities are now requiring homes to install water meters which actually measure what each user consumes. Under this system the user pays for the water on the basis of the volume used in a year. This gives people an incentive not to waste water. Most large industrial and business users must install water meters and pay for the amount actually used.

17. The answer will depend on where you live. B.C. is highly variable in climate and rainfall. The wet coastal areas are among some of the wettest places on earth (although not the wettest; that honour is reserved for the top of a mountain on the Hawaiian Island of K'Auai). The southern Okanagan, on the other hand, is among the driest areas of Canada, having a true desert climate and being home to plants and animals which are found in no other part of the country.

18. Snow is frozen water, or ice. Snow forms when water vapour in clouds in cold air freezes forming crystals of ice. Depending on air temperatures and currents the ice crystals may form slowly and take on very elaborate and beautiful forms (the true snow flake) or they may form very rapidly and fall quickly to earth once the weight of the crystal can no longer be supported in the air. It was once thought that snow flakes began to form around "seeds" of dust or other solid material but this is no longer thought to be true. Once the snow flakes reach the earth they pile up as snow. The weight of snow can compress the lower layer of crystals into more dense layers. Warming and cooling between night and day can also change the form of snow crystals providing different conditions for skiing and creating avalanche hazards in the mountains.

19. & 20. Some animals can only live when their bodies are actually immersed in liquid water. Fish and many invertebrates are examples. These water dwelling animals have gills, or a similar organ to exchange oxygen and carbon dioxide with the surrounding water in the way that our lung linings exchange these gases with the air. Large mammals like whales, breathe air, but depend on the buoyant support of water in order to support their large masses. Reptiles, like snakes, alligators, crocodiles, and turtles may all live mainly in water, but still require air in order to breath, and can emerge on to land to lay eggs or to find food. Amphibians, like frogs, toads and salamanders can live in water and exchange gases with the water through their skin, mouth linings, or through gills under some conditions, and can breathe air using lungs under other conditions. Many animals have life cycles in which one part of the cycle occurs in water while the other part occurs in the air. Mosquitoes and dragon flies are examples of insects with this sort of life cycle. The larval stages of these insects is found in water, but the adult stage is a flying insect which lives in air.

21. Water freezes at 0 degrees Celsius. Water boils at 100 degrees Celsius. It is important to specify that this is a sea level because water boils at lower temperatures when the pressure on it is less and at higher temperatures when the pressure on it is more.

APPENDIX C

Blackline Masters for Key Concept Logos.























APPENDIX D

Project Wild Cross Reference

Many Project Wild Activities help foster the Water Stewardship Key Concepts. This Project Wild Cross References section gives you a guide to selecting appropriate activities for each of the key concepts.

Water Stewardship Key Concept	Project Wild Aquatic Activities Fostering Key Concept	Page
1. Water is essential for life	How Wet Is Our Planet	50
	Aqua Words	55
	Water Wings	57
	Are You Me?	62
	Designing a Habitat	70
	Puddle Wonders!	72
	Riparian Retreat	105
	Water Canaries	109
	Micro Odyssey	165
	Wetland Metaphors	168
	Marsh Munchers	172
	Migration Headache	237
	The Glass Menageris	283
	Aquatic Times	310
	Turtle Hurdles	363
	Plastic Jellyfish	368
	Something's Fishy Here!	371
	Watershed	376
	Alice in Waterland	381
2. All Living Things Depend on Water	Aqua Words	55
	Water Wings	57
	Water Plant Art	62
	Puddle Wonders!	72
	Whale of a Tail	77
	Riparian Retreat	105
	Micro Odyssey	165
	Wetland Metaphors	168
	Blue Ribbon Niche	180
	Fishy Who's Who	195
	Migration Headache	237
	Aquatic Times	310
	Watershed	376
	Alice in Waterland	381

3. Water is a Unique Material	Stormy Weather	22
	Aqua Words	55
	Water Canaries	109
	Wetland Metaphors	168
C H O	No Water Off a Duck's Back	230
	Deadly Skies	319
	Alice in Waterland	381
		501
4. All Water is Part of the	Stormy Weather	22
Hydrological or Water Cycle	How Wet is Our Planet	50
	Aqua Words	55
	Water Wings	57
	Puddle Wonders	72
	Where Does Water Go After School?	191
	Deadly Skies	319
and the second s	Alice in Waterland	381
5. Streams, Lakes, and Rivers, as	Aqua Words	55
Well as Other Water Bodies are	Water Wings	57
Part of Larger Systems Known as	Riparian Retreat	105
Watersheds	Pond Succession	135
\frown	Marsh Munchers	172
	The Edge of Home	177
and deep	Where Does Water Go After School?	191
	To Dam or Not to Dam	312
A de la companya de la	Watershed	376
6. Watersheds are Dynamic	Water Wings	57
	Riparian Retreat	105
	Pond Succession	135
	Marsh Munchers	172
	Watered Down History	262
	To Dam or Not to Dam	312
	Watershed	376
7. Humans are Major Users of Water	vvater wings	5/
9-9 90	warsh wunchers	1/2
	HOOKS and Ladders	184
	water We Eating?	2/6
	Io Dam or Not to Dam	312
	Plastic Jellyfish	368
	Something's Fishy Here!	371
	Watershed	376
	Alice in Waterland	381

	1	
8. Water is Finite	Water Wings	57
	Where DoesWater Go After School?	191
	Plastic Jellyfish	368
	Something's Fishy Here!	371
	Watershed	376
	Alice in Waterland	381
9. Aquatic Habitats are Essential	How Wet is Our Planet	50
Elements of the Biosphere	Aqua Words	55
	Water Wings	57
	Water Plant Art	62
- Alter -	Wetland Metaphors	168
	The Edge of Home	177
	Kelp Help	118
	Fishy Who's Who	195
	Migration Headache	237
	Aquatic Roots	242
	Water We Eating?	276
	Deadly Skies	319
	Watershed	376
	Alice in Waterland	381
10. Contaminants and Toxins can	Water Wings	57
Move Within Water	Riparian Retreat	105
	Wetland Metaphors	168
	Where Does Water Go After School?	191
	No Water Off a Duck's Back	230
	Watered Down History	262
	Aquatic Times	310
	Deadly Skies	319
	Plastic Jellyfish	368
	Something's Fishy Here!	371
	Watershed	376
	Alice in Waterland	381
		105
11. There are a Number of Careers	Riparian Retreat	105
Water, Aquatic Habitats, and their	No Water Off a Duck's Back	250
Management	Net Gain, Net Effect	232
-	where Have All the Salmon Gone?	240
	IO Dam or Not to Dam	212
	Plastic Jellyfish	308 271
	Something's Fishy Here!	3/ l 201
	Alice in Waterland	381

12. Different Human Cultures have
Different Values about Water and
Different Patterns of Use



Water Wings	57
Riparian Retreat	105
Mythical Mystical Monsters	115
No Water Off a Duck's Back	232
Net Gain, Net Effect	245
Where Have All the Salmon Gone?	312
Water We Eating	276
Something's Fishy Here!	371
Alice in Waterland	381

Developed by the participants of the "Project Wild Advanced Leader Workshop," Nov. 5,6,7, 1993 McQueen Lake, Environmental Education Centre in Kamloops, B.C.

APPENDIX E

Water Stewardship Curriculum Development Model.

This handbook is the result of a collaboration among teachers, community members, experts in water resources management, experts in water quality, experts in wetland ecology, fisheries professionals and instructional designers.

The project team is committed to the belief that when the expertise of teachers is combined with that of technical experts, better curriculum results.



Teachers bring to the collaboration their experience with students, school programs, parental and community expectations, and knowledge of instructional strategies. The content experts bring their experience with the subject matter and their knowledge of the technical resources and procedures of the field. Curriculum developers and instructional designers bring their knowledge of curriculum materials and their experience with the process of curriculum design and implementation.

At the core of curriculum development is the desire to improve the education of students. The students are the real focus of any curriculum. No matter how elegant a curriculum may be in its design, no matter how sophisticated and technically accurate its content, unless the students are engaged and develop their knowledge, little benefit will have been gained. An effective curriculum not only helps students to learn the skills and knowledge of a field of study, it must also contribute to the over all education of the students.

Education implies the capacity to reflect on what is being taught and learned, to consider other points of view, and to analyze the qualities of information being presented. When students are truly educated, they may see possibilities and ask questions which were not considered by the teachers, technical experts, or curriculum developers. An effective curriculum is similar to the old proverb that when one gives a person a fish, one feeds that person for a day; but when one teaches another to fish, one is helping that person to have food for life. Thus, an effective curriculum helps the student to become a life-long learner, a person who will be committed to learning more about the subject, committed to developing further and deeper skill. We have attempted to reflect these goals in the design of the materials in this handbook.

The actual curriculum process to develop the Water Stewardship Handbook consisted of several phases.

In Phase 1, the project team consulted with technical experts in the water resources and aquatic habitat/fisheries fields to develop a working set of major concepts concerning water, aquatic habitats, and aquatic life connected broadly around the theme of Water Stewardship. The goal of this phase was to identify the big ideas which technical experts considered to be essential to an understanding of their fields.

In Phase 2, Project Teachers were asked to define their ideas about the things which they considered essential learnings in the domain of Water Stewardship. The ideas of the teachers and those of the technical experts were then compared and synthesized. The resulting list of key concepts was presented to both the experts and to the project teachers for clarification and further definition. This process resulted in a working set of key concepts about water, aquatic habitats and aquatic life which formed the framework for resource selection and assessment, field testing, assessment of student understanding, and materials development. Throughout the 1992-93 school year the key concepts were used as a compass to guide the curriculum development process.

In Phase 3, existing resource materials, including curriculum materials developed by other agencies and groups, were assembled by the project co-ordinator. Project teachers then met to review these materials and to determine which key concepts appeared to be best supported by the materials. The review also attempted to identify any other important areas of knowledge or skill which might have been omitted from the working set of key concepts. Groups of project teachers at the Primary, Intermediate, and Senior Secondary school levels then selected materials for field testing in their own classrooms.

In Phase 4, the Coordinator of the project visited classrooms of participating teachers to assist them with field-testing, and to help with special class projects and activities related to Water Stewardship. The purpose of this phase was to field-test and assess the existing materials and to develop ideas for needed teacher-developed curriculum activities or resources. During this phase project teachers met with the co-ordinator and members of the project team to review progress and to critique materials and the key concepts. The Steering Committee also met with the Project Team to review progress and to make suggestions for field-testing.

In Phase 5, project teachers met with the Co-ordinator and members of the Project Team to synthesize the results of field-testing, to present their experiences in the classroom to their colleagues and to the Team, and to suggest materials, resources, and other ideas for the draft Water Stewardship Handbook. In this phase the Project Team presented a proposed handbook outline to the project teachers and to the Steering Committee for review and comment, as well as for suggestions for change. Using suggestions and reviews from project teachers and Steering Committee members the final handbook outline was prepared. In Phase 6, the Water Stewardship Handbook was prepared in draft form by the Project Team.

In Phase 7, the draft handbook was reviewed by members of the Steering Committee. Their recommendations for changes and additions were then incorporated into the draft and a field-test version was prepared for distribution to the original project teachers.

In Phase 8, the manual was field tested in workshops around the province. Over 150 people took part in workshops in 11 communities. Also manuals were mailed out to many aquatic experts and aquatic educators around the province. Feedback in the form of questionnaires was received on both the workshop and the manual. We are very appreciative of the thought, time, and effort that went into reviewing the handbook and completing these questionnaires. The information received was collated and incorporated. An independent editor made major revisions to shape the current edition of the handbook.

Phase 9, will involve ongoing inservice, classroom support, and networking through out the province. A newsletter will be developed along with computer conferences using telecommunications. Plans are underway to develop a Simon Fraser University Comet Course for credit and a diploma course in Water Stewardship.

APPENDIX F

Illustrations of Water Stewardship



Hours of exploring and inquiry can result from the use of a simple dip net in streams or ponds. These nets are easily made by the children using coathangers, pantyhose, and a stick for a handle.



Children develop a deep connection to fish they have raised in the classroom. In this illustration, they are acclimatizing the fish to the stream water and saying farewell before returning them to the wild.



Replanting riparian areas is a very rewarding project. The plants add important cover, keep the water cool, and help stabilize the banks. Leaves fall into the water, providing food for aquatic insects which, in turn, provide food for other organisms in the food chain. Some insects fall directly into the stream, providing food for fish. Often tools can be borrowed from forest companies. Sometimes hard digging requires the use of a "Polanski" – a too! that is half pick and half axe. An accurate inventory of the current condition of ecosystems is an important first step in stewardship. This ties in well with mapping, which is an important part of the curriculum at most grade levels.

Water Stewardship provides rich opportunities for student learning, both inside the school and out of doors.

The importance of water becomes very evident to students when they look after plants. In times of drought, extraordinary means such as a bucket brigade may be necessary to keep the plants alive.

The close observation of detail required to sketch plants and animals can heighten awareness of the natural world. The ability to use the a key and field guides is another task which requires keen observation.









Recording data in the field and then bringing it back to the classroom for further analysis makes field studies a powerful tool for curriculum integration. Field studies can add relevance and excitement to regular classroom work.



Water Stewardship activities can be undertaken during all seasons of the year. Snow studies in winter and studying runoff in the schoolyard in spring are excellent outdoor activities to make the whole world your classroom.



Community groups are eager to share knowledge and expertise with schools. Contact your local Naturalists Club or Fish and Game Club to invite guest speakers to come to your classroom.
Planting indigenous trees and shrubs is a wonderful activity. Willow and cottonwood cuttings can be started in styro blocks in a greenhouse or stuck directly into damp ground when all danger of frost is past. Other species are best started from seed or transplanting seedlings.

Mulching plants to hold the moisture in is a good idea on dryer sites. Stewardship activities are excellent for developing teamwork and social skills.

Inviting First Nations people to share their perspectives on the value of water provides students with incredible insights regarding our connections to the natural world.









Inviting students to speak at student planned conferences can help young people realize that they have power and purpose in their lives. Student planned conferences can be a starting point for students taking on effective action projects of their own.



Being involved in a curriculum development project provides a great opportunity for professional growth. Working with other teachers, testing out ideas, and trying new lessons are powerful learning activities for teachers.

GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS

- **anadromous** fish that migrate from the ocean to inland waters to spawn.
- biodiversitya term referring to the variety of life in an area, ranging from a drop of pond water
to the whole biosphere. Biodiversity includes four main considerations: landscape
diversity, ecosystem diversity, species diversity, and genetic diversity.
- **capillary action** water's ability to creep uphill when placed in a narrow tube. This phenomenon helps trees lift water to great heights.
- **chanellization** when a stream or river has been straightened.
- cirrus clouds high, thin, fleecy clouds.
- fresh water this usually applies to inland waters. They may in fact be quite salty (alkaline).
- indigenous originating in the region where found; native to an area.
- **oxbow** water contained in a U shaped bend in a river. Sometimes these bends become a separate body of water if the river straightens its course.
- **petri dish** a shallow dish with a cover, used in laboratories to grow bacterial cultures. Named for the French bacteriologist, Richard Petri, 1852-1921.
- **potable water** water that is safe for drinking. (Pronounced with a long "o" sound)
- rip rap rock covering used to protect stream banks from erosion.
- **riparian zone** soil areas, adjacent to waterways, directly influenced by the water of a stream, lake, or wetland.
- run off excessive rain or snow melt which produces overland flow to creeks and ditches.
- sewageprimary treatment involves the removal of large solids and floating substances
through settling and screening.
secondary treatment- after primary treatment, involves using bacteria, air, and
 - sunlight to remove organic matter from sewage . This process also removes about 30% of the phosphorous and 50% of the nitrate. tertiary treatment after primary and secondary treatment is used to further reduce
 - the phosphates, nitrates, and toxic materials from the sewage.
- sustainabilitythe preservation of biodiversity: the protection of pure water, clean air, and
uncontaminated terrestrial, wetland, coastal and sea-bottom systems; the
stabilization of global climactic conditions; the protection of natural beauty that we

value aesthetically and spiritually and a commitment to a new economic ethic based on making better use of what we have.

- **stereoscopic pair** a photographic technique using a pair of photographs of the same area and viewed through special glasses. It produces an image that has depth to it.
- stewardshipthe concept of responsible care-taking; based on the premise that humans do
not own the environment but are part of it. It is our responsibility to leave the
environment undiminished for future generations of all living things not just people.
- turbidityrefers to the muddiness or cloudiness of water. It is caused by sediments suspended in
the water.

watershed all the land area that drains into a particular body of water.

RESOURCES

American Water Works Association. (1990) *The Story of Drinking Water*. The American Water Works Association, Denver, CO.

Ardley, Neil. (1983) Working With Water, Action Science. Franklin Watts Ltd.

Binder, D., Guy, S., and Penn, B. (1994) *Backyard Biodiversity & Beyond*. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks, Victoria B.C.

Bredekamp, S., and Rosegrant, T. (Eds.) (1992) *Reaching Potentials: Appropriate Curriculum and Assessment for Young Children*. National Association for the Education of Young Children, Washington, D.C.

British Columbia Round Table on the Environment and Economy. (1991) *Sustainable Land and Water Use*. B.C. Round Table on the Environment and Economy, Victoria, B.C.

British Columbia Wildlife Branch. (1990) *British Columbia's Environment, Planning for the Future, Managing Wildlife to 2001: A Discussion Paper*. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks - Wildlife Branch, Victoria, B. C.

Bull, J., Cromwell, Mare, Cwikiel, J.W., Di Chiro, G., Guarino, J., Rathje, R., Stapp, W., Wals, Arjen, and Youngquist, M. (1988) *Education in Action. A Community Problem Solving Program for Schools*. Thomson-Shore Printers, Dexter, Michigan.

Caduto, J. and Bruchac, J. (1991) *Keepers of the Animals - Native Stories and Wildlife Activities for Children*. Fifth House Publishers, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan.

Canadian Council of Resource and Environment Ministers. (1992) *Canadian Water Quality Guidelines*. Environment Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Canadian Wildlife Federation. (1991) *Project WILD*. Canadian Wildlife Federation, Ottawa, Ontario.

Chilibeck, B., Chislett, G., and Norris, G. (Eds.) (1992) *Land Development Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Habitat*. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks - Integrated Management. Queen's Printer, Victoria, BC.

Cohen, Michael J., (1988) *How Nature Works*. Center of University for Peace, Portland, Oregon 97215.

Cohen, Michael J., (1989) *Connecting With Nature*. World Peace University, Box 10869, Eugene Oregon 977440. 83 pp.

Clemens, Carl G., and Lindsey, C. (1959) *Fresh-water Fishes of B.C.* Royal British Columbia Museum, Victoria, B.C.

Commission on Resources and Environment. (1993) *Land Use Goals Workbook*. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks, Victoria, B.C.

Cunningham, Frank. (1969) *Measuring the Local Creek*. Simon Fraser University, Faculty of Education, Burnaby, B.C.

Elkington, J., and Hailes, J. (1990) *The Young Green Consumer Guide*. Victor Gollancz Ltd., London.

Environment Canada. (1990) *Fact Sheet - Clean Water a Priceless Asset*. Minister of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Environment Canada. (1991) *The Federal Policy on Wetland Conservation*. Minister of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Environment Canada. (1992) *Freshwater Series*. Minister of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Environment Canada. (1991) *A Primer on Water - Questions and Answers* (Second Edition). Minister of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Environment Canada. (1990) *Fact Sheet - Water: Nature's Magician*. Minister of Suppy and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Environment Canada. (1990) *Water—Here, There and Everywhere.* Environment Canada, Conservation and Protection Fact Sheet No.2: Water. Environment Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Environment Canada. (1990). *Water Works! Environment Canada, Conservation and Protection Fact Sheet No.4: Water.* Environment Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Fisheries and Oceans Canada. *Canada's Fish Habitat Law*. Communications Directorate, Environment Canada, Ottawa, Ontario.

Fisheries and Oceans Canada and Ministry of Environment. (1989) *Stream Survey Field Guide*. Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Ottawa, Ontario.

Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Salmon Enhancement Program. (1987) *Gently Down the Stream - A Curriculum Package Developed for Cook Creek Field Trip*. Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Vancouver, B.C. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Salmon Enhancement Program. (1993) Salmon Below

the Surface. Salmonid Enhancement Program, Vancouver, B.C.

Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Salmon Enhancement Program. (1988) *Salmonids in the Classroom*. Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Canada, Vancouver, B.C.

Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Salmon Enhancement Program. (1994) *The Stream Keepers' Handbook, A Practical Guide to Stream Care*. Salmonid Enhancement Program, Vancouver, B.C.

Friends of Environmental Education Society of Alberta. *Adopt-A-Stream*. Friends of Environmental Education Society of Alberta (FEESA), Edmonton, Alberta.

Friends of Environmental Education Society of Alberta. *Aquatic Invertebrate Monitoring Program*. FEESA, Edmonton, Alberta.

Fulton, K., and McMahen, C. (1991) *Salmonids Online*. Education Technology Centre of B.C., Sidney, B.C.

Global Rivers Environmental Education Network. *Project Del Rio Lesson Plans*. New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, New Mexico.

Gossage, Peter. (1985). *Water in Canadian History: An Overview: Research Paper No.11*. Inquiry on Federal Water Policy, Ottawa, Ontario.

Government of Canada. Fisheries Act.

Hammond, William F. (1993) *Acting on Action as an Integral Component of Schooling*. Natural Context, P.O. Box 07461, Ft. Myers, Fl. 33919.

Hare, Kenneth. (1984) *The Impact of Human Activities on Water in Canada*. Research Paper No.2. Inquiry on Federal Water Policy. Ottawa, Ontario

Herman, M., Passineu, J., Schimpf, A., and Treuer, P. (1991) *Teaching Kids to Love the Earth*. Pfeifer-Hamilton Publishers, Duluth, Minnesota.

Hungerford, Harold R., et. al., (1988) *Investigating and Evaluating Environmental Issues and Actions Skill Development Modules*. Stipes Publishing Co., 74 pp.

Inquiry on Federal Water Policy. (1985) *Currents of Change*. Minister of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Inquiry on Federal Water Policy. (1984) *Water is a Mainstream Issue: Participation Paper.* Minister of Supply and Services, Ottawa, Ontario.

Javne, J. (1990) *50 Simple Things Kids Can Do to Save the Earth*. Andrews and McMeel, Universal Press Syndicate Company, Kansas City.

Kay, B.H. (1989) *Pollutants in British Columbia's Marine Environment-A Status Report*. Supply and Services Canada, Ottawa, Ontario. Kistritz, R.U. (1992) *Discover Your Estuary: Understanding and Exploring the Aquatic Environment of the Fraser River Estuary*. Environment Canada, Conservation and Protection, North Vancouver, B. C.

Knapp, Clifford E. (1992) *Lasting Lessons*. ERIC Appalachia Educational Lab., P.O. Box 1348, Charleston, WV 25325. 118 pp.

Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. (1987) *Landscaping for Wildlife*. Department of Natural Resources, St. Paul, MN.

la Riviere, J.W. Maurits. (1989) *"Threats to the World's Water."* Scientific American Special Issue: Managing Planet Earth. V.261:3. pp.80-108.

Labinowicz, Ed. (1980) *The Piaget Primer, Thinking, Learning, Teaching*. Addison Wesley Publishing, Don Mills Ontario.

Leopold, Aldo. (1966) *A Sand County Almanac, With Essays on Conservation From Round River.* Random House, Toronto, Ontario.

Lewis, Barbara A., (1991) *The Kid's Guide to Social Action*. Free Spirit Publishing Co. 400 First Av. N. Minneapolis, MN 55401. 185 pp.

Lind, K.K. (1991) *Water, Stones and Fossil Bones*. National Science Teachers Association, Washington, D.C.

Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks. (1992) *New Approaches to Environmental Protection in BC*. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks, Victoria, B.C.

Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks. (1993) *State of the Environment Report for British Columbia*. Public Affairs Branch, Victoria, B.C.

Ministry of Environment, Lands and Parks. (1993) *Stewardship of the Water of British Columbia*. Water Management Branch, Victoria, B.C.

Minister of Supply and Services Canada. (1991) *The State of Canada's Environment* - *Canada's Green Plan*. Communications Group, Ottawa, Ontario.

Mitchell, Mark K., and Stapp, William B., (1991) *Field Manual for Water Quality Monitoring*. Thomson-Shore Printers, Dexter MI. (Order from: Wm. Stapp, 2050 Delaware Av., Ann Arbor MI 48103). 224 pp.

Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife. *The Stream Scene, Watersheds, Wildlife and People*. Department of Fish and Wildlife, Portland, Oregon.

Pollution Probe Foundation. (1989) *The Canadian Green Consumer Guide: How You Can Help*. McClelland & Stewart, Toronto, Ontario.

Province of British Columbia. (1993) *A Protected Area's Strategy for British Columbia*. Ministry of Environment, Lands, and Parks, Victoria, B.C.

Province of British Columbia. Water Act.

Research Branch Ministry of Forests. (1992) *British Columbia Coastal Fisheries/Forestry Guidelines* Third Edition. Crown Publications, Victoria, B.C.

Rowe, Stan. (1990) *Home Place, Essays on Ecology*. NeWest Publishers Ltd., Edmonton, Alberta.

Russell, H. (1990) *Ten-Minute Field Trips, Second Edition, A Teacher's Guide to Using the School Grounds for Environmental Studies*. National Science Teachers Association, Washington, D.C.

Seager, Joni. (ed.) (1990) State of the Earth Atlas. Simon & Schuster, New York.

Sinha, S., and Gerbitz, K. *What on Earth is Going on Here?* Friends of Environmental Education Society of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.

Stangl, J. Water Science - Science Lessons and Experiements using Water. Fearon Teaching Aids.

Stapp, William B., et. al., (1988) *Education in Action ACP-SPS*. Thomson-Shore Inc., Dexter, Michigan, (Order from: Wm. Stapp, 2050 Delaware Av., Ann Arbor MI 48103). 424 pp.

Stokes, D. (1988) Water and Agriculture. Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta.

Suzuki, D., and Hehner, B. *Looking at the Environment*. Stoddart Publishing, Toronto, Ontario.

United States Department of Agriculture. (1991) *Water Quality Indicators Guide: Surface Waters*. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.

Yates, Stephen. (1988) *Adopting a Stream*. University of Washington Press, Seattle, Washington.

Yates, Stephen. (1989) *Adopting a Wetland, a Northwest Guide*. Snohomish County Planning and Community Development.